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PART |
Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains, in aduitto historical information, certain forward-loaki statements within the
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Refakat of 1995. All statements other than statemehtsistorical fact contained in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, including statements regardingfuture results of operations and financialifas, strategy and plans, and our
expectations for future operations, are forwarckiog statements. The words “believe,” “may,” “esdit®,” “continue,” “anticipate,” “design,”
“intend,” “expect” and similar expressions are imded to identify forward-looking statements. We daased these forwatdeking statement
largely on our current expectations and projectiinsut future events and trends that we believe affegt our financial condition, results of
operations, strategy, short-term and long-termriass operations and objectives, and financial néedward-looking statements include, but
are not limited to, statements about:

» our opportunities and expectations for growth i skudent lending, healthcare and other mau

* anticipated trends and challenges in our businegsampetition in the markets in which we ope

» our client relationships and future growth oppoities;

» the adaptability of our technology platform to nearkets and process

e our ability to invest in and utilize our data anthiytics capabilities to expand our capabilit

« our growth strategy of expanding in our existingkess and considering strategic alliances or adipis;
e our ability to meet our liquidity and working cagiheeds

e maintaining, protecting and enhancing our intellatproperty

e our expectations regarding future exper

» expected future financial performance;

e our ability to comply with and adapt to industrgutations and compliance demar

These statements reflect current views with resjgeftiture events and are based on assumptionsudajelct to risks and uncertainties.
There are a variety of factors could cause acesllts to differ materially from the anticipateduls or expectations expressed in our forwarc
looking statements. These risks and uncertaintiglside, but are not limited to, those risks disedss Item 1A of this report. Given these
uncertainties, you should not place undue reliarcthese forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements contained in this repogsent management’s views only as of the datiei®feport. We undertake no
obligation to publicly update forward-looking statents, whether as a result of new information,reievents or otherwise. You are advised,
however, to consult any further disclosures we nakeelated subjects in our quarterly reports omFd0-Q and current reports on Form 8-K
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

ITEM 1. Business
Overview

We provide technology-enabled recovery and relatelytics services in the United States. Our sesvieelp identify and recover
delinquent or defaulted assets and improper payrfenboth government and private clients in a Bn@nge of markets. Our clients typically
operate in complex and regulated environments atgbarce their recovery needs in order to redugsel® on billions of dollars of defaulted
student loans, improper healthcare payments amaogent state tax and federal treasury receivaliesgenerally provide our services on an
outsourced basis, where we handle many or all é&spéour clients’ recovery processes.

We believe we have a leading position in our markatsed on our proprietary technology-enabled ses\platform, long-standing
client relationships and the large volume of fungshave recovered for our clients. In 2014, we jged recovery services on approximately
$9.9 hillion of combined student loans and othdindeent federal and state receivables and recdwgpproximately $244 million in improper
Medicare payments. Our clients include 13 of the@Blic sector participants in the student loarusidy and these relationships average more
than 10 years in length, including a 25-year retathip with the Department of Education. We areanily subject to a competitive rebidding
process for the next contract with the Departmélducation. As of September 30, 2014, approxing§&0D0.5 billion of government-
supported student loans were in default. In thétihemre market, we are currently one of four privhedicare Recovery Audit Contractors, or
RACs, in the United States for the Centers for Macdk and Medicaid Services, or CMS, and are cuyrent
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involved in a competitive rebidding process for the award of the next RAC axttwith CMS. According to the Government Accouiltgb
Office, Medicare paid $591.2 billion of claims i623, of which approximately $44 billion were esttatto be improper payments.

We utilize our technology platform to efficientlyqvide recovery and analytics services in the ntarke serve. We have
continuously developed and refined our technoldgyf@rm for almost two decades by using our extemsgiomain and data processing
expertise. Our technology platform allows us tadigregate otherwise complex recovery processesiis¢vies of simple, efficient and
consistent component steps, which we refer to akfleavs, for our recovery and healthcare claimseevspecialists. This approach enables u
to continuously refine our recovery processes toeae higher rates of recovery with greater efficig By optimizing what traditionally have
been manually-intensive processes, we believe Wiewae higher workforce productivity versus moraitianal labor-intensive outsourcing
business models. For example, we generated in ®x¢&d 30,000 of revenues per employee during 28dged on the average number of
employees during the year.

We believe that our platform is easily adaptabladw markets and processes. Over the past sewana, we have successfully
extended our platform into additional markets vgignificant recovery opportunities. For example,wiézed the same basic platform
previously used primarily for student loan recovactivities to enter the healthcare market. We lemreanced our platform through investmen
in new data and analytics capabilities, which wiele will enable us to provide additional servisegh as services relating to the detection o
fraud, waste and abuse.

Our revenue model is generally success-based aamdees based on a percentage of the aggregatmaai funds that we enable
our clients to recover. Our services do not reqairg significant upfront investments by our clieatsl we offer our clients the opportunity to
recover significant funds otherwise lost. Becausenoodel is based upon the success of our effadstz dollars we enable our clients to
recover, our business objectives are aligned witise of our clients and we are generally not rebartheir spending budgets. Further, our
business model does not require significant capitpenditures and we do not purchase loans oratldigs.

For the year ended December 31, 2014, we genexpfrdximately $195.4 million in revenues, $9.4 ioillin net income, $44.7
million in adjusted EBITDA and $15.3 million in adjted net income. See “Managements Discussion aatygis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations - Adjusted EBITDA and Adjaskéet Income” in Item 7 below for a definition adjasted EBITDA and adjusted net
income and reconciliations of adjusted EBITDA ad¢uated net income to net income determined inr@zswe with generally accepted
accounting principles.

We commenced our operations in 1976 under the catpaame Diversified Collection Services, Inc.D&S. We were incorporated
in Delaware on October 8, 2003 under the name D@8ikYs, Inc. and subsequently changed our narRetfmrmant Financial Corporation.
Our website address is www.performantcorp.com.

Our Markets

We operate in markets characterized by strong dgroavcomplex regulatory environment and a signifiGanount of delinquent,
defaulted or improperly paid assets.

Student Lending

Government-supported student loans are authorigddruTitle 1V of the Higher Education Act of 19@3istorically, there have been
two distribution channels for student loans: (g #ederal Direct Student Loan Program, or FDSLR¢hviepresents loans made and managec
directly by the Department of Education; and (i ~ederal Family Education Loan Program, or FFEltich represents loans made by
private institutions and currently backed by anyhaf 29 Guaranty Agencies, or "GAs".

In July 2010, the government-supported student $eamor underwent a structural change with thegggesef the Student Aid and
Fiscal Responsibility Act, or SAFRA. This legistatitransitioned all new government-supported stuldem originations to the FDSLP, and
away from originations made by private institutievighin the FFELP that had previously utilized fBAs to guarantee, manage and service
loans. The GAs are non-profit 501(c)(3) public Héremrporations operating under contract with th&. Secretary of Education, pursuant to
the Higher Education Act of 1965, as amended, pételthe purpose of guaranteeing and managingestudans originated by lenders
participating in the FFELP. Consequently, while dhiginal distribution channels for student loaawé been consolidated into one channel
Department of Education, this does not impact tlame of government-supported student loan origgnatvhich is a key driver of the
volume of defaulted student loan inventory. In &ddi despite this transition of all new loan ongiions to the FDSLP, GAs will continue to
manage a significant amount of defaulted studeartddor some period of time, due to their large
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outstanding portfolios of loans originated priodtdy 2010. The outstanding portfolios of defaulkgtELP loans will, therefore, require
recovery for the foreseeable future.

The Department of Education estimates that thenbelaf defaulted loans was approximately $66.00bilin the FDSLP and
approximately $34.5 billion in the FFELP as of Sepber 30, 2014. These programs collectively guasghapproximately $977 billion of
federal government-supported student loans acagtdithe Congressional Budget Office as of Septer@bg2013. Given the operational and
logistical complexity involved in managing the regeoy of defaulted student loans, the Departmeiiidhfcation and the GAs generally choose
to outsource these services to third parties.

Healthcare

The healthcare industry represents a significartigroof the U.S. GDP. According to CMS, U.S. hkettre spending reached $2.9
trillion in 2013 and is forecast to grow at a 5.¢&npound annual growth rate through 2023. In palgic CMS indicates that federal
government-related healthcare spending for 20 8adtapproximately $1.0 trillion. This federal gowment-related spending included
approximately $591.2 billion for Medicare, whiclopides a range of healthcare coverage primarilderly and disabled Americans, and
$431.1 billion for Medicaid, which provides federhtching funds for states to finance healthcarénfividuals at or below the public
assistance level.

Medicare was initially established as part of tloei&l Security Act of 1965 and consists of fourtpaPart A covers hospital and other
inpatient stays; Part B covers hospital outpatighysician and other services; Part C is known aditare Advantage, under which
beneficiaries receive benefits through private the@llans; and Part D is the Medicare outpatiensgription drug benefit.

Of the $591.2 billion of Medicare spending in 20t& Department of Health and Human Services egtulrhat approximately $48
billion, or approximately 8.6%, was improper, ahdttMedicare is the federal program with the largesount of improper payments. Medic
improper payments generally involve incorrect cgdiprocedures performed which were not medicalesesary, and incomplete
documentation or claims submitted based on outdatedchedules, among other issues.

In accordance with the Medicare Prescription Dingprovement, and Modernization Act of 2003, a dest@tion program was
conducted from March 2005 to March 2008 in sixegdb determine if the RAC program could be effexdyi used to identify improper
payments for claims paid under Medicare Part ARad B. Due to the success of this demonstratiodeuThe Tax Relief and Health Care
of 2006, the U.S. Congress authorized the exparnditire RAC program nationwide. CMS relies on thpatty contractors to execute the RAC
program to analyze millions of Medicare claims aadlyufor improper payments to healthcare provid@te program was implemented by
designating one prime contractor in each of the foajor regions in the United States: West, Midw8siuth, and Northeast.

In addition to government-related healthcare spendignificant growth in spending is expectedhie private healthcare market.
According to CMS’ National Health Expenditures Rijons, the private healthcare market accounteddproximately $961 billion in
spending in 2013 and private expenditures are piejeto grow more than 5.7% annually through 2023.

Other Markets
State Tax Market

As state governments struggle with revenue gemeratind face significant budget deficits, many staigve focused on recovery of
delinquent state taxes. According to the CentdBuaiget and Policy Priorities, an independent thark, 31 U.S. states faced projected budge
shortfalls totaling $55 billion in the year endegp8mber 30, 2013. The economic recession beginmidg08 led to lower income and sales
taxes from both individuals and corporations, rédgioverall tax revenues and leading to large budgécits at the state government level.
While many states have received federal aid, magt lcut services and increased taxes to help tiedsudget shortfall and have evaluated
outsourcing at least some aspect of delinquerntseavery.

Federal Agency Marke

The federal agency market consists of governmdrit glebrogated to the Department of the Treasunyumgerous different federal
agencies, comprising a mix of commercial and irdiial obligations and a diverse range of receivalilaese debts are managed by the Bu
of the Fiscal Service (formerly the Department ifafcial Management Service), or FS, a bureaueoDipartment of the Treasury. Since
1996, the FS has recovered more than $63 billiatelmguent federal and state debt. For the figeal ended September 30, 2013, federal
agency recoveries in this market totaled more $ahillion,
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an increase of more than $13 million over 2012ighi§icant portion of these collections are proeesby private collection firms on behalf of
the FS.

Our Competitive Strengths

We believe that our business is difficult to reati, as it incorporates a combination of severgbittant and differentiated elements,
including:

« Scalable and flexible technolor-enabled services platformwWe have built a proprietary technology platformttisehighly
flexible, intuitive and easy to use for our recqvand claims specialists. Our platform is easilgfigurable and deployable across
multiple markets and processes. For example, we bagcessfully extended our platform from the sttttean market to the state
tax, federal treasury receivables and the heakthearovery markets, each having its own industrgpdexities and specific
regulations.

e Advanced, technolo¢-enabled workflow processe®ur technology-enabled workflow processes, devaaper many years of
operational experience in recovery services, disagge otherwise complex recovery processes iaawias of simple, efficient
and consistent steps that are easily configuraideapplicable to different types of recovery-redbégplications. We believe our
workflow software is highly intuitive and helps awgcovery and claims specialists manage each $tibe oecovery process, wh
automating a series of otherwise manually-intenaived document-intensive steps in the recovery pod&'e believe our
streamlined workflow technology drives higher affitrcies in our operations, as illustrated by oulitglio generate in excess of
$130,000 of revenues per employee during 2014 dhais¢he average number of employees during the Yéabelieve our
streamlined workflow technology also improves rezmgwesults relative to more labor-intensive outsog models.

e Strong data and analytics capabilitie<Our data and analytics capabilities allow us taeahstrong recovery rates for our cliel
We have collected recovery-related data for overdecades, which we combine with large volumediehtand third-party data
to effectively analyze our clients’ delinquent @falulted assets and improper payments. We havelaladoped a number of
analytics tools that we use to score our cliergsbrery inventory, determine the optimal recovencpss and allocation of
resources, and achieve higher levels of recovemyltefor our clients. In addition, we utilize aytads tools to continuously
measure and test our recovery workflow processdsite refinements and further enhance the qualty effectiveness of our
capabilities.

» Long-standing client relationships We believe our long-standing focus on achievingesiap recovery performance for our
clients and the significant value our clients deffirom this focus have helped us achieve long-thalient relationships, strong
contract retention and better access to new clemisfuture growth opportunities. We have busimekgionships with 13 of the
30 public sector participants in the student loarket and these relationships average more thgedrs in length, including an
approximate 24-year relationship with the Departieérieducation. In the healthcare market, we haveight-year relationship
with CMS and are currently one of four prime Med&&AC contractors.

« Extensive domain expertise in complex and regulatedrkets. We have extensive experience and domain expentigsoviding
recovery services for government and private intstihs that generally operate in complex and regdlanarkets. We have
demonstrated our ability to develop domain expelitisnew markets such as healthcare and statetbfederal Treasury
receivables. We believe we have the necessary iaggamal experience to understand and adapt tlviengppublic policy and
how it shapes the regulatory environment and olvjesbf our clients. We believe this helps us iffgrand anticipate growth
opportunities. For example, we successfully idediovernment healthcare as a potential growtlodppity that has thus far I
to the award of three contracts to us by CMS. Trogyetvith our flexible technology platform, we habe ability to adapt our
business strategy, to allocate resources and pomesto changes in our regulatory environment fitakze on new growth
opportunities.

» Proven and experienced management te: Our management team has significant industry éspee and has demonstrated
strong execution capabilities. Our senior managéneam, led by Lisa Im, has been with us for arraye of approximately12
years. This team has successfully grown our revease and service offerings beyond the originalesttiloan market int
healthcare and delinquent state tax and privasniial institutions receivables. Our managememht®andustry experience,
combined with deep and specialized understandirmpaiplex and highly regulated industries, has exthbk to maintain long-
standing client relationships and strong finangalilts.
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Our Growth Strategy
Key elements of our growth strategy include théofeing:

» Expand our student loan recovery volun The balance of defaulted government-supportecestudans was approximately
$100.5 billion as of September 30, 2014. While weehlong-standing relationships with some of thigdat participants in the
government-supported student loan market, we beliesere are significant opportunities within thiswging market to increase
the volume of student loans placed with us by exdsand new clients. For example, if we are ablerter into a new contract
with the Department of Education, which is currgstlibject to a rebidding process, we believe tiea® opportunity to grow our
placement volume through strong performance. Furdea result of our relationships with five of tteven largest GAs, we
believe we are well-positioned to benefit as altedfiany consolidation of smaller GAs over the ¢ogiyears.

« Expand our recovery services in the healthcare maitrl According to CMS, Medicare spending totaled appmaely $591.2
billion in 2013 and is expected to increase to $dlllon in 2022, representing a compound annualgh rate of 7.4%. In the
private healthcare market, spending totaled $9ibibin 2013 and is expected to grow more tha¥dahnually through 2023,
according to CMS’ National Health Expenditures Betipns. As these large markets continue to grosvexpect the need for
recovery services to increase in the public andapei healthcare markets. In the first quarter df&20ve submitted proposals for
new RAC contracts in all four regions, althougtstbontracting process remains delayed due toftibigaelated to the bidding
process. We have also entered into contracts anplussuing additional opportunities to provide augicovery and analytics
services in the private healthcare market. In @mfditve intend to pursue opportunities to find afichinate losses prior to
payment for healthcare services, including thedatiete of fraud, waste and abuse in the public amdhfe healthcare markets.

» Pursue strategic alliances and acquisitior We intend to selectively consider opportunitiegtow through strategic alliances or
acquisitions that are complementary to our busiriEssse opportunities may enhance our existinglilijies, enable us to enter
new markets, expand our product offerings and allswo diversify our revenues.

Our Platform

Our technologyenabled services platform is based on over twodkecaf experience in recovering large amounts rd$wn behalf ¢
our clients across several markets. The compomértsr platform include our data management expertnalytics capabilities and
technology-based workflow processes. Our platfortagrates these components to allow us to achigtmmiaed outcomes for our clients in
the form of increased efficiency and productivibdahigh recovery rates. Our platform and workflonwqesses are also intuitive and easy tc
for our recovery and claims specialists and allewaiincrease our employee retention and prodtytivi

The components of our platform include the folloguin

Data Management Expertis

Our platform manages and stores large amountstaftbdeoughout the workflow process. This includethiproprietary data we have
compiled over two decades, as well as third-paata dvhich we can integrate efficiently and in riade to reduce errors, reduce cycle time
processing and, ultimately, improve recovery raté® strength of our data management expertise anignour analytics capabilities and
provides our recovery and claims specialists watvgrful workflow processes.

Data Analytics Capabilitie:

Our data analytics capabilities efficiently screenl allocate massive volumes of recovery inventeoy.example, upon receipt of e:
placement of student loans, we utilize our proprigtlgorithms to assist us in determining the nedfatient recovery process and the optimal
allocation of recovery specialist resources fohdaan. In the healthcare market, we analyze nidliof Medicare claims to find potential
correlations between claims data and improper paysnahich enhance our future recovery rates. Acatisof our current markets, we utilize
our proprietary analytics tools to continuously aigarously test our workflow processes in realdito drive greater process efficiency and
improvement in recovery rates.

Furthermore, we believe our analytics capabilitidsextend our potential markets, permitting usptarsue significant new business
opportunities. For example, we have expanded thefisur data analytics capabilities in the healtbesector to
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offer a variety of services from post and pre-paynadit of healthcare claims in both the publid anivate healthcare sector, to detection of
fraud, waste and abuse of healthcare claims, tolamation of benefits and pharmacy fraud detection.

Workflow Processes

Over many years, we have developed and refinedemonery workflow processes, which we believe dhigher efficiency and
productivity and reduce our reliance on labor-istea methods relative to more traditional recovauisourcing models. We refer to the
patented technology that supports our proprietargkflows as “Smart Bins.” Smart Bins disaggregéatesovise complex recovery processes
into a series of simple, efficient and consistéaps that are easily configurable and applicabtiifterent types of recovery-related
applications. Our workflow processes integrateaairange of functions that encompass each stamesgbvery process.

Smart Bins have been designed to be highly intiigind help our recovery and claims specialists ggeach step in the recovery
process and enhance their productivity to highlgvegardless of skill differences among sped&liSmart Bins direct specialists toward the
most efficient and effective action or step witepect to the management and recovery of a defastitelnt loan, with some input by
specialists. Our technology places expert systdes into the workflow engine, allowing employeesligterent skill levels to manage the more
complex work steps that highly experienced workessld perform, while automating document manageraedtcompliance functionality as
industry regulations and compliance demands change.

The following recovery diagram illustrates how treious components of our platform work togethesdtve a typical client
workflow:

Procass / Key Platform
Description Step Attributes
s Receive files for Iy .
defaulted loans ) Data Management and Expertise
delinguent receivablas Receipt of o I I :
or healthcare claims Inventory = Manages large volumes of data
Volume » Combines proprietary and third-party data
S0urces
*  Propretary and
third-party data ara
simultaneously Data . S
combined o reduce Aggregation 5
errors and increase S P Data Analytics Capabilities
ikelinood of recovery Processing
= Proprietary analytics tools
= Filters data to determine resource
allocation and workflow processas
s Scoring and filtering of
PR g » Able to measure and refine workflow
data to determine .
efficient recovery Lotz Mok aes
o . Analysis and
process and resource Allocation
allocation
b A
_ : ™
=  Recovery and claim Workflow Processes
specialists utilize
Recovery Simolifies com R
rkflon OCESSes = Simplifies complex processes
Nl  rrcions e
and rietl:cylern Er‘llt; = Fnhances employee productivity and
i i ry acouracy
= Facilitates regulatory compliance
s Move inventory to
KUl  coninuos
e It 3 Inventory
recovery rates Management
b vy
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Our Services

We use our technology-enabled services platforprawide recovery and analytics services in a braade of markets for the
identification and recovery of student loans, ing@ohealthcare payments and delinquent state th¥ealeral treasury receivables. The table
below summarizes our recovery services and rekatety/tics capabilities and the markets we serve.

Recovery Services

Analytics
Student Loans Healthcare Other Markets Capabilities
» Provide recovery services to ¢ Provide audit and recovery <« Provide tax recovery * We use our enhanced data
the Department of Education,  services to identify improper  services to state and municipal analytics capabilities, which we refer
GAs and private institutions healthcare payments for public agencies to as Performant Insight, to offer a

and private healthcare clients variety of services from post- and pre-
payment audit of healthcare claims to
detection of fraud, waste and abuse o

healthcare claims, to coordination of

» Identify and track defaulted
borrowers across our clients’
portfolios of student loans

* Recover government debt
for numerous different federal
agencies under a contract with
the Treasury

 Identify improper payments
typically resulting from

e Utilize our proprietary incorrect coding, procedures benefits and pharmacy fraud detect
technology, our history of that were not medically « Enable financial institution
borrower data and our analytics necessary, incomplete to proactively manage loan
capabilities to rehabilitate and  documentation or claims portfolios and reduce the
recover past due student loans submitted based on outdated femcidence of defaulted loan
schedules assets

e Earn contingent, success-
based fees calculated as a
percentage of funds that we
enable our clients to recover

Earn contingent, success-
based fees calculated as a
percentage of the amounts
recovered, fees based on
dedicated headcount and hosted
technology licensing fees

» Earn contingent, success-
based fees based on a
percentage of claim amounts
recovered

Recovery Service
Student Loans

We provide recovery services primarily to the goweent-supported student loan industry, and ountdignclude the Department of
Education and several of the largest GAs, as vedlirivate financial institutions. We use our prefary technology to identify, track and
communicate with defaulted borrowers on behalfwfdients to implement suitable recovery progrdanghe repayment of outstanding
student loan balances.

Our clients contract with us to provide recovergyvaees for large pools of student loans generafyresenting a portion of the total
outstanding defaulted balances they manage, whahgrovide to us as “placements” on a periodidsh&enerally, the volume of placements
that we receive from our clients is influenced loy performance under our contracts and our alityecover funds from defaulted student
loans, as measured against the performance of ¢ibarpavho may service a similar pool of defaulteans for the same client. To the extent
we perform well under our existing contracts arftedentiate our services from those of our compeditwe may receive a relatively greater
number of student loan placements under theseamstand may improve our ability to obtain futuoattacts from these clients and other
potential clients.

We use algorithms derived from over two decadesxptrience with defaulted student loans to maksoregbly accurate estimates
the recovery outcomes likely to be derived fromeeement of defaulted student loans.

Our current contract with the Department of Edwgatvill expire in April 2015, and we are currenslybject to a competitive
rebidding process for the next contract with the@&rément of Education. We understand that five otbeovery service providers under the
current contract have recently received notice ftbenDepartment of Education stating an intent@maxtend their existing contracts past April
2015. To date, we have not received notice of aich &xtension from the Department of Educationwadre unsure whether we will be
provided any such extension of our current contagvhen the new contracts will be awarded. Weadibelieve the Department of Education
has completed the current contract extension psot&swvever, due to the timing of the rehabilitatiyocess for loans placed with us by the
Department of Education, we expect there will mimimal impact on our revenues in 2015 if we domeaive an extension of our current
contract. Despite notice of their intent to extémel current contract for five recovery service [devs, we believe the Department of Educatior
is not permitted to selectively extend the contfacindividual recovery service providers.
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We also restructure and recover student loansdssinectly by banks to students outside of fedkenadling programs. These types of
loans typically supplement government-supportedesitiloans to meet any shortfall in supply of stidean needs that cannot be met by
grants or federal loans. Unlike government-suppbstadent loans, private student loans do not bapeed interest rates and, accordingly,
involve higher instances of default relative todeally-backed student loans.

Healthcare

We provide recovery services related to impropemnpnts in the healthcare market. In 2009 we werarded the role as one of four
prime RAC contractors in the United States, witblesive responsibility for the Northeast region.dénour existing RAC contract, we ident
and facilitate the recovery of improper Parts A &ledicare payments. Our relationship with CMSdrem 2005 with an initial
demonstration contract to recover improper paymfemtdledicare Secondary Payor claims.

Under our existing RAC contract with CMS, we utiliaur technology-enabled services platform to scMedicare claims against
several criteria, including coding procedures amdiizal necessity standards, to determine whethkzim should be further investigated for
recoupment or adjustment by CMS. We conduct autedhand, where appropriate, detailed medical ndgagsiiews. If we determine that the
likelihood of finding a potential improper paymemarrants further investigation, we request andawwiealthcare provider medical records
related to the claim, utilizing experts in Medicamling and registered nurses. We interact and eaoriwate with healthcare providers and
other administrative entities, and ultimately subtimé claim to CMS for correction.

We are currently involved in a competitive rebidglprocess for four new RAC contracts with CMS. Tiheng of new RAC contract
awards remains uncertain. The bidding process &as telayed, at least in part, by-paward protests and, following the denial of those
protests, by ongoing litigation. The plaintiffstime litigation are seeking the elimination of payrnerms under the proposed new RAC
contracts that would prohibit RACs from being comgated for improper claims until a second levedmeal has been exhausted. An initial
decision in favor of CMS was subject to appeal hial the appellate court recently remanded the lbask to the lower court to rule on the
merits of the case. There is a related injunctiamibg the award of three of the four new RAC cacts pending resolution of this litigation. A
fifth RAC contract, which is a new type of RAC cratt covering the identification and recovery opnwper claims for durable medical
equipment, prosthetics, orthotics and suppliesteomde health and hospice claims, was not coverdteinjunction and was awarded to
another party in January 2015. The Company is patrty to this litigation. CMS has stated that itijanction will delay the award of the three
contracts until the judge’s ruling on the injunctievhich is not expected to occur until late suma@t5. It is uncertain whether CMS will
award the RAC contract not covered by the injumctiothe interim period or will wait to award all the new RAC contracts at the same time.
CMS also recently announced that it extended oistieg RAC contract through December 31, 2015, glaith a limited scope of procedures
we will be allowed to conduct and a limited scopelaim types we will be permitted to pursue durthis extended period. CMS has further
indicated they may, at their discretion, approveiti@hal issues that we will be permitted to reviemd audit during the RAC contract exten:
period.

In the private healthcare market, we utilize oehteology-enabled services platform to provide auditovery and analytical services
for private healthcare payors. Our experience foomexisting RAC contract has helped establishppasence in the private healthcare marke
by providing us the opportunity to provide auditiaecovery services for several national commefwalth plans. Our audit and analytic
capabilities have allowed us not only to expandsauvices with these initial private healthcarermts, but also gain entry into other related
private healthcare opportunities.

Other Markets

We also provide recovery services to several statemunicipal tax authorities, the Department ef Theasury, the Department of
Education and a number of financial institutions.

For state and municipal tax authorities, we anadypertfolio of delinquent tax and other receivaljaced with us, develop a
recovery plan and execute a recovery process dabignmaximize the recovery of funds. In some imsts, we have also run state tax amn
programs, which provide one-time relief for deliegtitax obligations, and other debtor managememuices for our clients. We currently have
relationships with numerous state and municipakgoments. Delinquent obligations are placed withbysur clients and we utilize a process
that is similar to the student loan recovery predes recovering these obligations.

For the Department of the Treasury, we recover gouent debt subrogated to it by numerous diffefedé¢ral agencies. The
placements we are provided represent a mix of cawiad@nd individual obligations. We are one offeantractors for the most recent
Treasury contract.
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We also provide risk management advisory servitasdnable these clients to proactively manage poatfolios and reduce the
incidence of defaulted loan assets over time. Qpegence suggests that proactive default preveqtiactices produce significant net yield
and earnings gains for our clients. We deliveréh&srvices in two forms. First, we contact and atingith borrowers to implement a
repayment program, including payment through autantkebit arrangements, prior to the beginninghef tepayment period in order to
increase the likelihood that payments begin on tifecond, we offer a service that involves congctielinquent borrowers in an effort to ¢
the delinquency prior to the loan entering default.

Analytics Capabilities

For several years, we have leveraged our datatassalgols to help filter, identify and recover ibgjuent and defaulted assets and
improper payments as part of our core recoveryiges\platform. Through our data analytics capaéditwhich we refer to as Performant
Insight, we are able to review, aggregate, anch&gite very large volumes of structured and unstrad data, at high speeds, from the initial
intake of disparate data sources, to the warehgusithe data, to the analysis and reporting ofthim. We believe we have built a
differentiated, next-generation “end-to-end” datagessing solution that will maximize value for@mt and future customers.

Performant Insight provides numerous benefits torrecovery services platform. Performant Insigig hot only enhanced our
existing recovery services under our RAC contrgcamalyzing significantly higher volumes of healhe claims at faster rates and reducing
our cycle time to review and assess healthcarmslabut has also enabled us to develop improvedramd sophisticated business intelligence
rules that can be applied to our audit processesb®lieve our analytics capabilities will extend potential markets, permitting us to pursue
significant new business opportunities. We haveaagpd the use of our data analytics capabilitiekérhealthcare sector to offer a variety of
services from post and pre-payment audit of heatthclaims in both the public and private healtbearctor, to detection of fraud, waste and
abuse of healthcare claims, to coordination of fienand pharmacy fraud detection.

Our Clients

We provide our services across a broad range adrgovent and private clients in several markets.

Department of Educatior

We have provided student loan recovery servicésgd®epartment of Education for approximately 2drgeWe restructure and
recover defaulted student loans distributed diydnyl the Department of Education as part of the BB Due to its limited resources and
recovery capabilities, the Department of Educatiotsources much of its defaulted student loan plastfo third-party vendors for recovery.
Recovery fees are entirely contingency-based, andee for a particular recovery depends on the tfprecovery facilitated. We also receive
incremental performance incentives based upon eddopnance as compared to other contractors wétDipartment of Education, which are
comprised of additional inventory allocation volwsrand incentive fees. To participate in the Depantnof Education contracts, firms must
follow a highly competitive selection process. Hue latest Department of Education contract, theetfomajor contract the Department of
Education has outsourced to selected vendors, we sedected as one of 17 unrestricted vendorsratiat@d work on this contract in the fou
quarter of 2009. Our current contract with the Dpant of Education will expire in April 2015. Weeacurrently subject to a competitive
rebidding process for the next contract with th@&rément of Education. We understand that five rotéeovery service providers under the
current contract have recently received notice ftbenDepartment of Education stating an intent@maxtend their existing contracts past April
2015. To date, we have not received notice of aigh £xtension from the Department of Education,wmadre unsure whether we will be
provided any such extension of our current contagvhen the new contracts will be awarded. Weadibelieve the Department of Education
has completed the current contract extension psot&swvever, due to the timing of the rehabilitatiyocess for loans placed with us by the
Department of Education, we expect there will mimimal impact on our revenues in 2015 if we domeaive an extension of our current
contract. Despite notice of their intent to extémel current contract for five recovery service devs, we believe the Department of Educatior
is not permitted to selectively extend the contfacindividual recovery service providers. Becaalidederally-supported student loans are
being originated by the Department of Educatioa assult of SAFRA, our relationship with the Depagnht of Education will become
increasingly more important over time. The Departtad Education was responsible for approximatély2% of our revenues for the year
ended December 31, 2014.

Guaranty Agencies

We restructure and recover defaulted student lssoued by private lenders and backed by GAs umdeFEELP. Despite the
transition from FFELP to FDSLP, we believe GA ddtffaalumes will continue to rise for a few yearsthsre generally is a lag between
originations and defaults of at least three to fgears. When a borrower stops making regular paysm@na FFELP loan, the GA is obligated
to reimburse the lender approximately 97% of tlamls principal and accrued interest. GAs then seekcover and restructure these
obligations. The GAs with which we contract genlgratructure one to
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three-year initial term contracts with multiple esvel periods, and historically the fees that wenrexare generally similar to the fees we
receive from the Department of Education contrigaot. some GA clients, we provide services throughAglSinder which we manage a GA’s
entire portfolio of defaulted student loans and,dertain clients, engage subcontractors to proaigertion of the recovery services associatec
with a GA'’s student loan portfolio.

We have a relationship with 12 of the 29 active @Athe U.S., including Great Lakes Higher Educat@uaranty Corporation and
American Student Assistance Corporation, which wesponsible for 15.1% and 12.7%, respectivelpurfrevenues for the year ended
December 31, 2014. We have had relationships wittnesGA clients for over 25 years.

CMS

We have a nine-year relationship with CMS. UndarRAC contract with CMS awarded in 2009, we idgnéihd facilitate the
recovery of improper Part A and Part B Medicarempents in the Northeast region of the United Staths. RAC contract accounted for
approximately 14.9% of our revenues for the yeaedrDecember 31, 2014. We are currently subjegtdompetitive rebidding process for the
next RAC contract with CMS. The fees that we reedor identifying these improper payments from CM8 entirely contingency-based, and
the contingency-fee percentage depends on the dwtifaecovery, and, in some cases, the type ofapgy payment that we identify.

U.S. Department of the Treasury

We have assisted the Department of the Treasury/fgears in the recovery of delinquent receivablesd to a number of different
federal agencies. The debt obligations we helgtover on behalf of the Department of the Treaswlude commercial and individual debt
obligations. We are one of the four firms servicihg current Department of the Treasury contraatil& to our other recovery contracts, our
fees under this contract are contingency-basedvidée this as an important strategic relationshgit@rovides us valuable insight into other
business opportunities within the federal governimen

State Tax and Municipal Agencie

We provide outsourced recovery services for indigld’ delinquent state tax and other municipalgdilons on a hosted model and
under MSAs. We currently have relationships with $eate and municipal governments.

Private Lenders

We provide recovery services for private studeank that supplement federally guaranteed loamshame mortgages to private
lenders.

Sales and Marketing

Our new business opportunities have historicallgrbériven largely by referrals and natural extemsiof our existing client
relationships, as well as a targeted outreach bipsmanagement. Our sales cycles are often lengtity demand high levels of attention from
our senior management. At any point in time, wetgpéally focused on a limited number of poteryiaignificant new business opportuniti
As a result, to date, we have operated with a ssteff of experienced individuals with responstlifior developing new sales, relying heavily
upon our executive staff, including an appropriskes and marketing team covering various markets.

Technology Operations

Our technology center is based in Livermore, Cawtif®, with a redundant capacity in our Grants P@ssgon office. Additionally,
Performant Insight, our data analytics businessygported by staff in Miami Lakes, Florida. We dalesigned our infrastructure for scalab
and redundancy, which allows us to continue to aeein the event of an outage at either datacéitemaintain an information systems
environment with advanced network security intragietection and prevention with 24x7 monitoring ardurity incident response
capabilities. We utilize encryption technologieptotect sensitive data on our systems, all datagdransmission and all data on redundancy
or backup media. We also maintain a comprehensitexrise-wide information security system basedhugcognized standards, including
the NIST800 53 and ISO 27002 Code of Practicerftormation Security Program Management, to uphaiti Becurity standards needed for
the protection of sensitive information.

Competition
We face significant competition in all aspects of business.
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In recovery services for delinquent and defaulteskts, we face competition from a number of congsartiolders of these delinquent
and defaulted assets typically engage several fiimaltaneously to provide recovery services ofedit portions of their portfolios. The
number of recovery firms engaged varies by cliEot.example, we are one of 17 unrestricted progidérecovery services on the current
Department of Education contract, while some of@#es may only engage a few recovery vendors atiamg. Initially, we compete to be one
of the retained firms in a competitive bidding pFes and, if we are successful, we then face cangjrsompetition from the client’s other
retained firms based on the client’s benchmarkinth® recovery performance of its several vendglignts such as the Department of
Education typically will allocate additional placents to those recovery vendors producing the htgeesvery rates. We believe that we
primarily compete on the basis of recovery ratégerance, as well as maintenance of high standzroscovery practices and data security
capabilities. We believe that we compete favorabith respect to most of these factors as evidebygeanlir longstanding relationships with @
clients in these markets. Pricing is not usualiyagor competitive factor as all recovery serviceadors in these markets typically receive the
same contingency-based fee rate.

In the recovery of improper healthcare paymentsfaged a highly competitive process, involving méanumber of bidders, to
become one of the four prime RAC contractors indUh&ed States. CMS is currently in the procurenpentess for the next round of RAC
contracts. We expect that our competition will urdz the other three RAC service providers: Healdmdyement Systems, Inc., Connolly
Consulting, Inc. and CGI Group. We also may facapetition from a variety of healthcare consultimgl dealthcare information services
companies. Some of these potential competitorthinext RAC contract may have greater financidl @her resources than we do. Accort
to the request for quotes, the competitive fadimrshis new RAC contract are demonstrated expeeeén effective recovery services in the
healthcare market, technical approach for idemgymproper payments, key personnel and staffingntial capability to perform under the
RAC contract and recovery fee rates. We believedhaeight-year relationship with CMS and our tethexperience in providing recovery
services to identify improper payments allows usdmpete favorably with respect to many of theséofa. We expect that our performance in
identifying claims, managing the claims processeteu the current RAC contract, and establishedrysintegration with CMS and related
Medicare administrative contractors will also bg k&ctors in determining our continued service M

Government Regulation

The nature of our business requires that we adheaecomplex array of federal and state laws agdlagions. These include the
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Aat HIPAA, the Fair Debt Collection Practices Aat,FDCPA, the Fair Credit Reporting
Act, or FCRA, the rules and regulations establishgthe Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, dPBFand related state laws. We are alsc
governed by a variety of state laws that regulaecpllection, use, disclosure and protection e$éq@eal information. We have implemented
maintain physical, technical and administrativeegafirds intended to protect all personal data anHave processes in place to assist us in
complying with applicable laws and regulations reljag the protection of this data. Our complianfferés include training of personnel and
monitoring our systems and personnel.

HIPAA and Related State Law

Our Medicare recovery business subjects us to dangd with HIPAA and various related state lawd tmantain substantial
restrictions and requirements with respect to $eand disclosure of an individual's protected theiaformation. HIPAA prohibits us from
using or disclosing an individual's protected hed@iformation unless the use or disclosure is aigbd by the individual or is specifically
required or permitted under HIPAA. Under HIPAA, wmeist establish administrative, physical and tecirsafeguards to protect the
confidentiality, integrity and availability of eleonic protected health information maintainedransmitted by us or by others on our behalf.
We are required to notify affected individuals gymyernment authorities of data security breachesliing unsecured protected health
information. The Department of Health and Humarnviges Office of Civil Rights enforces HIPAA privaeyolations; CMS enforces HIPAA
security violations and the Department of Justiti®rees criminal violations of HIPAA. We are sulijée statutory penalties for violations of
HIPAA.

Most states have enacted patient confidentialiyslthat protect against the unauthorized disclostioenfidential medical
information, and many states have adopted or arsidering further legislation in this area, inchigliprivacy safeguards, security standards
data security breach notification requirements.sErgate laws, if more stringent than HIPAA requieets, are not preempted by the federal
requirements, and we must comply with them evenghdhey may be subject to different interpretetibg various courts and other
governmental authorities. In addition, numerougp8iate laws govern the collection, disseminatise, access to and confidentiality of
individually identifiable health and healthcare yider information.

Our compliance efforts include the encryption adtpcted health information that we hold and theettgsment of procedures to
detect, investigate and provide appropriate netiiiia if protected health information is comprondis®ur
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employees and contractors receive initial and plgisupplemental training and are tested to ensomgpliance. As part of our certification and
accreditation process, we must undergo audits dgréé agencies as noted below. CMS regularly auditer, among other items, compliance
with their security standards.

Privacy Act of 197

The Privacy Act of 1974 governs the collection,,isderage, destruction and disclosure of persarfatmation about individuals by a
government agency and extends to government céotsavho have access to agency records perforneinces for government agencies.
The Privacy Act requires maintenance of a codeoafiact for employees with access to the agencydsaddressing the obligations under
Privacy Act, training of employees and disciplimeqedures for noncompliance. The Privacy Act aéspuires adopting and maintaining
appropriate administrative, technical and physsed¢guards to insure the security and confidetytiafirecords and to protect against any
anticipated threats or hazards to their securitptegrity.

As a contractor to federal government agenciesreeemuired to comply with the Privacy Act of 192ur compliance effort includ
initial and ongoing training of employees and caators in their obligations under the Privacy Aataddition we have implemented and
maintain physical, technical and administrativeegafirds and processes intended to protect allpardata consistent with or exceeding our
obligations under the Privacy Act.

Certification, Accreditation and Security

Business services that collect, store, transmitrocess information for United States governmeenaips and organizations are
required to undergo a rigorous certification ancreditation process to ensure that they operade atceptable level of security risk. As a
government contractor, we currently have AuthaityDperate, or ATO, licenses from both the Depantnoé Education and CMS.

We maintain a comprehensive enterprigde information security system based upon recmghstandards, including the NIST80C
and 1SO 27002 Code of Practice for Information S&c®Program Management, to uphold high securindards needed for the protection of
sensitive information. In addition, we hold SSABOC 1 Type Il certification, which provides assu@to auditors of third parties that we
maintain the necessary controls and procedureffectigely manage third party data. We undergoratependent audit by our government
agency clients on the award of the contract anmbg@ieally thereafter. We also conduct periodic ssl§essments.

Our regulatory compliance group is charged withrdsponsibility of ensuring our regulatory comptierand security. All our
facilities have security perimeter controls witlysegated access by security clearance level. Tbenation systems environment maintains
advanced network security intrusion detection amggntion with 24x7 monitoring and security incitlezsponse capabilities. We utilize
encryption technologies to protect sensitive datawar systems, all data during transmission andad#i on redundancy or backup media.
Employees undergo background and security chegk®ppate to their position. This can include s@gulearances by the Federal Bureau of
Investigation. We also maintain compliant disaséeovery and business continuity plans, annualhdoot two table top disaster exercises,
conduct routine security risk assessments and aiaiatcontinuous improvement process as part ofecurity risk mitigation and
management activity.

FDCPA and Related State Laws

The FDCPA regulates persons who regularly collecttmpt to collect, directly or indirectly, comsar debts owed or asserted to be
owed to another person. Certain of our debt regoard loan restructuring activities may be subjeche FDCPA. The FDCPA establishes
specific guidelines and procedures that debt regdiens must follow in communicating with consunggbtors, including the time, place and
manner of such communications. Further, it prokibdrassment or abuse by debt recovery firms,digduthe threat of violence or criminal
prosecution, obscene language or repeated teleglaisenade with the intent to abuse or harass.FIN@PA also places restrictions on
communications with individuals other than consuhastors in connection with the collection of aimpsumer debt and sets forth specific
procedures to be followed when communicating witthsthird parties for purposes of obtaining locatioformation about the consumer. In
addition, the FDCPA contains various notice andldsure requirements and prohibits unfair or midileg representations by debt recovery
firms. Finally, the FDCPA imposes certain limitatfoon lawsuits to collect debts against consumers.

Prior to the adoption of amendments to the FDCPpaasof the Dodd-Frank Act, no federal agency tedauthority to issue
interpretative regulations for the FDCPA. As a tegudicial determinations and non-binding intexfative positions issued by the Federal
Trade Commission under the FDCPA created complidiftieulties for the consumer debt collectionsustly. With the adoption of the
amendments to the FDCPA as part of the Dodd-FrastkrA2011, however, as well as specific statutrthority to issue implementing
regulations for the FDCPA, primary jurisdiction fine FDCPA was

12




Table of Contents

transferred to the Consumer Financial ProtectioreBu, or CFPB. Subsequently, the CFPB has indi¢htgdt may issue proposed regulation:s
under the FDCPA.

Debt recovery activities are also regulated asthee level. Most states have laws regulating tetmivery activities in ways that are
similar to, and in some cases more stringent tenf-DCPA. In addition, some states require detmwery firms to be licensed.

Our compliance efforts include written procedumsdompliance with the FDCPA and related state Jamgployee training and
monitoring, auditing client calls, periodic revietgsting and retraining of employees, and procegiimeresponding to client complaints. In all
states where we operate, we believe that we clyreold all required state licenses or are exemgtflicensing. Violations of the FDCPA
be enforced by the U.S. Federal Trade CommissioRTE, or by a private action by an individual tass. Violations of the FDCPA are
deemed to be an unfair or deceptive act under¢deral Trade Commission Act, which can be punidhefines for each violation. Class
action damages can total up to one percent oféhavarth of the entity violating the statute. Atiey fees and costs are also recoverable. In tt
ordinary course of business we are sued for alleg#dtions of the FDCPA and comparable state laltbpough the amounts involved in the
disposition or settlement of any such claims hastebeen significant.

FCRA

We are also subject to the Fair Credit Reporting 8cFCRA, which regulates consumer credit repgriind which may impose
liability on us to the extent that the adverse itredormation reported on a consumer to a credielu is false or inaccurate. State law, to the
extent it is not preempted by the FCRA, may alspase restrictions or liability on us with respextéporting adverse credit information. Our
compliance efforts include initial and ongoing miag of employees working with consumer credit iepamonitoring of performance, and
periodic review and risk assessments. ViolationS@RA, which are deemed to be unfair or deceptots ander the Federal Trade Commis
Act, are enforced by the FTC or by a private acbigran individual or class. Civil actions by con®mmay seek damages per violation, with
punitive damages, attorneys fees and costs alsweeable. Under the Federal Trade Commission Amitaliies for engaging in unfair or
deceptive acts can be punished by fines for eamhtion.

CFPB

The CFPB was created as part of the Dodd-FranknA2911, with primary implementing and interpretatauthority for most federal
consumer protection laws, including the FDCPA, sfarred to the CFPB. Among other things, the CFRB given the authority to issue
interpretive regulations for the FDCPA.

In addition to its authority in regard to federahsumer protection laws, the CFPB was also provitiiextt jurisdiction over certain
consumer financial service providers. In Octobe2@f?2, the CFPB issued a rule asserting directdigiion over large consumer debt
collectors, which includes debt collectors with aahassets of more than $10 million. In accordamitle the calculations included in this rule,
we are subject to direct jurisdiction of the CFR8 &n the future may be directly examined and suiped by the CFPB. In that regard, the
CFPB has also released examination guidance thexaminers will use when reviewing compliance eltacollectors subject to its direct
supervision

Recently, the CFPB has focused on service providedved in collecting debt related to any consuffireancial product from
committing unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts acfices, or UDAAPS, in violation of the Dodd-Frafi&t. UDAAPSs include actions that are
unfair and likely to cause substantial injury tasomers, deceptive actions that mislead or likelmnislead a consumer and abusive acts that
interfere with the ability of a consumer to undanst a term or condition of a consumer financiabpiad or takes unreasonable advantage of a
consumer’s lack of understanding of a consumenfira product. Although abusive acts or practicey miso be unfair or deceptive, each of
these prohibitions are separate and distinct, emg@verned by separate legal standards. Origieditors and other covered persons and
service providers involved in collecting debt rethto any consumer financial product or servicesaigect to the prohibition against UDAAI
The CFPB has indicated that it will continue toiesw closely the practices of those engaged in tlection of consumer debts for potential
UDAAPs in violation of the Dodd-Frank Act.

On April 12, 2013, we received a Civil Investig&i®emand, or a CID, from the CFPB requesting proodnof documents and
answers to questions generally related to our clalgction practices and procedures. The CFPB htalleged a violation by us of any law or
regulation. We responded to the CID, but have erenkexamined by the CFPB. In light of the posgibthat the CFPB may issue interpreta
regulations for the FDCPA, the issuance of suchlegipns could adversely affect our business asdlte of operations if we are not able to
adapt our services and client relationships to rapgtnew regulatory structure that might be reqlire
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State Law Compliance and Security Breach Respa

Many states impose an obligation on any entity tiwdds personally identifiable information or héaltformation to adopt appropriate
security to protect such data against unauthomzedss, misuse, destruction, or modification. Mgtayes have enacted laws requiring holders
of personal information to take certain actionsdsponse to data breach incidents, such as prgviompt notification of the breach to
affected individuals and government authoritieanbny cases, these laws are limited to electraatia, dut states are increasingly enacting or
considering stricter and broader requirements. Bldussetts has enacted a regulation that requisesrdity that holds, transmits or collects
certain personal information about its residentadopt a written data security plan meeting theiregqents set forth in the statute. We have
implemented and maintain physical, technical andiattrative safeguards intended to protect alspeal data and have processes in place t
assist us in complying with applicable laws andutations regarding the protection of this data praperly responding to any security
incidents. We have adopted a system security pidrsacurity breach incident response plans to addrer compliance with these laws.

Intellectual Property

Our intellectual property is a significant compohehour business, including, most notably, theliectual property underlying our
proprietary technology-enabled services platforroulgh which we provide our defaulted asset recoaerother services. To protect our
intellectual property, we rely on a combinatiorird€llectual property rights, including patentsde secrets, trademarks and copyrights. We
also utilize customary confidentiality and othentractual protections, including employee and Hpiadty confidentiality and invention
assignment agreements.

As of December 31, 2014, we had two U.S. pateith, tovering aspects of the workflow managemertesys and methods
incorporated into our technology-enabled servidadgrm. These patents will expire in Septemberf0®e routinely assess appropriate
occasions for seeking additional patent protediaorthose aspects of our platform and other teabgiek that we believe may provide
competitive advantages to our business. We algmretertain unpatented proprietary expertise dahdrdknow-how, licensed and acquired
third-party technologies, and continuous improvetrn@md other developments of our various techneigill intended to maintain our
leadership position in the industry.

As of December 31, 2014, we had five trademarkistegd with the U.S. Patent and Trademark off@S, Performant Recovery,
Performant Technologies, Discovery Analytics, aedférmant Insight.

We have registered copyrights covering various dgpyed material relevant to our business. We hee unregistered copyrights in
many components of our software systems. We mapaable to use these unregistered copyrightseteept misappropriation of such content
by unauthorized parties in the future; however rahg on our extensive information technology segumeasures and contractual arrangemen
with employees and third-party contractors to miaarthe opportunities for any such misuse of tistent.

We are not subject to any material intellectuaperty claims alleging that we infringe, misapprapegior otherwise violate the
intellectual property rights of any third party,rmtave we asserted any material intellectual ptgpefringement claim against any third party.

Employees

As of December 31, 2014, we had approximately 1f484ime employees. None of our employees is aniner of a labor union and
we consider our employee relations to be good.

Recent Developments

On January 28, 2015, we entered into an AgreenmehPéan of Merger (“Merger Agreement”) with Premiitgalthcare
Exchange, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“PHX"),quant to which, PHX would become our wholly-ownediiect subsidiary. The Merger
Agreement contains customary closing conditionduiing completion of a financing by us to fund dunsideration payable under the terms
of the Merger Agreement. The purchase price utideMerger Agreement is approximately $108 milliortash, subject to certain
adjustments, and certain PHX stockholders will &schange shares for $22 million of our commonlstiiée also could be obligated to pay
to an additional $19.1 million in cash pursuanamoearnout arrangement based on PHX in revenu&li. On January 28, 2015 we
announced proposed concurrent public offeringsB6figillion aggregate principal amount of convegibEnior notes due 2020 and $50
million of shares of our common stock to finance tlash portion of the consideration payable urtteeiMerger Agreement. On January 30,
2015, we announced our decision to withdraw th@@sed public offerings of convertible senior naed common stock. The Merger
Agreement is currently terminable by either us ldiXRvithout penalty, except that we are obligateghdy an expense
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termination fee of $750,000 in the event the meigeaont completed due to our failure to completerquired financing of the consideration
payable under the Merger Agreement.

Available Information

The SEC maintains an Internet site at http://wwaigav that contains our Annual Report on Form 1@arterly reports on Form 10-
Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendmentsdsetieports, if any, or other filings filed or fished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amenddtiedexchange Act, proxy and information statemehlisreports that we file with the SEC
may be read and copied at the SEC’s Public ReferBoom at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, DC, 206¥8rmation about the operation of
the Public Reference Room can be obtained by galfie SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.

ITEM 1A. Risk Factors

Our business, financial condition, results of ofieres and liquidity are subject to various riskgl amcertainties, including those
described below, and as a result, the trading ficeir common stock could decline.

Risks Related to Our Business

Our agreements with the Department of Education aB#S, two of our largest customers, are currentlybgect to rebidding processes, and
our failure to renew these agreements or a renewalless favorable terms would have a significanigag¢ive impact on our revenues and
results of operations.

Our existing contracts with the Department of Ediaceand CMS are currently subject to rebiddinggesses. The Department of
Education and CMS were responsible for approximpa&l2% and 14.9% of our revenue for the year efdiszbmber 31, 2014, respectively
and 20.2% and 26.2% of our revenue for the yeae@mecember 31, 2013, respectively. We understaatdite other recovery service
providers under the current contract have recentigived notice from the Department of Educatiatirsg an intention to extend their existing
contracts past April 2015, which is the expiratitate for the current contract. To date, we havaexsived notice of any such extension from
the Department of Education, and we are unsureheh&te will be provided any such extension of aurent contract or when the new
contracts will be awarded. We do not believe thpddenent of Education has completed the currentraonextension process. However, due
to the timing of the rehabilitation process forreglaced with us by the Department of Educatienewpect there will be a minimal impact on
our revenues in 2015 if we do not receive an exbensf our current contract. Despite notice of thefent to extend the current contract for
five recovery service providers, we believe the &&pent of Education is not permitted to selectiwettend the contract for individual
recovery service providers. We are also currerdlyigipating in a competitive bidding process foe next RAC contract, but this process has
been and may continue to be delayed, includingrigoing litigation related to the bidding processtests following the award of contracts or
other factors. While we believe our performanceaurekisting contracts with the Department of Edieceand CMS and the experience we
have gained in performing under these contractgiposis well to renew both of these agreementstinoed delays in the award of the new
contracts, failure to retain either of these agmeisor a significant adverse change in the tefregiter of these agreements upon any renew:
would seriously harm our revenues and our operaénglts.

The transition rules implemented by CMS in connaiwith the award of the new RAC contract and thelalys associated with the award
the new RAC contract will have an adverse impactaur revenues.

Our ability to make claims under our existing RA@htract continues to be limited by contract trdositules announced by CMS. In
this regard, CMS suspended our ability to requestioal records for audit during a significant pamtiof the fourth quarter of 2013 and all of
2014 other than a brief period in January and Falra014, beginning again in August 2014 throughr ysnd. Recently, CMS announced that
it extended our existing RAC contract through Deben81, 2015, but has not indicated the type oftaadivities and the scope of procedures
we will be allowed to conduct during this extengediod. In addition, even during periods of peredtaudit activity, CMS has placed
restrictions on the types of claims and the amoticertain medical records requests that we mayendaking the transition period, and CMS
has generally maintained a lefrgnning prohibition on requesting medical recombsf PIP providers. These transition rules haveshad
material adverse effect on our revenues duriny#ae ended December 31, 2014. Our revenues from @M8g the year ended December
2014 were $29.2 million, compared to $66.8 millchrring the year ended December 31, 2013. Our regeander this contract will be further
diminished during the 2015 calendar year. In addita litigation regarding a protest involving taref the four new RAC contracts is ongoing,
which has resulted in an injunction barring the i@ three of the four new RAC contracts. A fiRAC contract, which is a new type of R/
contract covering the identification and recovefynaproper claims for durable medical equipmentgbhetics, orthotics and supplies and h
health and hospice claims, was not covered bynjuaction and was awarded to another party in Jgrn2@15. We are not a party to this
litigation. CMS has stated that
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the injunction will delay the award of the three ®Aontracts that are subject to the injunctionluhé judge’s ruling on the injunction, which
is not expected to occur until summer 2015. Itrisartain whether CMS will award the RAC contract cavered by the injunction in the
interim period or wait to award all of the new RA&@ntracts at the same time. As a result of theyddtathe award of the new RAC contract
and the restrictions on our audit activities untherexisting contract, we expect the reductiondaltihcare revenues will have a material ad\
effect on our revenues for 2014 and 2015. In amluljtif we are successful in obtaining a new RACt@mt with CMS, we expect there will be
an approximate four to six month period until warsto recognize revenue after the award is made.

Our current or future indebtedness could adverseffect our business and financial condition and rede the funds available to us for oth
purposes, and our failure to comply with the covertg contained in our senior secured credit facilitpuld result in an event of default th:
could adversely affect our results of operations.

As of December 31, 2014, our estimated total deist $111.8 million. For the year ended DecembeRB14 our consolidated interest
expense was $10.2 million. Our ability to make sithed payments or to refinance our debt obligatenms to fund our other liquidity needs
depends on our financial and operating performamnbéh is subject to factors specific to our busBiesuch as maintaining our agreements
with our key clients, as well as prevailing economnd competitive conditions and to certain finahdusiness and other factors beyond our
control. We cannot make assurances that we wilhtagi a level of cash flows from operating actestisufficient to permit us to pay the
principal and interest on our indebtedness andrid bur other liquidity needs. If our cash flowslaapital resources are insufficient to fund
our debt service obligations and allow us to méntampliance with the financial covenants and ot@enants under our senior secured
credit facility or to fund our other liquidity needwe may be forced to reduce or delay capital maiperes, sell assets or operations, seek
additional capital or restructure or refinance imalebtedness. We cannot ensure that we would lect@bhke any of these actions, that these
actions would be successful and permit us to meescheduled debt service obligations or that tlaxesiens would be permitted under the
terms of our existing or future debt agreementduiting our senior secured credit facility. If wannot make scheduled payments on our deb
we will be in default and, as a result, our detidérs could declare all outstanding principal ameériest to be due and payable, our lenders
could foreclose against the assets securing ouoworgs and we could be forced into bankruptcyiguitiation.

Our debt agreements contain, and any agreemergfinance our debt likely will contain, financialérestrictive covenants that limit
our ability to incur additional debt, including fimance future operations or other capital needd,ta engage in other activities that we may
believe are in our longerm best interests, including to dispose of ouaegassets or make capital expenditures. Thesenemis also require
us to maintain certain financial ratios, includimdixed charge coverage ratio, total debt to EBITi2a#o and an interest coverage ratio, as wel
as minimum EBITDA and adjusted cash amounts. Wdlecurrent projections for 2015 show that we wahnain in compliance with these
financial covenants throughout 2015, given the céida in our revenues as a result of the ongoigysen the award of new contracts by the
Department of Education and the new RAC contracts f{CMS, and the uncertainty as to when these actstwill be awarded, there can be
assurance that we can maintain compliance wittetfirancial covenants. In particular, our curremjgctions, assuming we do not make any
other adjustments to reduce our expenses, showvthaiill be narrowly in compliance with severalafr covenants during the second half of
2015. Our failure to comply with these covenanty megsult in an event of default, which, if not cd@r waived, could accelerate the maturity
of our indebtedness or result in modifications tio eredit terms. If our indebtedness is acceleratedmay not have sufficient cash resource
satisfy our debt obligations, our lenders coulefbwse against the assets securing our borrowimgjsva could be forced into bankruptcy or
liquidation.

Revenues generated from our four largest clientpresented 70% of our revenues for the year endedddaber 31, 2014, and 75% of o
revenues for the year ended December 31, 2013,amndtermination of or deterioration in our relatioghip with any of these clients would
result in a decline in our revenues.

We derive a substantial majority of our revenuesifa limited number of clients, including the Deapant of Education, CMS and
two GAs. Revenues from our four largest clients@spnted 70% of our revenues for the year endedreer 31, 2014 and 75% of our
revenues for the year ended December 31, 2012fAllir contracts with these clients are subjegtenodic renewal and re-bidding processes
and if we lose one of these clients or if the teahsur relationships with any of these clientsdree less favorable to us, our revenues would
decline, which would harm our business, financtaidition and results of operations.

Many of our contracts with our clients for the regery of student loans and other receivables are ertlusive and do not commit our cliet
to provide specified volumes of business. In additithe terms of these contracts may be changedaierally and on short notice by our
clients. As a consequence, there is no assuraned te will be able to maintain our revenues and ogiting results.
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Substantially all of our existing contracts for tieeovery of student loans and other receivablégiwepresented approximately 83%
of our revenues in 2014 and 74% of our revenudisdryear ended December 31, 2013, enable our €lientnilaterally terminate their
contractual relationship with us at any time withpanalty, potentially leading to loss of businessenegotiation of terms. Further, most of
contracts in these markets allow our clients tdat@ially change the volume of loans and otherivetdes that are placed with us or the
payment terms at any given time. In addition, neégiur contracts are not exclusive, with our cliergtaining multiple service providers with
whom we must compete for placements of loans araibligations. Therefore, despite our contractetionships with our clients, our
contracts do not provide assurance that we wilegaie a minimum amount of revenues or that weratleive a specific volume of placemel

Our revenues and operating results would be negataffected if our student loan and receivablénts, which include four of our
five largest clients in 2014 and 2013, reduce thllame of student loan placements provided to uglifpthe terms of service, including the
success fees we are able to earn upon recovesfarlted student loans, or any of these clientblish more favorable relationships with our
competitors. For example, in 2013 in connectiorhwlite Department of Education’s decision to havedtovery vendors promote
income-based repayment, or IBR, to defaulted student |dhesDepartment of Education unilaterally reduttedicontingency fee rate that we
receive for rehabilitating student loans by appmadely 13%. Further, in October 2014, the Departroéiducation announced a change to a
fixed fee of $1,710 payable for each loan thaekabilitated in place of a recovery fee that histdly had been based on a percentage of the
balance of the rehabilitated loan.

Over the course of our existing RAC contract, théras been an increase in the number of appeals bglthcare providers to the third, or
ALJ, level of appeal relating to claims we have atedl, and there can be no assurance that our estiethliability for such appeals will b
adequate.

Under our RAC contract with CMS, we recognize raxanwhen the healthcare provider has paid CMS étaimn or has agreed to an
offset against other claims by the provider. Hezltl providers have the right to appeal a claimraay pursue additional levels of appeal if
the initial appeal is found in favor of CMS. We ac an estimated liability for appeals at the tienenue is recognized based on our estimate
of the amount of revenue probable of being refurtdedMS following successful appeal based on hisdbdata and other trends relating to
such appeals. In addition, if our estimate of ligbfor appeals with respect to revenues recoghiharing a prior period changes, we increase
or decrease the estimated liability reserve inctiveent period. Over the course of our existing R&Gtract, healthcare providers have
increased their pursuit of appeals beyond thedinst second levels of appeal to the third levelpdeal, where cases are heard by
administrative law judges, or ALJs. In our expecendecisions at the third level of appeal ardehst favorable as ALJs exercise greater
discretion and there is less predictability in &ie) decisions as compared to appeals at the firstoond levels. The pursuit of third level
appeals by healthcare providers has also resuitadacklog of claims at that level of appeal. Thisease of ALJ appeals and backlog of
claims at the third level of appeal is the primagson our total estimated liability for appealsn&sting of the estimated liability for appeals
plus the contra-accounts-receivable estimated alhoe for appeals) has grown from a balance of $illn at December 31, 2012, to
$16.4 million at December 31, 2013 to $18.6 millamof December 31, 2014. Our estimates for oueapeserve are subject to uncertainties
and accordingly we may underestimate the numbesuatessful appeals or the financial impact of ss&foé appeals in a given year or period.
To the extent that the amount of commissions theare required to return to CMS as a result ofssgfal appeals exceeds our estimated
appeals reserve, our revenues in the applicabledowill be reduced by the amount of such excdsselunderestimate the amount of
commissions that are subject to successful appealevenues in future periods could be adverdédgted.

Further, CMS recently offered to pay hospitals 68%wvhat they have billed Medicare to settle a bagldf pending appeals
challenging Medicare’s denials of reimbursementcimntain types of shorterm care. The implication of this settlement offgated to claims
for which recovery auditors have already been paiter existing RAC contracts is uncertain at timet Any payments we are required to
make to CMS under our existing RAC contract in amtion with such settlement offer may be significamd in excess of the amount we have
reserved for appeals, which could have a mateegative impact our financial position and liquidity

Our ability to derive revenues under our RAC conttawill depend in part on the number and types aftentially improper claims that we
are allowed to pursue by CMS, and our results oeogtions may be harmed if the scope of claims thet are allowed to pursue and be
compensated for is limited.

Under our existing RAC contract with CMS and anwrRAC contract that we enter into upon completibthe current rebidding
process with CMS, we are not permitted to and nwysaek the recovery of an improper claim unleas plrticular type of claim has been pre:
approved by CMS to ensure compliance with appledlédicare payment policies, as well as nationdllaoal coverage determinations.
Accordingly, the long-term growth of the revenues derive under a RAC contract will also dependart pn CMS expanding the scope of
potentially improper claims that we are allowegtosue. If we are unable to continue to identifpioper claims within the types of claims
that we are permitted to pursue from time to
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time or if CMS does not expand the scope of paadiptimproper claims that we are allowed to pursug, results of operations could be
adversely affected.

In addition, CMS has implemented rules that pre¥®®€ contractors from being able to review and &(iflivhether inpatient care
delivered to patients with hospital stays lastiegslthan two midnights was medically necessantlaréfore deserving of the higher
reimbursement levels under Medicare Part A omffigther inpatient treatment was medically necesgargdmissions spanning more than twc
midnights. In connection with these restrictiomaspitals cannot bill CMS for outpatient serviceshospital stays lasting less than two
midnights during such period. Fees associateld ngitoveries initiated by us based upon impropemd for inpatient reimbursement of these
short stays have represented a substantial patithve revenues we have earned under our existi@ €ntract. The continued suspension of
this type of review activity could have a mategdverse effect on our future healthcare revenug®parating results in the event we are
successful in obtaining a second RAC contract, niéipg on a variety of factors including, among ottengs, CMS’s evaluation of provider
compliance with the new rules, the rules ultimatdppted by CMS with respect to medical necessitiews of Medicare reimbursement
claims associated with short stay inpatient admissand, more generally, the scope of impropemsdhat CMS allows us to pursue and our
ability to successfully identify improper claimsthin the permitted scope. In connection with theaiiof the new RAC contract, CMS has
indicated that it is reviewing certain aspectshaf RAC contract including the amount of medicabrds that RAC vendors may request anc
timeframes for review and communications betweerCRAndors and providers.

We face significant competition in connection witibtaining, retaining and performing under our existg client contracts, including our
contracts with the Department of Education and CM&d an inability to compete effectively in the fue could harm our relationships wit
our clients, which would impact our ability to maiain our revenues and operating results.

We operate in very competitive markets. In prowidaur services to the student loan and other rabéeg markets, we face
competition from many other companies. Initiallye sompete with these companies to be one of typisaleral firms engaged to provide
recovery services to a particular client and, ifawe successful in being engaged, we then facéncdmg competition from the client’s other
retained firms based on the client’s benchmarkinh® recovery rates of its several vendors. Intamd those recovery vendors who produce
the highest recovery rates from a client often bélallocated additional placements and in somescadditional success fees. Accordingly,
maintaining high levels of recovery performance] doing so in a cost-effective manner, are imparactors in our ability to maintain and
grow our revenues and net income and the failuezhieve these objectives could harm our busiriessicial condition and results of
operations. Some of our current and potential caitgpg in the markets in which we operate may hgnemater financial, marketing,
technological or other resources than we do. Thlgabf any of our competitors and potential cortifms to adopt new and effective
technology to better serve our markets may all@mtho gain market strength. Increasing levels afietition in the future may result in low
recovery fees, lower volumes of contracted recogeryices or higher costs for resources. Any iiitghith compete effectively in the markets
that we serve could adversely affect our busirfessncial condition and results of operations.

The U.S. federal government accounts for a signdfit portion of our revenues, and any loss of busiserom, or change in our relationshi
with, the U.S. federal government would result irsanificant decrease in our revenues and operatiggults.

We have historically derived and are likely to éoué to derive a significant portion of our revesdi®m the U.S. federal governme
For the year ended December 31, 2014, revenues oodiacts with the U.S. federal government actedifor approximately 46% of our to
revenues, compared to 48% for the year ended Deme®ih 2013. In addition, fees payable by the f&&eral government are expected to
become a larger percentage of our total revenuesstbe next several years as a result of legisidtiat has transferred responsibility for all
new student loan origination to the Departmentdifi¢ation. The continuation and exercise of ren@ptibns on existing government contre
and any new government contracts are, among dihgys, contingent upon the availability of adequateding for the applicable federal
government agency. Changes in federal governmemtdspg could directly affect our financial perfonmeca.

For example, the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2013,alshivas signed into law by President Obama on Deeefh 2013, reduced the
compensation paid to GAs for the rehabilitatiostident loans, effective July 1, 2014. This “reweernhancement” measure reduced from
18.5% to 16.0% of the outstanding loan balanceatheunt that GAs can charge borrowers when a rifaadd loan is sold by the GA and
eliminated entirely the GAs retention of 18.5% loé butstanding loan balance as a fee for rehahilitgervices. The reduction in compense
the GAs receive resulted in a decrease of apprdrigna5.0% in the contingency fee percentage tleategeive from the GAs for assisting in
the rehabilitation of defaulted student loans. Fertin October 2014, the Department of Educatiumoanced a new fee structure with respect
to payment for rehabilitated loans to provide @dixee of $1,710 payable for each loan that ishiditeted in place of a recovery fee that
historically had been based as a percentage dfafamce of the rehabilitated loan. Any additiona¢rase in the
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student loan contingency fees would result in ¢hieirdecrease of our revenues. Further, any amthaitsve may be obligated to pay CMS
under existing RAC contract as a result of CMStsere offer to pay hospitals 68% of what they halledMedicare to settle a backlog of
pending appeals challenging Medicare’s denialeiofibursement for certain types of shoerm care could have a material negative impac
financial position and liquidity. The loss of busgs from the U.S. federal government, or signifigemicy changes or financial pressures
within the agencies of the U.S. federal governntleat we serve would result in a significant decegasour revenues, which would adversely
affect our business, financial condition and ressaftoperations.

Future legislative or regulatory changes affectirtge markets in which we operate could impair ourdiness and operations.

The two principal markets in which we provide oeicovery services, government-supported studenslaad the Medicare program,
are a subject of significant legislative and retpriafocus and we cannot anticipate how future gearin government policy may affect our
business and operations. For example, SAFRA sarifly changed the structure of the governnseported student loan market by assig
responsibility for all new government-supporteddstot loan originations to the Department of Edwrgtrather than originations by private
institutions and backed by one of 30 governmenpseupd GAs. This legislation, and any future chanigehe legislation and regulations that
govern these markets, may require us to adaptusinéss to the new circumstances and we may bdeuttatto so in a manner that does not
adversely affect our business and operations.

Our business relationship with the Department of &xhtion has accounted for a significant portion ofur revenues and will take on
increasing importance to our business as a resdlSAFRA. Our failure to maintain this relationshipvould significantly decrease our
revenues.

While the majority of our historical revenues fraine student loan market have come from our relakigps with the GAs, as a result
of SAFRA, the Department of Education will ultimgt&@ecome the sole source of revenues in this maakbough the GAs will continue to
service their existing student loan portfolios fieany years to come. As a result, over time, andrasgy we are successful in entering into a
new contract with the Department of Education undercurrent rebidding process, defaults on stulbems originated by the Department of
Education will predominate and our ability to maintthe revenues we had previously received frararaber of GA clients will depend on ¢
relationship with a single client, the DepartmehEducation. While we have 24 years of experiemgeerforming student loan recovery
services for the Department of Education, we aeedarl7 unrestricted recovery service providershencurrent Department of Education
contract. We understand that five other recoveryise providers under the current contract havemdyg received notice from the Department
of Education stating an intention to extend th&istng contracts past April 2015, which is the ieapon date for the current contract. To date,
we have not received notice of any such extensmm the Department of Education, and we are unstether we will be provided any such
extension of our current contract or when the nentracts will be awarded. If our relationship witte Department of Education terminates ol
deteriorates or if the Department of Educatiorimately as the sole holder of defaulted studemdpaequires its contractors to agree to less
favorable terms, our revenues would significantgréase, and our business, financial conditionresults of operations would be harmed.

We could lose clients as a result of consolidatamong the GAs, which would decrease our revenues.

As a result of SAFRA, which terminated the abilifythe GAs to originate government-supported stutteans, some have speculated
that there may be consolidation among the 29 GA® 3peculation has heightened as a result ofeith@ction of fees that the GAs will receive
for rehabilitating student loans as a result ofBlipartisan Budget Act of 2013. If GAs that are clients are combined with GAs with whom
we do not have a relationship, we could suffersa lof business. We currently have relationshipk & of the 29 GAs and two of our GA
clients were each responsible for more than 10%uofotal revenues in the year ended December(®4 and 2013. The consolidation of our
GA clients with others and the failure to provigeavery services to the consolidated entity coelctelase our revenues, which could
negatively impact our business, financial conditionl results of operations.

Our results of operations may fluctuate on a quatieor annual basis and cause volatility in the jge of our stock.

Our revenues and operating results could vary fsogmitly from period-to-period and may fail to mlatour past performance because
of a variety of factors, some of which are out@fleur control. Any of these factors could causephice of our common stock to fluctuate.
Factors that could contribute to the variabilityoofr operating results include:

« the amount of defaulted student loans and otheivables that our clients place with us for recgy

» the timing of placements of student loans and atbegivables which are entirely in the discretibowur clients
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the schedules of government agencies for awgretimtracts including the impact of any protededfin connection with the
award of any such contracts;
* our ability to successfully identify improper Mieare claims and the number and type of poteptiaiproper claims that CMS
authorizes us to pursue under our RAC contact;
» the loss or gain of significant clients or changethe contingency fee rates or other significaniris of our business arrangeme
with our significant clients;
» technological and operational issues that may &ffecclients and regulatory changes in the manketservice; ar

e general industry and macroeconomic conditi

Downturns in domestic or global economic conditioaad other macroeconomic factors could harm our lnmsss and results of operations.

Various macroeconomic factors influence our busireesl results of operations. These include themelaf student loan originations
in the United States, together with tuition costd atudent enroliment rates, the default rateuddestt loan borrowers, which is impacted by
domestic and global economic conditions, ratesnefmployment and similar factors, and the growthlgdicare expenditures resulting from
changes in healthcare costs. For example, durimgltibal financial crisis beginning in 2008, therked for securitized student loan portfolios
was disrupted, resulting in delays in the abilitysome GA clients to resell rehabilitated studeatls and, as a result, delays our ability to
recognize revenues from these rehabilitated ld@hanges in the overall economy could lead to aatémtuin overall recovery rates by our
clients, which in turn could adversely affect ousimess, financial condition and results of opersti

We may not be able to manage our growth effectivay our results of operations could be negativafected.

Our business has expanded significantly, espedialigcent years with the expansion of our serviagbe healthcare market, and we
intend to maintain our focus on growth. However, cantinued focus on growth and the expansion ofmsiness may place additional
demands on our management, operations and finaesialirces and will require us to incur additiceglenses. We cannot be sure that we wi
be able to manage our growth effectively. In otdesuccessfully manage our growth, our expensdsnaeilease to recruit, train and manage
additional qualified employees and subcontractadsta expand and enhance our administrative infraitre and continue to improve our
management, financial and information systems amdrals. If we cannot manage our growth effectiyelyr expenses may increase and our
results of operations could be negatively affected.

A failure of our operating systems or technologyfiastructure, or those of our thir-party vendors and subcontractors, could disrupeth
operation of our business.

A failure of our operating systems or technolodyastructure, or those of our thighrty vendors and subcontractors, could disrug
operations. Our operating systems and technoldggsimucture are susceptible to damage or intdomgtom various causes, including acts of
God and other natural disasters, power losses, gmpystems failures, Internet and telecommurdnatbdr data network failures, operator
error, computer viruses, losses of and corruptiottata and similar events. The occurrence of arthede events could result in interruptions,
delays or cessations in service to our clientajeedhe attractiveness of our recovery servicesiteent or potential clients and adversely
impact our financial condition and results of opieras. While we have backup systems in many ofoparating facilities, an extended outage
of utility or network services may harm our abilityoperate our business. Further, the situatienglan for and the amount of insurance
coverage we maintain for losses as result of faflwf our operating systems and infrastructure nodye adequate in any particular case.

If our security measures are breached or fail andauthorized access is obtained to our cli€’ confidential data, our services may be
perceived as insecure, the attractiveness of oworeery services to current or potential clients mag reduced, and we may incur significa
liabilities.

Our recovery services involve the storage and tnésson of confidential information relating to atlients and their customers,
including health, financial, credit, payment andestpersonal or confidential information. Althouglr data security procedures are designi
protect against unauthorized access to confideinfialmation, our computer systems, software artdvokks may be vulnerable to unauthori
access and disclosure of our clients’ confidermirmation. Further, we may not effectively adapt security measures to evolving security
risks, address the security and privacy concerexisting or potential clients as they change divee, or be compliant with federal, state, and
local laws and
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regulations with respect to securing confidentiéimation. Unauthorized access to confidentiabinfation relating to our clients and their
customers could lead to reputational damage wtocidodeter our clients and potential clients fragtesting our recovery services, or result in
termination of contracts with those clients affeldy any such breach, regulatory action, and claigasnst us.

In the event of any unauthorized access to persorather confidential information, we may be reqdito expend significant
resources to investigate and remediate vulnerasilib our security procedures, and we may be stiijdines, penalties, litigation costs, and
financial losses that are either not insured againeot fully covered through any insurance mangd by us. If one or more of such failures in
our security and privacy measures were to occurbosiness, financial condition and results of atiens could suffer.

Our business may be harmed if we lose members ofroanagement team or other key employees.

We are highly dependent on members of our manageieam and other key employees and our future ssadepends in part on our
ability to retain these people. Our inability tntioue to attract and retain members of our manageteam and other key employees could
adversely affect our business, financial conditiod results of operations.

The growth of our healthcare business will requites to hire and retain employees with specializedlsland failure to do so could harm ot
ability to grow our business.

The growth of our healthcare business will depengairt on our ability to recruit, train and managklitional qualified employees.
Our healthcare-related operations require us @reigistered nurses and experts in Medicare coffinging, attracting and retaining
employees with these skills is a critical comporatroviding our healthcarelated recovery and audit services, and our iitglvd staff thes
operations appropriately represents a risk to eaithcare service offering and associated reveruemability to hire qualified personnel,
particularly to serve our healthcare clients, mestnain the growth of our business.

We rely on subcontractors to provide services to dients and the failure of subcontractors to perim as expected could harm our busine
operations and our relationships with our clients.

We engage subcontractors to provide certain sex¥a@eur clients. These subcontractors particiftaterying degrees in our recovery
activities with regards to all of the services weyide. While most of our subcontractors providedfic services to us, we engage one
subcontractor to provide all of the audit and reggwservices under our contract with CMS withincation of our region. While we believe t
we perform appropriate due diligence before we $ifecontractors, our subcontractors may not proaddguate service or otherwise comply
with the terms set forth in their agreements. Békient a subcontractor provides deficient perfooaao one or more of our clients, any such
client may reduce the volume of services we argigiog under an existing contract or may termirthgerelevant contract entirely and we may
face claims for breach of contract. Any such disinipin our relations with our clients as a resilservices provided by any of our
subcontractors could adversely affect our reveanesoperating results.

If our software vendors or utility and network praders fail to deliver or perform as expected ourdiness operations could be advers
affected.

Our recovery services depend in part on tipiadty providers, including software vendors antitytand network providers. Our abili
to service our clients depends on these third-gadyiders meeting our expectations and contrachbdations in a timely and effective
manner. Our business could be materially and adieeadfected, and we might incur significant adatitl liabilities, if the services provided
these third-party providers do not meet our expieta or if they terminate or refuse to renew thelationships with us on similar contractual
terms.

We are subject to extensive regulations regardihg tise and disclosure of confidential personal infioation and failure to comply with
these regulations could cause us to incur liabidis and expenses.

We are subject to a wide array of federal and $ta¥s and regulations regarding the use and disdosf confidential personal
information and security. For example, the fedel@lth Insurance Portability and Accountability A¢t1996, as amended, or HIPAA, and
related state laws subject us to substantial ofistnis and requirements with respect to the usedésudbsure of the personal health information
that we obtain in connection with our audit andoresry services under our contract with CMS and wstrestablish administrative, physical
and technical safeguards to protect the confidiéytiaf this information. Similar protections extéo the type of personal financial and other
information we acquire from our student loan, stateand federal receivables clients. We are reduio notify affected individuals and
government agencies of data security breachesvimgpprotected health and certain personally idieditie information. These laws and
regulations also require that we develop, implenagict maintain written, comprehensive informatioocusity programs containing safeguards
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that are appropriate to protect personally ideatiig information or health information against uhauized access, misuse, destruction or
modification. Federal law generally does not preestate law in the area of protection of personfdrimation, and as a result we must also
comply with state laws and regulations. Regulatibprivacy, data use and security requires thaineer significant expenses, which could
increase in the future as a result of additiongulations, all of which adversely affects our résolf operations. Failure to comply with these
laws and regulations can result in penalties arabine cases expose us to civil lawsuits.

Our student loan recovery business is subject tteasive regulation and consumer protection laws amak failure to comply with these
regulations and laws may subject us to liability d@mnesult in significant costs.

Our student loan recovery business is subjectgolagion and oversight by various state and fedsgahcies, particularly in the area
of consumer protection. The Fair Debt Collectioadices Act, or FDCPA, and related state laws mpi®gpecific guidelines that we must
follow in communicating with holders of student fizaand regulates the manner in which we can rea®faulted student loans. Some state
attorney generals have been active in this areammumer protection regulation. We are subject,raag be subject in the future, to inquiries
and audits from state and federal regulators, disawdrequent litigation from private plaintiffegarding compliance under the FDCPA and
related state regulations. We are also subjetigd-air Credit Reporting Act, or FCRA, which regakconsumer credit reporting and may
impose liability on us to the extent adverse craddrmation reported to a credit bureau is falséaccurate. Our compliance with the FDCI
FCRA and other federal and state regulations tii@tteour student loan recovery business may raésulignificant costs, including litigation
costs. We may also become subject to regulaticommylgated by the United States Consumer FinanctaeBtion Bureau, or CFPB, which v
established in July 2011 as part of the Dodd-Frartkto, among other things, establish regulatiegarding consumer financial protection
laws. In addition, the CFPB has investigatory amibecement authority with respect to whether pessane engaged in unlawful acts or
practices in connection with the collection of camer debts. On April 12, 2013, we received a Giwilestigative Demand, or a CID, from the
CFPB requesting production of documents and anstweygestions generally related to the Compsuagbt collection practices and procedt
The CFPB has not alleged a violation by us of amy dr regulation. We responded to the CID, but hastebeen examined by the CFPB. In
light of the possibility that the CFPB may issuteipretative regulations for the FDCPA, the isseamfcsuch regulations could adversely affec
our business and results of operations if we at@ble to adapt our services and client relatiqgrskd meet any new regulatory structure that
might be required.

In addition, changing laws, regulations and statislaelating to corporate governance and publidaisece are creating uncertainty -
public companies, increasing legal and financiahpliance costs and making some activities more Gorsuming. These laws, regulations
standards are subject to varying interpretationsjany cases due to their lack of specificity, asda result, their application in practice may
evolve over time as new guidance is provided byleggry and governing bodies. This could resultdntinuing uncertainty regarding
compliance matters and higher costs necessitatetidging revisions to disclosure and governancetiges. We will continue to invest
resources to comply with evolving laws, regulatiansl standards, and this investment may resulicireased general and administrative
expenses and a diversion of management’s time tsatian from revenue-generating activities to ctiamnee activities. If our efforts to
comply with new laws, regulations and standardfedifom the activities intended by regulatory avgrning bodies due to ambiguities relatec
to their application and practice, regulatory auties may initiate legal proceedings against u$ @m business may be adversely affected.

However, for as long as we remain an “emerging ¢lmasempany” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Busitgtartups Act of 2012, or
the JOBS Act, we may take advantage of certain gxens from various reporting requirements thatapplicable to other public companies
that are not “emerging growth companies,” includibgt not limited to, not being required to compligh the auditor attestation requirements
of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, redudésdabure obligations regarding executive compénsan our periodic reports and proxy
statements, and exemptions from the requiremertisldfng a nonbinding advisory vote on executiveapensation and shareholder approval
of any golden parachute payments not previouslyama. We may take advantage of these reportingptiens until we are no longer an
“emerging growth company.”

We will remain an “emerging growth comparfgt up to five years following our initial publidfering in August 2012, although if tl
market value of our common stock that is held by-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of any Juné8fdre that time, our revenues exceed $
billion, or we issue more than $1 billion in nonaeertible debt in a three-year period, we wouldsee® be an “emerging growth company” as
of the following December 31.

As a result of disclosure of information as a peibbmpany, our business and financial conditioreHacome more visible, which we
believe may result in threatened or actual litigratincluding by competitors and other third partié such claims are successful, our business
operations and financial results could be adveratgcted, and even if the claims do not resulitigation or are resolved in our favor, these
claims, and the time and resources necessarydtvesthem, could divert

22




Table of Contents

the resources of our management and adverselyt affie@usiness operations and financial resultes&tactors could also make it more
difficult for us to attract and retain qualified ployees, executive officers and members of ourdoédirectors.

Failure to achieve and maintain effective internabntrols in accordance with Section 404 of Sarbar@sley would impair our ability to
produce accurate and reliable financial statementghich would harm our stock price

We are subject to reporting obligations under ®ecfio4 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act that require usdlude a management report on
our internal control over financial reporting inrannual report, which contains management’s agsa#sof the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting. These requirensdirst applied to our annual report on Form 10eKthe year ended December 31, 2013 and
complying with these requirements can be difficktir example, in June 2012, we determined thatadkitcorrectly accounted for our
mandatorily redeemable preferred stock, which meglaudit adjusting entries for the three-yearqueended December 31, 2011. Our failure
to detect this error was deemed to be a deficieamayternal control and this deficiency was considito be a material weakness. To address
this situation, our independent registered puldmoanting firm recommended that the Company emphakie importance of thoroughly
researching all new accounting policies and ramgiaccounting policies set for existing transatsiavhen changes in the business or reportin
requirements occur or are expected to occur. Tegmtassues like these in the future, we have edstour technical accounting expertise anc
where appropriate, engaged outside consultantsspithialized knowledge.

Our management may conclude that our internal obatrer our financial reporting is not effective e/fave limited accounting
personnel and other resources with which to addressternal controls and procedures. If we faitilmely achieve and maintain the adequac
of our internal control over financial reportingeuwnay not be able to produce reliable financiabrepor help prevent fraud. Our failure to
achieve and maintain effective internal controlrdfirgancial reporting could prevent us from filiogir periodic reports on a timely basis, which
could result in the loss of investor confidencéhia reliability of our financial statements, haror dusiness and negatively impact the trading
price of our common stock.

We are required to disclose changes made in ogimiak controls and procedures on a quarterly besigiever, our independent
registered public accounting firm is not requireddrmally attest to the effectiveness of our intdrcontrol over financial reporting pursuant to
Section 404 until such time that we are no longefesnerging growth company” as defined in the JORS if we continue to take advantage
of the exemptions contained in the JOBS Act. Atstime, our independent registered public accogrfitm may issue a report that is adverse
in the event it is not satisfied with the leveladtich our controls are documented, designed oratipgy. Our remediation efforts may not ene
us to avoid a material weakness in the future.

Litigation may result in substantial costs of defes, damages or settlement, any of which could sabjes to significant costs and expens

We are party to lawsuits in the normal course difess, particularly in connection with our studean recovery services. For
example, we are regularly subject to claims thahase violated the guidelines and procedures thist tme followed under federal and state
laws in communicating with consumer debtors. We matyultimately prevail or otherwise be able tasfattorily resolve any pending or
future litigation, which may result in substantaists of defense, damages or settlement. In thesfulve may be required to alter our business
practices or pay substantial damages or settleousits as a result of litigation proceedings, whichld adversely affect our business
operations and results of operations.

We typically face a long period to implement a neantract which may cause us to incur expenses befae receive revenues from new
client relationships.

If we are successful in obtaining an engagemertit avitew client or a new contract with an existitignt, we typically have a
subsequent long implementation period in whichstrices are planned in detail and we integratdemimology, processes and resources
the clients operations. If we enter into a contract with & iéent, we typically will not receive revenuestiiimplementation is completed a
work under the contract actually begins. Our cBentiy also experience delays in obtaining appravadielays associated with technology or
system implementations, such as the delays expedearith the implementation of our RAC contractw@MS due to an appeal by
competitors who were unsuccessful in bidding oncthretract. Because we generally begin to hire newl@yees to provide services to a new
client once a contract is signed, we may incurifigant expenses associated with these additiones$ lbefore we receive corresponding
revenues under any such new contract. If we arsumtessful in maintaining contractual commitmefitsr the expenses we incur during our
typically long implementation cycle, our resultsogferations could be adversely affected.

If we are unable to adequately protect our propeey technology, our competitive position could barmed or we could be required to inci
significant costs to enforce our right:
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The success of our business depends in part ugqoraprietary technology platform. We rely on a donmation of copyright, patent,
trademark, and trade secret laws, as well as ofidemtiality procedures and non-compete agreemémesstablish and protect our proprietary
technology rights. The steps we have taken to deiappropriation of our proprietary technology neyinsufficient to protect our propriete
information. In particular, we may not be able totpct our trade secrets, knelaow and other proprietary information adequatelyhdugh
we use reasonable efforts to protect this propsigtdormation and technology, our employees, cttasts and other parties may
unintentionally or willfully disclose our informaith or technology to competitors. Enforcing a clivat a third party illegally obtained and is
using any of our proprietary information or techow} is expensive and time consuming, and the outdsranpredictable. We rely, in part, on
non-disclosure, confidentiality and invention assigniregreements with our employees, consultants amet plarties to protect our trade
secrets, knowhow and other intellectual property and propriefafgrmation. These agreements may not be-sglcuting, or they may be
breached and we may not have adequate remedissdiotbreach. Moreover, third parties may indepeityldiavelop similar or equivalent
proprietary information or otherwise gain accessubtrade secrets, knelwwow and other proprietary information. Any infrimgent,
misappropriation or other violation of our pateritagdemarks, copyrights, trade secrets, or ottieléatual property rights could adversely
affect any competitive advantage we currently dedwmay derive from our proprietary technologytfolan and we may incur significant co
associated with litigation that may be necessapnforce our intellectual property rights.

Claims by others that we infringe their intellectuaroperty could force us to incur significant casbr revise the way we conduct our
business.

Our competitors protect their proprietary rightsrbgans of patents, trade secrets, copyrights,rtrades and other intellectual
property. Any party asserting that we infringe, apigropriate or violate their intellectual propenityhts may force us to defend ourselves, and
potentially our clients, against the alleged claithese claims and any resulting lawsuit, if sudtgssould be time-consuming and expensive
to defend, subject us to significant liability fd@amages or invalidation of our proprietary riglpievent us from operating all or a portion of
business or force us to redesign our serviceschntdogy platform or cause an interruption or cégeaf our business operations, any of
which could adversely affect our business and djpgraesults. In addition, any litigation relatibgthe infringement of intellectual property
rights could harm our relationships with currend @nospective clients. The risk of such claims wgsuits could increase if we increase the
size and scope of our services in our existing etarkr expand into new markets.

We may make acquisitions that prove unsuccessfurhia or divert our resources and harm our resultd operations and stock price.

We may consider acquisitions of other companiamimindustry or in new markets. We may not be ébleuccessfully complete any
such acquisition and, if completed, any such adpiismay fail to achieve the intended financiaults. We may not be able to successfully
integrate any acquired businesses with our ownnathay be unable to maintain our standards, canénadl policies. Further, acquisitions n
place additional constraints on our resources bgrting the attention of our management from othesiness concerns. Moreover, any
acquisition may result in a potentially dilutivesignce of equity securities, the incurrence oftamidil debt and amortization of expenses
related to intangible assets, all of which couldeadely affect our results of operations and sfwite.

The price of our common stock could be volatile,dayou may not be able to sell your shares at orabthe public offering price.

Since our initial public offering in August 2012et price of our common stock, as reported by NASDBIGbal Select Market, has
ranged from a low sales price of $3.65 on Janu@ryp@15 to a high sales price of $14.09 on Marc2043. The trading price of our common
stock may be significantly affected by various fast including: quarterly fluctuations in our optamg results; the financial projections we may
provide to the public, any changes in those prajastor our failure to meet those projections; ¢jemin investors’ and analysts’ perception of
the business risks and conditions of our businaasability to meet the earnings estimates andrqib6formance expectations of financial
analysts or investors; unfavorable commentary ermdades of our stock by equity research analgb@nges in our capital structure, such as
future issuances of debt or equity securities; latsghreatened or filed against us; strategicoastby us or our competitors, such as
acquisitions or restructurings; new legislatiomagulatory actions; changes in our relationshignaity of our significant clients; fluctuations
the stock prices of our peer companies or in sinakkets in general; and general economic conditions

Our significant stockholders have the ability toflnence significant corporate activities and ourggiificant stockholders' interests may not
coincide with yours.

Parthenon Capital Partners and Invesco Ltd. beallfiowned approximately 27.4% and 19.9% of oumawon stock, respectively,
of December 31, 2014. As a result of their owngrsBarthenon Capital Partners and Invesco Ltd. have
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the ability to influence the outcome of mattersritted to a vote of stockholders and, through aarl of directors, the ability to influence
decisior-making with respect to our business direction aslitigs. Parthenon Capital Partners and Invescorhfty have interests different
from our other stockholders’ interests, and mag\vnta manner adverse to those interests. Mattensvehich Parthenon Capital Partners and
Invesco Ltd. can, directly or indirectly, exercialuence include:

* mergers and other business combination tramsestincluding proposed transactions that wouldltés our stockholders
receiving a premium price for their shares;

» other acquisitions or dispositions of businessessset:
» incurrence of indebtedness and the issuance ofyespgurities
» repurchase of stock and payment of dividends

» the issuance of shares to management under ouy éngentive plan:

In addition, Parthenon Capital Partners has a aotutal right to designate a number of directorpgprtionate to its stock ownership.
Further, under our amended and restated certifafatecorporation, Parthenon Capital Partners dmgdiave any obligation to present to us,
and Parthenon Capital Partners may separately gucetporate opportunities of which it becomes awvaven if those opportunities are ones
that we would have pursued if granted the oppotyuni

Anti-takeover provisions contained in our certificaté incorporation and bylaws could impair a takeovattempt that our stockholders may
find beneficial.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpmmaand amended and restated bylaws contain progisiat could have the effect of
rendering more difficult or discouraging an acdiosi deemed undesirable by our board of directors. corporate governance documents
include the following provisions: establishing asdified board of directors so that not all memioéisur board are elected at one time;
providing that directors may be removed by stocttars only for cause; authorizing blank check prefstock, which could be issued with
voting, liquidation, dividend and other rights stipeto our common stock; limiting the ability ofinstockholders to call and bring business
before special meetings and to take action by evrittonsent in lieu of a meeting; limiting our alilio engage in certain business combination
with any “interested stockholder,” other than Panibn Capital Partners, for a three-year perioa¥alig the time that the stockholder became
an interested stockholder; requiring advance naticgockholder proposals for business to be coredlat meetings of our stockholders anc
nominations of candidates for election to our bazrdirectors; requiring a super majority vote éertain amendments to our amended and
restated certificate of incorporation and amendetrastated bylaws; and limiting the determinatibthe number of directors on our board of
directors and the filling of vacancies or newlyatssl seats on the board, to our board of direthersin office. These provisions, alone or
together, could have the effect of delaying or d&tg a change in control, could limit the oppoityrior our stockholders to receive a premi
for their shares of our common stock, and could aféect the price that some investors are wiltimgay for our common stock.

ITEM 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

ITEM 2. Properties
Facilities

As of December 31, 2014, we operated six sepaffite tocations throughout the United States. Tdrgést of these facilities is in
Livermore, California and serves as our corporatdiguarters, as well as a data center and proddotiation. Our Livermore facility is
comprised of approximately 50,291 square feet atsmnd has a lease expiration of October 2021algédease production centers in
California, Oregon, Florida and Texas and own apection/data center in Oregon.

We believe that our facilities are adequate foreniroperations and that additional space willNmglable as required. See note (6) to
our consolidated financial statements includedvetege in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for infation regarding our lease obligations.

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings

We are involved in various legal proceedings thisieafrom our normal business operations. Theseracgenerally derive from our
student loan recovery services, and generally sls@ms for violations of the Fair Debt Collecti®nactices Act or similar federal and state
consumer credit laws. While litigation is inhergntinpredictable, we believe that none of thesel lpgaceedings, individually or collectively,
will have a material adverse effect on our finahcandition or our results of operations.
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ITEM 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.

PART Il

ITEM 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Edty Securities
Market For Our Common Equity

Our common stock began trading on the NASDAQ Gl@&@méct Market under the symbol “PFMT” on August 2012. Prior to that,
there was no public market for our common stocle HEble sets forth, for the periods indicated bekbw high and low sales prices per shal
our common stock as reported by NASDAQ since Au@0s012.

2012 High Low

Third Quarter (beginning August 10, 2012) 12.18 9.20
Fourth Quarter 11.84 7.55
2013

First Quarter 14.09 10.06
Second Quarter 13.26 9.25
Third Quarter 12.01 10.27
Fourth Quarter 11.02 9.26

2014

First Quarter 11.56 7.11

Second Quarter 10.32 8.10

Third Quarter 10.97 8.04

Fourth Quarter 9.02 5.95

On March 12, 2015, the closing price as reportetlABDAQ of our common stock was $3.90 per share.

Stockholders

As of December 31, 2014 , we had approximatelydl@érs of record of our common stock.

Dividends

Our board of directors does not currently intengag regular dividends on our common stock. Oudit@greement contains a
covenant prohibiting the payment of cash dividends.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

Information regarding the securities authorizedissuance under our equity compensation plans edaund under Item 12 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
None.

ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data

The selected consolidated balance sheet dataleceinber 31, 2014 and 2018nd the selected consolidated statements of tiqes
data for each year ended December 31, 2014 , 204 2@12 , have been derived from our audited catesteld financial statements which are
included elsewhere in this annual report. The seteconsolidated balance sheet data as of Dece3ih@011 and 2010, and the selected
consolidated statements of operations data foyehes ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 have baeaeddfzom our audited consolidated
financial statements not included in this annual
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report. Historical results are not necessarilydative of future results. You should read the fwllty selected consolidated historical financial
data below in conjunction with the section titldddnagement’s Discussion and Analysis of Financ@idition and Results of Operatioraid
the consolidated financial statements, relatedsp@ied other financial information included in thisnual Report on Form 10-K. The selected
consolidated financial data in this section isinténded to replace the consolidated financiakstants and is qualified in its entirety by the
consolidated financial statements and related ramidsschedule included in this Annual Report oma6-K.

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:

Revenues $ 195,37 $ 255,30 $ 210,070 % 162,97: $ 123,51¢
Operating expenses:
Salaries and benefits 93,67¢ 96,76: 83,00: 67,08: 58,11
Other operating expense 74,43 85,67: 71,30¢ 49,19¢ 33,65¢
Impairment of trade name — — — 13,40( —
Total operating expenses 168,10¢ 182,43 154,30° 129,68: 91,76¢
Income from operations 27,26¢ 72,86¢ 55,76¢ 33,29: 31,75:
Debt extinguishment costs — — (3,679 — —
Interest expense (10,177 (11,569 (12,419 (13,530) (15,230)
Interest income 1 1 64 12t 11¢
Income before provision for income taxes 17,09¢ 61,30¢ 39,731 19,88¢ 16,63¢
Provision for income taxes 7,69¢ 24,967 16,78t 7,51¢ 6,664
Net income 9,40( 36,33¢ 22,95 12,37: 9,97t
Accrual for preferred stock dividends — — 2,03¢ 6,49-¢ 5,771
Net income available to common shareholders $ 9,40( $ 36,33¢ $ 20,91 $ 5877 $ 4,20

Net income per share attributable to common
shareholder®

Basic $ 0.1¢ % 071 % 0.4¢ $ 014 % 0.1c

Diluted $ 0.1¢ $ 0.7¢ % 044 % 0.1t $ 0.0¢
Weighted average shares (in thousands)

Basic 48,81¢ 47,49: 43,98t 42,96: 42,96:

Diluted 49,83¢ 49,38¢ 47,59¢ 45,74 45,01¢

(1) Represents debt extinguishment costs compabagproximately $3.3 million of fees paid to lemslin connection with our new
credit facility and approximately $0.3 million ohamortized debt issuance costs in connection wittota credit facility.

(2) Please see Note 1 to our consolidated financitdrsants for an explanation of the calculationswflmsic and diluted net incor
per share of common stock.

As of December 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 80,29¢ $ 81,90¢ $ 37,841 % 20,00« $ 11,07¢
Total assets 262,82 257,26( 211,74 182,29¢ 181,39(
Total debt 111,79! 133,30: 147,76¢ 103,38: 117,33:
Total liabilities 171,65 183,02¢ 187,67: 139,75¢ 151,23:
Redeemable preferred stock — — — 58,24¢ 51,75:
Total stockholders’ (deficit) equity 91,17: 74,23¢ 24,07: (15,70 (21,59¢)

ITEM 7. Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Fiancial Condition and Results of Operations
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Overview

We provide technology-enabled recovery and relatelytics services in the United States. Our sesvieelp identify and recover
delinquent or defaulted assets and improper payrienboth government and private clients in a Gn@nge of markets. Our clients typically
operate in complex and regulated environments atsbarce their recovery needs in order to redugsel® on billions of dollars of defaulted
student loans, improper healthcare payments amaogelnt state tax and federal treasury and otluivables. We generally provide our
services on an outsourced basis, where we handlg arall aspects of our clients’ recovery processe

Our revenue model is generally success-based aamdees on the aggregate amount of funds thanakle our clients to recover.
Our services do not require any significant upfriarestments by our clients and offer our cliehis dpportunity to recover significant funds
otherwise lost. Because our model is based uposubeess of our efforts and the dollars we enalnle€lgents to recover, our business
objectives are aligned with those of our clientd e are generally not reliant on their spendinddads. Furthermore, our business model doe
not require significant capital expenditures anddeenot purchase loans or obligations.

Recent Developments

On January 28, 2015, we entered into an AgreemmehPéan of Merger (“Merger Agreement”) with Premigalthcare
Exchange, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“PHX"),quant to which, PHX would become our wholly-ownediiect subsidiary. The Merger
Agreement contains customary closing conditionduiting completion of a financing by us to fund tmnsideration payable under the terms
of the Merger Agreement. The purchase price utideMerger Agreement is approximately $108 milliorcash, subject to certain
adjustments, and certain PHX stockholders will @&schange shares for $22 million of our commonlst¥¢ée also could be obligated to pay
to an additional $19.1 million in cash pursuanamoearnout arrangement based on PHX in revenu&lH On January 28, 2015 we
announced proposed concurrent public offerings86f&illion aggregate principal amount of convegibenior notes due 2020 and $50
million of shares of our common stock to finance diash portion of the consideration payable urfteeMerger Agreement. On January 30,
2015, we announced our decision to withdraw th@@sed public offerings of convertible senior naed common stock. The Merger
Agreement is currently terminable by either us diXRvithout penalty, except that we are obligategh&y an expense termination fee of
$750,000 in the event the merger is not completegtd our failure to complete the required finagaif the consideration payable under the
Merger Agreement.

Sources of Revenues

We derive our revenues from services for clients Vrariety of different markets. These marketsudelour two largest markets,
student lending and healthcare, as well as our otlaekets which include but are not limited to dglient state taxes and federal Treasury an
other receivables.

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)
Student Lending $ 138,27" $ 163,70t $ 132,44!
Healthcare 32,52¢ 67,53: 54,74"
Other 24,577 24,06 22,88:
Total Revenues $ 195,37¢ $ 255,30. $ 210,07:

Student Lending

We derive the majority of our revenues from theokeey of student loans. These revenues are cosiesetd and consist primarily of
contingency fees based on a specified percentatie @mount we enable our clients to recover. @utingency fee percentage for a particula
recovery depends on the type of recovery facilita®e also receive incremental performance incesthased upon our performance as
compared to other contractors with the Departmégidocation, which are comprised of additional imizey allocation volumes and incentive
fees. We are currently subject to a competitivédaihg process for the next contract with the Dapant of Education. We understand that
five other recovery service providers under theentrcontract have recently received notice froenDepartment of Education stating an
intention to extend their existing contracts pagtilA2015, which is the expiration date for thereumnt contract. To date, we have not received
notice of any such extension from the Departmeriicafcation and we are unsure whether we will beigesl any such extension of our
current contract or when the new contracts wilab&rded. We do not believe the Department of Edutéias completed the current contract
extension process. However, due to the timing efréhabilitation process for loans placed with yshie Department of Education, we expect
there will be a minimal impact on our revenues0i2 if we
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do not receive an extension of our current contidespite notice of their intent to extend the entrcontract for five recovery service
providers, we believe the Department of Educatiomat permitted to selectively extend the contfacindividual recovery service providers.

We believe the size and the composition of ouresttitban inventory at any point provides us witkignificant degree of revenue
visibility for our student loan revenues. Baseddata compiled from over two decades of experieritie tive recovery of defaulted student
loans, at the time we receive a placement of studans, we are able to make a reasonably accestitaate of the recovery outcomes likely tc
be derived from such placement and the revenuesreviikely able to generate based on the antiaipageovery outcomes.

There are five potential outcomes to the studear lkecovery process from which we generate revefinese outcomes include: full
repayment, recurring payments, rehabilitation, lossiructuring and wage garnishment. Of thesegotential outcomes, our ability to
rehabilitate defaulted student loans is the magtitant component of our revenues in this marisnerally, a loan is considered successfull
rehabilitated after the student loan borrower hademine consecutive qualifying monthly payments @ur client has notified us that it is
recalling the loan. Once we have structured andeémented a repayment program for a defaulted barowe (i) earn a percentage of each
periodic payment collected up to and includingfthal periodic payment prior to the loan being ddesed “rehabilitated” by our clients, and
(ii) if the loan is “rehabilitated,” then we areiga one-time percentage of the total amount oféneaining unpaid balance. As stated above,
effective July 2015, our contract with the Depantingf Education will provide for a fixed fee of $10 for each rehabilitated loan. The fees
are paid vary by recovery outcome as well as byraot For non-government-supported student loanang generally only paid contingency
fees on two outcomes: full repayment or recurriggalyments. The table below describes our typieasfeucture for each of these five
outcomes.

Student Loan Recovery Outcomes

Full Repayment Recurring Payments Rehabilitation Loan Restructuring Wage Garnishment
* Repaymentin full of the s Regular structured » After a defaulted » Restructure and « If we are unable to
loan payments, typically borrower has made nine consolidate a number of obtain voluntary
according to a consecutive recurring outstanding loans into a repayment, payments may

renegotiated payment plarpayments, the loan is single loan, typically with be obtained through wage
eligible for rehabilitation one monthly payment andgarnishment after certain

an extended maturity administrative
requirements are met
e We are paid a  We are paid a * We are paid based or ¢« We are paid based or « We are paid a
percentage of the full percentage of each percentage of the overall percentage of overall percentage of each
payment that is made payment value of the rehabilitated value of the restructured payment

loan or for the Departme loan
of Education, a fixed fee

For certain guaranty agency, or GA, clients, weehentered into Master Service Agreements, or M&ksler these agreements,
clients provide their entire inventory of outsoutdeans or receivables to us for recovery on atuske basis, rather than just a portion, as
with traditional contracts that are split amongi@as service providers. In certain circumstancesgwgage subcontractors to assist in the
recovery of a portion of the client’s portfolio. Vééso receive success fees for the recovery oSloader MSAs and our revenues under MSA
arrangements include fees earned by the activfiesir subcontractors. As of December 31, 2014hacthree MSA clients in the student Ic
market.

In October 2014, the Department of Education anoedra change in the structure for the paymentesf fe recovery contractors ug
rehabilitation of student loans under the existiegpvery contract. The new fee structure provides fixed fee of $1,710 for each loan that is
rehabilitated. Previously, the fee had been basedl percentage of the principal amount of thebiiteted loan. The change to the fee
structure will be effective for student loans thet rehabilitated on or following July 1, 2015.

Further, the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2013, whichsvgigned into law by President Obama on Decenthe2®.3, reduced the
compensation paid to GAs for the rehabilitatiostident loans, effective July 1, 2014. This “reweeranhancement” measure reduced from
18.5% to 16.0% of the outstanding loan balanceatheunt that GAs can charge borrowers when a rktaaéd loan is sold by the GA and
eliminated entirely the GAs retention of 18.5% loé butstanding loan balance as a fee for rehahilitgervices. The reduction in compense
the GAs receive resulted in a decrease in the mgerticy fee percentage that we receive from the fGAassisting in the rehabilitation of
defaulted student loans.
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We expect that our revenues from student lendirPib will be approximately 20% lower than in 20The fee reductions from the
Department of Education and the GAs discussed abowgibute to this expected decrease. Other dauttnig factors include an increase in the
number of student loans eligible for rehabilitataure to income based repayment, which has theteffeeducing the number of loan
consolidations which have a shorter payment cyald,continuing delays in the recognition of someneies due to additional documentation
requirements for income based repayment first imgakiring the third quarter of 2014.

Healthcare

We derive revenues from the healthcare market pifiyrfaom our RAC contract, under which we are firame contractor responsible
for detecting improperly paid Part A and Part B tade claims in 12 states in the Northeastern driiates. Revenues earned under the RA
contract are driven by the identification of impeoly paid Medicare claims through both automatediraanual review of such claims. We are
paid contingency fees by CMS based on a percetaipe dollar amount of claims recovered by CM&assult of our efforts. We recognize
revenue when the provider pays CMS or incurs asepfigainst future Medicare claims. The revenuesea@gnize are net of our estimate of
claims that will be overturned by appeal followipgyment by the provider.

We are currently involved in a competitive rebidglprocess for four new RAC contracts with CMS. Tiheng of new RAC contract
awards remains uncertain. The bidding process &as telayed, at least in part, by-paeard protests and, following the denial of those
protests, by ongoing litigation. The plaintiffstime litigation are seeking the elimination of payrn&rms under the proposed new RAC
contracts that would prohibit RACs from being comgated for improper claims until a second levedmeal has been exhausted. A decision
in favor of CMS was subject to appeal in which éppellate court recently remanded the case balckver court to rule on the merits of the
case. There is a related injunction barring therdwéthree of the four new RAC contracts pendiegptution of this litigation. A fifth RAC
contract, which is a new type of RAC contract cavgthe identification and recovery of improperigia for durable medical equipment,
prosthetics, orthotics and supplies and home healthhospice claims, was not covered by the injon@nd was awarded to another party in
January 2015. The Company is not a party to thgation. CMS has stated that the injunction wélal the award of the three contracts until
the judge’s ruling on the injunction, which is rfpected to occur until late summer 2015. It isantain whether CMS will award the RAC
contract not covered by the injunction in the imeperiod or will wait to award all of the new RAf@ntracts at the same time.

In anticipation of the award of new RAC contratitsginning in 2013 CMS has adopted a series of aontransition procedures that
have restricted our ability to request medical rdsdor audit, thus adversely affected our reveruneker this contract. No records requests
permitted in July 2013 and then from November 18,32through year end. In January 2014, recordsestquvere again permitted through
February 21, 2014 and claim activity was permittedugh June 1, 2014, when work under the constagiped. In addition to these periods of
suspended activity, the contract transition rul@sehlimited scope of our permitted audit activitassCMS has generally not permitted audits o
PIP providers and has also placed additional rtistnis on the types of claims we are permitteduditeand number of medical records we are
permitted to request. CMS began to permit clainiengs again in August 2014 for an unspecified perimd has restricted the type of reviews
and the types of claims subject to audit. CMS adsently announced that it extended our existingCRAntract through December 31, 2015,
with the same audit limitations continuing duritgstextended period. CMS has further indicated thay, at their discretion, approve
additional issues that we will be permitted to esviand audit during the RAC contract extensionqeerAbsent a significant change in the
scope of the permitted audit activities, we expleat our revenues from the RAC contract will bengfigantly lower in 2015 as compared to
2014.

In connection with our RAC contract, CMS has anruagha settlement offer to pay hospitals 68% of wihey have billed Medicare
settle a backlog of pending appeals challengingitéed's denials of reimbursement for certain tygfeshort-term care. The implication of this
settlement offer related to claims for which feasdalready been paid to recovery auditors undstieg RAC contracts is unclear at this tir
but we may be obligated to repay certain amourabwie previously received from CMS depending orfithe terms of any such settlement.
We accrue an estimated liability for appeals basethe amount of commissions received which argestibo appeal and which we estimate
are probable of being returned to providers follmyvsuccessful appeal. The $18.6 million balancef &ecember 31, 2014, represents our
estimate of the probable amount of we may be reduw refund related to appeals of claims for whichhmissions were previously collected.
We estimate that it is reasonably possible thatedd be required to pay an additional amount ugpjaroximately $5.4 million as a result of
potentially successful appeals in excess of theustnwe accrued as of December 31, 2014.

To accelerate our ability to provide Medicare awaditl recovery services across our region follovangaward of our initial RAC
contract, we outsourced certain aspects of outhesak recovery process to three different subaotudrs. Two of these subcontractors provide
a specific service to us in connection with oufrakarecovery process, and one subcontractor isgeh@ provide all of the audit and
recovery services for claims within a portion of oegion. We recognize all of the
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revenues generated by the claims recovered thrilwgge subcontractor relationships, and we recoghizéees that we pay to these
subcontractors in our expenses.

Our business strategy is focused on utilizing eahhologyenabled services platform to provide audit, recpaerd analytical servici
for private healthcare payors. We have entereddoidracts with several private payors, althougs¢éhcontracts are in the early stage of
implementation.

Other

We also derive revenues from the recovery of dekmq state taxes, and federal Treasury and otheiviables, default aversion
services for certain clients including financiatitutions and the licensing of hosted technolagjytgons to certain clients. For our hosted
technology services, we license our system angjiate our technology into our clients’ operatidies,which we are paid a licensing fee. Our
revenues for these services include contingencg, fees based on dedicated headcount to our chedthosted technology licensing fees.

Operating Metrics

We monitor a number of operating metrics in ordeg\aluate our business and make decisions regapdincorporate strategy. The
key metrics include Placement Volume, PlacemeneReg as a Percentage of Placement Volume, Net Ratovery Volume and Claim
Recovery Fee Rate.

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(dollars in thousands)

Student Lending:

Placement Volume $ 6,679,40. $ 6,607,48 % 5,768,94!
Placement Revenue as a percentage of Placemenn¥olu 2.07% 2.4&% 2.3(%
Healthcare:

Net Claim Recovery Volume $ 287,82¢ % 598,07 $ 482,20:.
Claim Recovery Fee Rate 11.3(% 11.2% 11.3%%

Placement VolumeOur Placement Volume represents the dollar voluhtefaulted student loans first placed with us dgithe
specified period by public and private clientsifiecovery. Placement Volume allows us to measurerac#l trends in the amount of inventory
our clients in the student lending market are pigevith us during any period. The revenues assettiaith the recovery of a portion of these
loans may be recognized in subsequent accountimgdse which assists management in estimating éutevenues and in allocating resources
necessary to address current Placement Volumes.

Placement Revenue as a Percentage of PlacemennéoRlacement Revenue as a Percentage of Placemanh¥ @ calculated by
dividing revenues recognized during the specifiedqa by Placement Volume first placed with us dgrihat same period. This metric is
subject to some level of variation from period &ipd based upon certain timing differences ingigdbut not limited to, the timing of
placements received by us within a period anddlethat a significant portion of revenues recogdiin a current period is often generated
from the Placement Volume received in prior periddiswever, we believe that this metric providessaful indication of the revenues we are
generating from Placement Volumes on an ongoing laaml provides management with an indication efrtHative efficiency of our recovery
operations from period to period.

Net Claim Recovery Volum@®ur Net Claim Recovery Volume measures the dolidmme of improper Medicare claims that we have
recovered for CMS during the applicable periodofetny amount that we have reserved to cover apfgahealthcare providers. We are paid
recovery fees as a percentage of this recoveréd gl@ume. We calculate this metric by dividing alaim recovery revenues by our Claim
Recovery Fee Rate. This metric shows trends ivtheme of improper payments within our region afidves management to measure our
success in finding these improper payments, oweg.ti

Claim Recovery Fee Rat®ur Claim Recovery Fee Rate represents the walghterage percentage of our fees compared to asiou
recovered by CMS. This percentage primarily depemdthe method of recovery and, in some casesypieeof improper payment that we
identify. This metric helps management measuratheunt of revenues we generate from Net Claim Ragovolume.

Costs and Expenses
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We generally report two categories of operatingesges: salaries and benefits and other operatpense. Salaries and benefits
expenses consist primarily of salaries and perfoneancentives paid and benefits provided to ouyplegyees. Other operating expense inclh
expenses related to our use of subcontractors; pthduction related expenses, including costsaatea with data processing, retrieval of
medical records, printing and mailing services, gination and other outside services, as well ageg® corporate and administrative exper
We expect a significant portion of our expenseatoease as we grow our business. However, we expeain expenses, including our
corporate and general administrative expensesotu gt a slower rate than our revenues. As a resudt over the long term, we expect our
overall expenses to modestly decline as a percemtbiggvenues.

Factors Affecting Our Operating Results

Our results of operations are influenced by a nurobéctors, including allocation of placementwale, claim recovery volume,
contingency fees, regulatory matters, client rés@nand macroeconomic factors.

Allocation of Placement Volum

Our clients have the right to unilaterally set amttease or reduce the volume of defaulted stuldants or other receivables that we
service at any given time. In addition, many of cegovery contracts for student loans and othegivables are not exclusive, with our clients
retaining multiple service providers to servicetmors of their portfolios. Accordingly, the numbafrdelinquent student loans or other
receivables that are placed with us may vary friome to time, which may have a significant effecttbea amount and timing of our revenues.
We believe the major factors that influence the benof placements we receive from our clients engtudent loan market include our
performance under our existing contracts and oilityato perform well against competitors for a peaular client. To the extent that we perfc
well under our existing contracts and differentiate services from those of our competitors, we meggive a relatively greater number of
placements under these existing contracts and mpsove our ability to obtain future contracts frimese clients and other potential clients.
Further, delays in placement volume, as well aglacation of placement volume, from any of our é&ao§jents may cause our revenues and
operating results to vary from quarter to quarter.

Typically we are able to anticipate with reasonatieuracy the timing and volume of placements édudeed student loans and other
receivables based on historical patterns and regafamunication with our clients. Occasionally, leser, placements are delayed due to
factors outside of our control. For example, a tethgy system upgrade at the Department of Edutaignificantly decreased the volume of
student loan placements by the Department of Educéad all recovery vendors, including us. While ared the other recovery vendors rece
substantially larger placement volume in the fouptlarter of 2012 as a result of the completiorhid technology system upgrade, the majority
of the revenues from these placements were nognéoed until the third quarter of 2013 because waat begin to earn rehabilitation
revenues from a given placement until at least moaths after receipt of a placement. In additionapproximately twelve months beginning
in September 2011, the Department of Educationneagble to process a portion of rehabilitated etidbans and accordingly we were not
able to recognize certain revenues associatedrafithbilitation of loans for this client. HowevenetDepartment of Education continued to pay
us based on invoices submitted and we recorded ttash receipts as deferred revenues on our badhree

Claim Recovery Volume

While we are entitled to review Medicare recordsdib Part A and Part B claims in our region, we aot permitted to identify an
improper claim unless that particular type of cldias been pre-approved by CMS to ensure compliaitbeapplicable Medicare payment
policies, as well as national and local coveragerd@nations. The growth of our revenues is deteethiprimarily by the aggregate volume of
Medicare claims in our region and our ability temtify improper payments within these claims. Hoarethe long-term growth of these
revenues will also be affected by the scope ofgbees pre-approved by CMS.

CMS has made changes to the permitted audit samuegdthe course of the RAC contract that havedanificant effect on our
revenues. For example, in September 2013, CMS amweolthat beginning October 1, 2013, we and therdAC contractors would not be
able to review and audit (i) whether inpatient adeévered to patients with hospital stays lastesp than two midnights was medically
necessary and therefore deserving of the highergisement levels under Medicare Part A or (ii) teeinpatient treatment was medically
necessary for admissions spanning more than twaigfits. In connection with these restrictions, litadp cannot bill CMS for inpatient
services on hospital stays lasting less than twinights. Fees associated with recoveries initibteds based upon improper claims for
inpatient reimbursement of these short stays haigesented a substantial portion of the revenuelsave earned under our existing RAC
contract. The continued suspension of this typewafw activity or restrictions on other types efiew activities could have a material advers:
effect on our healthcare revenues and operatingdtses

32




Table of Contents

In addition, in planning for the award of the n®&C contracts, CMS has implemented transition pilaces that have significantly
affected our operations during the transition plig placing restrictions on the types of claimd #re amount of certain medical records
requests that we may make during the transitiomg@eand by suspending records requests during p#éréods.

Contingency Fees

Our revenues consist primarily of contract-basettingency fees. The contingency fee percentageésvin@arn are set by our clients
or agreed upon during the bid process, and maygehftom time to time either under the terms of &xgscontracts or pursuant to the terms of
contract renewals. For example, the fees that wewader our contractual arrangement with the Diepamt of Education have been subject to
unilateral change by the Department of Educatioa eesult of the Department of Education’s decismhave its recovery vendors promote
IBR to defaulted student loans. The IBR progranvigtes flexibility on the required monthly payment student loan borrowers at an amount
intended to be affordable based on a borrowersrireand family size. As a result of the increaggalieation of the IBR program to defaulted
student loans, we expect that there will be areiase in the number of loans that become eligibslegioabilitation because more defaulted
student loan borrowers will be able to make qualypayments. In connection with the implementatbthe IBR program, the Department of
Education initially reduced the contingency feertdiat we receive for rehabilitating student lobypspproximately 13% effective March 1,
2013.

Further, in October 2014, the Department of Edocaéinnounced a change to a fixed fee of $1,710p@yar each loan that is
rehabilitated in place of a recovery fee that istdly had been based on a percentage of the tmlafithe rehabilitated loan.

Regulatory Matters

Each of the markets which we serve is highly refgalaAccordingly, changes in regulations that dftbe types of loans, receivables
and claims that we are able to service or the ntannghich any such delinquent loans, receivabtes@aims can be recovered will affect our
revenues and results of operations. For exampepalssage of the Student Aid and Fiscal RespoitgiAit, or SAFRA, in 2010 had the effect
of transferring the origination of all governmenipported student loans to the Department of Edocathereby ending all student loan
originations guaranteed by the GAs. Loans guardriigehe GAs represented approximately 70% of guwent-supported student loans
originated in 2009. While the GAs will continuegervice existing outstanding student loans for yéacome, this legislation will over time
shift the portfolio of student loans that we mantmyeard the Department of Education, and furtherceotrate our sources of revenues and
increase our reliance on our relationship withBlegpartment of Education. In addition, our entryitiie healthcare market was facilitated by
passage of the Tax Relief and Health Care Act 662Which mandated CMS to contract with privatenBrto audit Medicare claims in an efl
to increase the recovery of improper Medicare paymeiny changes to the regulations that affecsthdent loan industry or the recovery of
defaulted student loans or the Medicare prograneigdly or the audit and recovery of Medicare clatoald have a significant impact on our
revenues and results of operations.

Client Retention

Our revenues from the student loan market deperalioability to maintain our contracts with sometleé largest providers of student
loans. In 2014 and 2013, three providers of stultemts each accounted for more than 10% of oumtea®and they collectively accounted for
55% and 49%, respectively of our total revenuesdwsuch periods. Our contract with the Departneéfducation, which generated 27.2%
our revenues in 2014, is currently the subjectdorapetitive bidding process. Our contracts withsticlients entitle them to unilaterally
terminate their contractual relationship with usuay time without penalty. If we lose one of owgrsficant clients, including if one of our
significant clients is consolidated by an entitgttioes not use our services, if the terms of corsgtéon for our services change or if there is ¢
reduction in the level of placements provided by afthese clients, our revenues could decline.

Our contract with CMS for the recovery of impropéedicare payments began generating significantmee® during 2011 and
represented 14.9% and 26.2% of our total reverwrethé year, ended December 31, 2014 and Decemb@023, respectively. Our audit wc
under our existing RAC contract expired in JunefZ@Lt we have been permitted to resume certaiit wodk with respect to a limited numt
of claims pursuant to a contract extension thas through December 31, 2015. We are currently@paiing in a competitive bidding process
for the next RAC contract. The award of the new R#&@tracts has been delayed due in part to a biggirfollowed by a lawsuit and a
subsequent appeal process which is still underRagnding a decision on appeal, the contract awarckps has been enjoined. While we
believe our performance under the existing agreé¢iah the experience we have gained in perfornfirggcdontract position us well to renew
the agreement, failure to renew the agreementmawal on substantially less favorable terms coigdificantly harm our revenues and results
of operations.

33




Table of Contents

Macroeconomic Factor:

Certain macroeconomic factors influence our busirmesl results of operations. These include theasing volume of student loan
originations in the U.S. as a result of increasstibn costs and student enrollment, the defauét od student loan borrowers, the growth in
Medicare expenditures resulting from increasindtheare costs, as well as the fiscal budget tighteof federal, state and local governments
as a result of general economic weakness and laxeevenues.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with generally accepted accountiimgiples in the United States, or
GAAP. The preparation of these consolidated finalrgtatements requires us to make estimates anthpiens that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, costeapdnses and related disclosures. We base omrag¢ssi on historical experience and on val
other assumptions that we believe to be reasomagler the circumstances. In many instances, waldwue reasonably used different
accounting estimates, and in other instances clsangbe accounting estimates are reasonably licebccur from period-to-period.
Accordingly, actual results could differ signifiadgnfrom the estimates made by our managementh&exktent that there are material
differences between these estimates and actudis;esur future financial statement presentatiamricial condition, results of operations and
cash flows will be affected. We believe that thecamting policies discussed below are criticalnderstanding our historical and future
performance, as these policies relate to the nigréfisant areas involving management’s judgmemts astimates.

Revenue Recoghnitio

The majority of our contracts are contingency fasda. We recognize revenues on these contingeadyated contracts when third-
party payors remit payments to our clients or rgraitments to us on behalf of our clients, and, equently, the contingency is deemed to |
been satisfied. Under our RAC contract with CMS re@gnize revenues when the healthcare providepaia CMS for a claim or has agreed
to an offset against other claims by the provitkalthcare providers have the right to appeal iancéand may pursue additional level of app
if the initial appeal is found in favor of CMS. Véecrue an estimated liability for appeals at theetrevenue is recognized based on our
estimate of the amount of revenue probable of beshgned to CMS following successful appeal basedistorical data and other trends
relating to such appeals. In addition, if our estienof liability for appeals with respect to reveawecognized during a prior period changes, w
increase or decrease the estimated liability fpeafs in the current period.

This estimated liability for appeals is an offsetévenues on our income statement. Resolutioppéals can take a very long time to
resolve and there is a significant backlog in tystesm for resolving appeals, as over the coursinéxisting RAC contract, healthcare
providers have increased their pursuit of appesy®bd the first and second levels of appeals tahing level of appeal, where cases are heart
by administrative law judges, or ALJs. In our exeerce, decisions at the third level of appeal hed¢ast favorable as ALJs exercise greater
discretion and there is less predictability in &le) decisions as compared to appeals at the firstoond levels. This increase of ALJ appeals
and backlog of claims at the third level of appsdhe primary reason our total estimated liabifity appeals (consisting of the estimated
liability for appeals plus the contra-accounts-ireglele estimated allowance for appeals) has graam fa balance of $5.6 million at December
31, 2012, to $16.4 million at December 31, 201816.6 million as of December 31, 2014. The balarfdbe estimated liability for appeals
was also increased because during 2014 we obsenviedrease in the percentage of appeals thateamg found in providers’ favor at the ALJ
level.

The $18.6 million balance as of December 31, 20d@resents our best estimate of the probable anudlosses related to appeals of
claims for which commissions were previously calec We estimate that it is reasonably possibleviteacould be required to pay up to an
additional approximately $5.4 million as a resdlpotentially successful appeals. To the extentitbquired payments by us related to
successful appeals exceed the amount accrued uevanthe applicable period would be reduced byathount of the excess.

Goodwill

We periodically review the carrying value of intdlrlg assets not subject to amortization, includjogdwill, to determine whether an
impairment may exist. GAAP requires that goodwiltlaertain intangible assets not subject to anmatitin be assessed annually for
impairment using fair value measurement techniques.

We assess goodwill for impairment on an annualsbasiof December 31 of each year or more frequérgly event occurs or changes
in circumstances would more likely than not redtieefair value of a reporting unit below its canyiamount. We have the option to perform :
gualitative assessment to determine if an impaitrisemore likely than not to have occurred. If vamsupport the conclusion that it is more
likely than not that the fair value of a reportimgit is greater than its carrying amount, then veaidd not need to perform the two-step
impairment test. If we cannot support such a caichy or we do not elect to perform the qualitatiesessment, then the first step of the
goodwill impairment test is used to identify
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potential impairment by comparing the fair valueaaeporting unit with its carrying amount, inclndigoodwill. The Company performed a
gualitative assessment of whether it is more likkbn not that goodwill fair value is less thancésrying amount for 2014 , 2013 and 2012 an
concluded that there was no need to perform anirmeat test.

Impairments of Depreciable Intangible Asse

The balance of depreciable intangible assets wad $gillion as of December 31, 2014 . We evaluagreciable intangible assets for
impairment whenever events or changes in circurastaimdicate that the carrying amount of such assaly not be recoverable. Depreciable
intangible assets consist of client contracts atated relationships, and are being amortized thesr estimated useful life, which is generally
20 years. We evaluate the client contracts intdegibthe individual contract level. The recoveliabdf such assets is measured by a
comparison of the carrying amount of the assefsttoe undiscounted net cash flows expected togmegted by the assets. If the assets are
considered to be impaired, the impairment to begeized is measured by the amount by which the/iceymamount of the assets exceeds the
fair value of the assets. There was no impairmepéeese for depreciable intangible assets in 2@D4.3 or 2012 .

Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2014 compared to the Yeateld December 31, 2013
The following table represents our historical ofiagaresults for the periods presented:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 $ Change % Change
(in thousands)

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:

Revenues $ 195,37¢ $ 255,30. $ (59,929 (23)%
Operating expenses:
Salaries and benefits 93,67¢ 96,76 (3,08¢) (3)%
Other operating expense 74,43: 85,67 (11,239 (13%
Total operating expenses 168,10¢ 182,43: (14,329 (8)%
Income from operations 27,26¢ 72,86¢ (45,600 (63)%
Interest expense (20,177 (11,569 1,39: (12)%
Interest income 1 1 — — %
Income before provision for income taxes 17,09¢ 61,30¢ (44,207 (72)%
Provision for income taxes 7,69¢ 24,96" (17,269 (69)%
Net income $ 9,40C $ 36,33¢ $ (26,939 (74%
Revenue

Total revenues were $195.4 million for the yearezhBecember 31, 2014, a decrease of $59.9 milli@8%, compared to total
revenues of $255.3 million for the year ended Ddzem31, 2013. The decrease is due to a declirevenues in both our student lending and
healthcare markets.

Student lending revenues were $138.3 million ferytear ended December 31, 2014, representing aatecof $25.4 million, or 16%,
compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 d€kigase was primarily due to lower rehabilitafees paid to us by our guaranty agency
clients a result of the reduction that guarantynages can charge borrowers due to the Federal badyéhat became effective July 1,2014, an
to new documentation requirements imposed by oaraguy agency clients as they implemented inconsedaepayment programs. The new
documentation requirements require additional t@me interaction with borrowers, which delayed sdoams from qualifying for rehabilitation
during 2014.

Healthcare revenues were $32.5 million for the ywrmted December 31, 2014, representing a decr&€&88.0 million, or 52%,
compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 deébizase was due primarily to reduced audit agtiniR014 as the result of the wind-
down of our current RAC contract, resulting in dabsially reduced levels of permitted healthcardisand recovery activities.

Salaries and Benefit:
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Salaries and benefits expense was $93.7 milliothiyear ended December 31, 2014, a decreaselofriion, or 3%, compared to
salaries and benefits expense of $96.8 milliortHeryear ended December 31, 2013. The decreasataiies and benefits expense was
primarily due to lower bonus expense.

Other Operating Expense

Other operating expense was $74.4 million for tharyended December 31, 2014, a decrease of $1llighpor 13%, compared to
other operating expense of $85.7 million for tharyended December 31, 2013. The decrease in gileeating expenses was primarily due to
lower third party collection fees and lower comnuation and postage expense resulting from the wowln of our current RAC contract.

Income from Operation:

As a result of the factors described above, incora operations was $27.3 million for the year eh@&cember 31, 2014, compared
to $72.9 million for the year ended December 31,0epresenting a decrease of $45.6 million, 663

Interest Expenst

Interest expense was $10.2 million for the yeareérdecember 31, 2014 compared to $11.6 millioritferyear ended December 31,
2013, representing a decrease of 12%. Interesnsepecreased due to repayments of principal undesredit agreement, resulting in a lowel
outstanding balance during 2014.

Income Taxes

Income tax expense was $7.7 million for the yeaeenDecember 31, 2014 compared to $25.0 millionHeryear ended
December 31, 2013, representing a decrease of &@¥%istent with the decrease in income before prawifor income taxes in 2014. Our
effective income tax rate increased to 45% forythar ended December 31, 2014 from 41% for the geded December 31, 2013. The incr
in the effective tax rate is primarily the resuitam approximately 5.5% increase in the state atex. The 2013 effective tax rate includes a one
time tax expense due to the non-deductible expeaasseciated with the follow on offerings of approately 1.7%.

Net Income

As a result of the factors described above, netrmewas $9.4 million for the year ended Decembef814, which representing a
decrease of $26.9 million compared to net incom®36f3 million for the year ended December 31, 2013

Year Ended December 31, 2013 compared to the Yeuwtell December 31, 2012
The following table presents our historical operatiesults for the periods presented:
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Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 $ Change % Change
(in thousands)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:

Revenues $ 255,30. $ 210,07 $ 45,22¢ 22%
Operating expenses:
Salaries and benefits 96,76: 83,00z 13,76( 17%
Other operating expense 85,67 71,30t 14,36¢ 20 %
Total operating expenses 182,43: 154,30° 28,12¢ 18 %
Income from operations 72,86¢ 55,76¢ 17,10: 31%
Debt extinguishment costs — (3,679 3,67¢ (100%
Interest expense (11,569 (12,419 85C (7%
Interest income 1 64 (63) (98)%
Income before provision for income taxes 61,30¢ 39,735 21,56¢ 54 %
Provision for income taxes 24,96° 16,78¢ 8,181 49 %
Net income 36,33¢ 22,95 13,38¢ 58 %
Accrual for preferred stock dividends — 2,03¢ (2,039 (2100%
Net income available to common shareholders $ 36,33¢ $ 20,91 $ 15,42¢ 74 %

Revenues

Total revenues were $255.3 million for the yeareshBecember 31, 2013, an increase of $45.2 midia22%, compared to total
revenues of $210.1 million for the year ended Ddzem31, 2012. This increase is due to growth ieneres in both our student lending and
healthcare markets.

Student lending revenues were $163.7 million ferybar ended December 31, 2013, representing szase of $31.3 million, or
24%, compared to the year ended December 31, dBdincrease was primarily a result of volume gitowf student loan placements during
the second half of 2012, which led to an increaselhabilitation revenues for the year ended Deeerél, 2013, and continued execution on :
contract involving a specialized portfolio of statiétoans with one of our leading GA clients.

Healthcare revenues were $67.5 million for the yated December 31, 2013, representing an inceé&?.8 million, or 23%,
compared to the year ended December 31, 2012ifdrsase was primarily a result of higher net clagmovery volume under our RAC
contract.

Salaries and Benefit:

Salaries and benefits expense was $96.8 milliothiyear ended December 31, 2013, an increask3dB #illion, or 17%, compare
to salaries and benefits expense of $83.0 millartHe year ended December 31, 2012. This inciisgsémarily due to an increase in
employee headcount to support operational growtee to the recovery of student loans.

Other Operating Expense

Other operating expense was $85.7 million for tharyended December 31, 2013, an increase of $lHlidnmor 20%, compared to
other operating expense of $71.3 million for tharyended December 31, 2012. This increase is phjntare to increased costs related to our
use of subcontractors and consultants, productifaned expenses associated with data processtrigyvet of medical records, printing and
mailing services, and higher spending on profesdiservices related to operating as a public compan

Income from Operation:

As a result of the factors described above, incroma operations was $72.9 million for the year eh®&cember 31, 2013, compared
to $55.8 million for the year ended December 31,220epresenting an increase of $17.1 million, 1563

Debt Extinguishment Cost

37




Table of Contents

We did not incur any debt extinguishment costdtieryear ended December 31, 2013. In March 2012newered debt
extinguishment costs of $3.7 million in connectiwith a new credit facility.

Interest Expense

Interest expense was $11.6 million for the yeareerdecember 31, 2013, compared to $12.4 millioriferyear ended December 31,
2012, representing a decrease of 7%. Interest sgpgcreased due to repayments of principal undesredit agreement, resulting in a lower
outstanding balance during 2013.

Income Taxes

Income tax expense was $25.0 million for the yemleel December 31, 2013 compared to $16.8 milliotHe year ended
December 31, 2012, representing an increase o¥@8onsistent with the increase in income beforeipion for income taxes. Our effective
income tax rate decreased to 40.7% for the yeagceBécember 31, 2013 from 42.2% for the year esbmber 31, 2012. The decrease in
the effective tax rate is the result of approxirha@7% decrease due to changes in the state texanad approximately 1% decrease due to
income tax benefits associated with increasesickstptions exercises as a result of two followofferings during the year, and the end of the
lock-up periods for certain employees. These deeeaere offset by approximately a 1.7% increaserasult of the non-deductible expenses
associated with the follow on offerings. The 201f2aive tax rate includes a one-time tax expensetd the non-deductible termination of an
advisory services agreement of approximately 1.9%.

Net Income

As a result of the factors described above, netrmewas $36.3 million for the year ended DecemltieB813, which represented an
increase of $13.4 million compared to net incom&28.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2012

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal sources of liquidity are cash flowsrfi operations, term loans, and the proceeds red¢dérem our initial public offering
in August 2012. Cash and cash equivalents, whigtet $80.3 million as of December 31, 2014 , catriimarily of cash on deposit with
banks. We expect that operating cash flows wiltticmre to be a primary source of liquidity for oyrevating needs. There are currently no
borrowings outstanding under our revolving crediility other than a $2.0 million letters of creditue to our operating cash flows, and our
existing cash and cash equivalents, we believenthdtave the ability to meet our working capitadl @apital expenditure needs for the
foreseeable future.

The $1.6 million decrease in the balance of ouh easl cash equivalents at December 31, 2014 cochpatie December 31, 2013
was primarily due to cash generated from operatd$27.9 million during 2014, offset by principglpayments of $21.5 million on our long-
term debt and $10.1 million of capital expenditures

The following table presents information regardouy cash flows for the years ended December 314 22013 and 2012 :

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 27,86¢ $ 61,20¢ $ 37,00t
Net cash used in investing activities (10,146 (12,507 (12,199
Net cash used in financing activities (19,33) (4,63%) (6,979

Cash flows from operating activities

Operating activities provided $27.9 million of catiring the year ended December 31, 2014, repiiegemtecrease of $33.3 million,
compared to cash provided by operating activitfe86d..2 million for the year ended December 31,2@&imarily due to a reduction of net
income to $9.4 million in 2014, an increase in peeyable to client of $12.1 million, collection o&tle receivables of $4.6 million and an
increase in the estimated liability for appeal$813 million associated with our RAC contract W@MS. These items were partially offset by
various working capital fluctuations such as anéase in other prepaid expenses and a decreaserired salaries and benefits.

Operating activities provided $61.2 million of ca#iiring the year ended December 31, 2013, an isereg$24.2
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million, compared to cash provided by operatingviteés of $37.0 million for the year ended DecemBg&, 2012, primarily
due to net income of $36.3 million, an increasthimestimated liability for appeals of $10.9 mifliassociated with our RAC
contract with CMS, collection of trade receivabdé$3.4 million, and an increase in accrued sadaaied benefits of $2.5
million. These items were partially offset by varsoworking capital fluctuations such as a decr@asgher current liabilities
and deferred revenue. The estimated liability fqpemls for revenue associated with CMS totaled3sd®llion in 2013,
compared $4.4 million in 2012, due to higher clagoovery volumes under our RAC contract with CMS.

Operating activities provided $37. 0 million of baduring the year ended December 31, 2012, anaseref $8.0 million, compared
cash provided by operating activities of $29.0 ianillfor the year ended December 31, 2011 primadiily to the increase in net income for the
year ended December 31, 2012 to $23.0 million coatpto $12.4 million for 2011. Cash used to payaed salary and benefits totaled $
million in 2012, as compared to the $7.1 millioraitcrued salaries and benefits payable for the acabfe period in 2011. Accounts payable
increased $1.3 million in 2012 compared to 201imarily due to timing. The estimated liability fappeals for revenue received from CMS
totaled $4.4 million in 2012, compared $0.5 millior2011, due to the increase of appeals broughiglaythcare providers and the overall
backlog of claims subject to appeals under our RAftract with CMS.

Cash flows from investing activities

We used $10.1 million and $12.5 million of cashnwestment activities for the purchase of propegtyyipment and leasehold
improvements during the years ended December 3% 280d 2013, respectively, primarily for investnseintinformation technology, data
storage, hardware, telecommunication systems andigeenhancements to our proprietary software.

Investing activities resulted in cash outflow o2$ million during the year ended December 31, 2012 primary uses of cash
associated with investing activities in 2012 weté @ million for property, equipment and leasehaigrovements, to enhance our proprietary
technology platform, improve our telecommunicatisgstems, upgrade our IT infrastructure for storage operating activities, and $0.8
million for the purchase of a perpetual softwacetise.

Cash flows from financing activities

Cash used in financing activities of $19.3 milliduring the year ended December 31, 2014 primarit/td the repayment of principal
on outstanding debt and other contractual obligatiaf $22.5 million . This was partially offset by income tax benefit of $3.2 million
associated with the exercise of employee stoclongtiand $0.6 million in proceeds received fromekercise of employee stock options.

Cash used in financing activities of $4.6 milliond013 was due to the repayment of principal ostautling debt and other
contractual obligations of $15.5 million, offset &y income tax benefit of $9.1 million associatethuhe exercise of employee stock options,
and $1.8 million in proceeds received from the eiserof employee stock options.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, our primiaan€ing activities were $156 million in proceedsnfi term loans, $12.8 million
of net proceeds from our IPO which was completefiigust 2012, and $4.5 million in revolving crefditility borrowings. These proceeds
were offset by $103.4 million used for the repaytraour old notes payable and repayment of pradogm our new term loans, $12.7 million
used for the repayment of our old and new linesredlit, $60.3 million used to redeem 5.3 milliorasds of preferred stock, and $3.1 million
used for debt issuance costs.

Estimated liability for appeals and Net payabledient

The December 31, 2014 balances of $18.6 million&&i1 million for the Estimated liability for apgle and the Net payable to clie
respectively, represent obligations that we expephy in the near term, although it is difficudtgredict the precise timing of the associated
cash outflows as they are dependent on the praceasd resolution of audit appeals.

Long-term Debt

On March 19, 2012, we, through our wholly ownedssdilary, entered into a $147.5 million credit agneat, as amended and reste
with Madison Capital Funding LLC as administratagent, ING Capital LLC as syndication agent, areeotenders party thereto. The senior
credit facility consists of (i) a $57.0 million tarA loan that matures in March 2017, (ii) a $79.i8iom term B loan that matures in March
2018, and (iii) a $11.0 million revolving creditcifity that expires in March 2017. On June 28, 2042 amended the credit agreement to
increase the amount of our borrowings under oun oan by $19.5 million. On November 4, 2014, fwgher amended the credit agreemen
to modify a number of existing covenants and adthtenew covenants.

All borrowings under the credit agreement bearegeat a rate per annum equal to an applicablgimeorresponding to our total
debt to EBITDA ratio, plus, at our option, eithérg base rate determined by reference to the bighe
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of (a) the prime rate published in the Wall Stigmirnal or another national publication, (b) theéefal funds rate plus 0.5%, (c) the sum of (A)
the 1-month LIBOR rate and (B) the difference betwéhe then effective applicable margins for LIB@Rns and base rate loans and (d) 2.59
or (i) a LIBOR rate determined by reference to tinghest of (a) a LIBOR rate published in Reuterarmther national publication and

(b) 1.5%. The term A loan and the revolving créaility currently have an applicable margin of 392 for base rate loans and 5.25% for
LIBOR rate loans, in each case based on a totaltdetBITDA ratio of less than 4.00 to 1.00. TheneB loan (including the incremental term
B loan) currently has an applicable margin of 4. M¥%base rate loans and 5.75% for LIBOR rate Ipansach case based on a total debt to
EBITDA ratio of less than 4.00 to 1.00. The minimper annum interest rate that we are required ya9é.75% for the term A loan and
revolving credit facility and 7.25% for the termi@an. Interest is due at the end of each monthdse rate loans and at the end of each LIBO
period for LIBOR rate loans unless the LIBOR peri@greater than 3 months, in which case intesedtie at the last day of each 3-month
interval of such LIBOR period.

The credit agreement requires us to prepay theidwo loans on a prorated basis and then to prdmasetolving credit facility under
certain circumstances: (i) with 100% of the nethgaoceeds of any asset sale or other disposifiassets by us or our subsidiaries where the
net cash proceeds exceed $1 million, (ii) with eceetage of our annual excess cash flow each yleareasuch percentage ranges from 25%-
75% depending on our total debt to EBITDA ratiouegld by any voluntary prepayments that are madmioterm loans during the same
period, unless we elect to apply voluntary prepayisia the inverse order of maturity, in which caséy voluntary prepayments in excess of
$10 million shall reduce the amount of excess ¢ashwe are required to prepay and (iii) with arst sash proceeds from a qualified initial
public offering by us, less net proceeds appliecetieem any outstanding preferred equity or coiblertiebt, to pay a common shareholder
dividend not to exceed $20 million or, if we compiith an adjusted EBITDA ratio set forth in the egment, to our cash balances in an an
not to exceed $75 million. With respect to (ii) abpthe Company made a pro rata prepayment of appately $11.5 million to the lenders in
May 2014.

We have to abide by certain negative covenantedocredit agreement, which limit the ability farrcsubsidiaries and us to:
e incur additional indebtedne

» create or permit lien

» pay dividends or other distributions to our equibjders

* purchase or redeem certain equity interests oequity holders, including any warrants, options atiter security right
* pay management fees or similar fees to any of quitgholders

* make any redemption, prepayment, defeasance, tegae®r any other payment with respect to any slitated deb
e consolidate, merge or make any acquisiti

» sell assets, including the capital stock of oursglibries

» enter into transactions with our affiliat

» enter into different business lin

« permit the aggregate amount of capital expendittrexceed a certain amount; .

* make investmenl

The credit agreement also requires us to meetigdiancial covenants, including maintaining (ifixeed charge coverage ratio, (ii) a
total debt to EBITDA ratio, (iii) an interest cowge ratio, (iv) a minimum EBITDA amount,(v) a minim required adjusted cash amount, anc
(vi) maximum capital expenditures, as such terresdafined in our credit agreement. These finarmoaknants are tested at the end of each
year, quarter or month, as applicable. The tablevb&rther describes these financial covenantsyalsas our current status under th
covenants as of December 31, 2014.
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Covenant Actual Ratio at
Financial Covenant Requirement December 31, 2014
Fixed charge coverage ratio (minimum)* 1.20to 1.0 1.38
Total debt to EBITDA ratio (maximum)* 3.25t01.0 2.33
Interest coverage ratio (minimum)** 2.25t01.0 5.35
EBITDA (minimum)** $20,000,000 $48,052,000
Required Adjusted Cash Amount (minimum)*** $35,000,000 $59,313,000
Capital Expenditures **** $12,500,000 $10,146,000

* Covenant requirement as of December 31, 2014sd leevenant requirements adjust in future period.
** These requirements became effective Decembed 28dd will adjust in future periods.

*** This requirement became effective November @12.

****This requirement is an annual requirement effee December 31, 2014.

Our debt agreements contain, and any agreemergfinance our debt likely will contain, financialérestrictive covenants that limit
our ability to incur additional debt, including fimance future operations or other capital needd,ta engage in other activities that we may
believe are in our longerm best interests, including to dispose of ouaegassets or make capital expenditures. Thesenemis also require
us to maintain certain financial ratios, includimdixed charge coverage ratio, total debt to EBITi2a#0 and an interest coverage ratio, as wel
as minimum EBITDA and adjusted cash amounts. Otreatiprojections, assuming we do not have anyr@tpistments to reduce our
expenses, show that we will be narrowly in compéawith several of our covenants during the sedmifiof 2015. However, we believe we
can make appropriate reductions in a timely mammeur expense structure in order to maintain caamgke with our financial covenants. Due
to delays in the award of the new RAC contract€MS and pricing reductions in the student lendiraghat, we have been actively
restructuring both our variable and fixed expeng&rs.expenses are largely comprised of variableesgs including salaries and wages,
subcontractor fees, production specific vendoriistipg and mailing services. As variable costs éase with growth of services provided unde
a contract, or new contract award, similarly, we aad will attempt to reduce variable costs toekient we encounter contract delays or lowe
service volumes. We have actively managed ourstostture during contract transitions with both Cit&l the Department of Education and
have reduced our expenses with an intent to miradverse impacts on our future revenue and irr etodemain in compliance with our
financial covenants.

Contractual Obligations
The following summarizes our contractual obligasi@s of December 31, 2014 :

Payments Due by Period

Less More

Than 1-3 3-5 Than
Contractual Obligations Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
Long-Term Debt Obligations $ 111,79 $ 9,82( $ 18,93¢ $ 83,03¢ $ —
Interest Payments 22,26 7,728 13,254 1,28¢ —
Operating Lease Obligations 7,797 2,29( 3,42: 1,26¢ 81t
Purchase Obligations 7,42 7,42: — — —
Total $ 149,27¢ $ 27,25¢ $ 35,61t $ 85,59. $ 81t

(1) We entered into our new credit agreement oncMa9, 2012 and amended it on June 28, 2012, allittutstanding
indebtedness under our prior loan facility paidulh Long-term debt obligations and interest paytsepresented in this
table relate solely to our new credit agreemengnasnded.

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Incomr

To provide investors with additional informatiorgegding our financial results, we have disclosethetable below and within this
report adjusted EBITDA and adjusted net incomeh lodtwhich are non-GAAP financial measures. We haewided a reconciliation below of
adjusted EBITDA to net income and adjusted netime®o net income, the most directly comparable GAiABncial measure to these non-
GAAP financial measures.
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We have included adjusted EBITDA and adjusted metrme in this report because they are key meassezsby our management :
board of directors to understand and evaluate o gperating performance and trends and to prepat@pprove our annual budget.
Accordingly, we believe that adjusted EBITDA anquatied net income provide useful information toeastors and analysts in understanding
and evaluating our operating results in the samengraas our management and board of directors.

Our use of adjusted EBITDA and adjusted net incbiaelimitations as an analytical tool, and you $th@wt consider it in isolation ¢

as a substitute for analysis of our results asrtegainder GAAP. Some of these limitations are:

« although depreciation and amortization are nashacharges, the assets being depreciated andzedartay have to be replaced
in the future, and adjusted EBITDA does not refteh capital expenditure requirements for suclacements or for new
capital expenditure requirements;

» adjusted EBITDA does not reflect interest expenseur indebtednes

» adjusted EBITDA does not reflect changes in, ohaasjuirements for, our working capital ne:

» adjusted EBITDA does not reflect tax payme

» adjusted EBITDA and adjusted net income do afiect the potentially dilutive impact of equibased compensatic

» adjusted EBITDA and adjusted net income do eflect the impact of certain non-operating expemssslting from matters we
do not consider to be indicative of our core opegaperformance; and

» other companies may calculate adjusted EBITDA atjdséed net income differently than we do, whictiuees its usefulness a
comparative measure.

Because of these limitations, you should considgrsted EBITDA and adjusted net income alongsitientinancial performance
measures, including net income and our other GAgsRlts.

The following tables present a reconciliation ofusted EBITDA and adjusted net income for the yesided December 31, 2014,
2013 and 2012 to actual net income for these pgriod

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)

Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA:

Net income $ 9,40C $ 36,33¢ $ 22,95!
Provision for income taxes 7,69¢ 24,96 16,78¢
Interest expense 10,17: 11,56¢ 12,41
Interest income (@D} (D] (64
Debt extinguishment cost$ — — 3,67¢
Transaction expensé&s 1,27¢ 2,89 —
Depreciation and amortization 12,45( 10,65¢ 9,50¢
Non-core operating expensés — — 47
Advisory fee® — — 2,641
Stock based compensation 3,701 2,99/ 1,614
Adjusted EBITDA $ 44,70  $ 89,41: $ 69,57

42




Table of Contents

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)

Reconciliation of Adjusted Net Income:

Net income $ 9,40C $ 36,33¢ $ 22,95:
Debt extinguishment cosfs — — 3,67¢
Transaction expensé&s 1,27¢ 2,89: —
Non—core operating expensés — — 47
Advisory fee® — — 2,641
Stock based compensation 3,701 2,99/ 1,614
Amortization of intangible$ 3,737 3,731 3,67¢
Deferred financing amortization co$ts 1,05t 1,12¢ 1,161
Tax adjustment® (3,910 (4,297) (5,126
Adjusted net income $ 15,26¢ % 42,78 % 30,64

(1) Represents debt extinguishment costs compabagproximately $3.3 million of fees paid to lemslin connection with our new
credit facility and approximately $0.3 million ohamortized debt issuance costs in connection wittota credit facility.

(2) Represents direct and incremental costs asgdcwith the Company's secondary offerings in &afyrand April 2013, and
expenses incurred in 2014 for potential acquisitind related financing.

(3) Represents professional fees and settlement @dated to strategic corporate development acts:

(4)Represents expenses incurred under an advisongaglagreement with Parthenon Capital Partnergghwhias terminated in April
2012 and the August 2012 expense of $0.9 milliGoeasted with a payment to a financial advisoras pf the Company's
initial public offering. See Note 11 "Related PaFansactions.”

(5) Represents amortization of capitalized expenslesed to the acquisition of Performant by ailiaté of Parthenon Capital Partn
in 2004, and also an acquisition in the first geladf 2012 to enhance our analytics capabilities.

(6) Represents amortization of capitalized finagainsts related to debt offerings conducted in 22020 and 2012.
(7) Represents tax adjustments assuming a mairgixaate of 40%.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, FASB issued an ASU that amends theB-ASC by creating a new Topic 606, Revenue fromt@mts with Customel
The new guidance will supersede the revenue retiognmequirements in Topic 605, Revenue Recognjiord most industrgpecific guidanc
on revenue recognition throughout the Industry Tepif the Codification. The core principle of thaédance is that an entity should recog
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goodseorices to customers in an amount that reflé&sonsideration to which the entity exp
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or sesviTo achieve that core principle, an entity &happly the following steps:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer.

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in ¢tbatract.

Step 3: Determine the transaction price.

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the penfnce obligations in the contract.
Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the erdiisfies a performance obligation.

In addition, an entity should disclose sufficientafitative and quantitative information to enabkers of financial statements
understand the nature, amount, timing and uncéytafirevenue and cash flows arising from contragth customers. The amendments in
ASU are effective for annual reporting periods begig after December 15, 2016, including interimiqas within that reporting period. Ea
adoption is not permitted. This amendment is teibieer retrospectively adopted to each prior repgmperiod presented or retrospectively \
the cumulative effect of initially applying this ABrecognized at the date of initial application. \Afe currently evaluating the impact of
adoption of this guidance to our consolidated foialnstatements.

In June 2014, FASB issued ASU 2014-12, Accountiog ShareBased Payments When the Terms of an Award Provius 3
Performance Target Could Be Achieved after the RiguService Period ("ASU 2014-12"). ASU 2012-brings consistency to the accoun
for sharebased payment awards that require a specific padioce target to be achieved in order for employ@égcome eligible to vest in
awards. ASU 20142 is effective for annual reporting periods (irtihg interim periods) beginning after December 2615, with earl
adoption permitted. The adoption of this guidandenet have a material effect on our consolidafiedncial statements.

ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We do not hold or issue financial instruments fading purposes. We conduct all of our busineds$.8 currency and therefore do
have any direct foreign currency risk. We do haxgosure to changes in interest rates with respetbiet borrowings under our senior secured
credit facility, which bear interest at a variabdte based on the prime rate or LIBOR. For examfike interest rate on our borrowings
increased 100 basis points (1%) from the creditifiadloor of 1.5%, our annual interest expenseulebincrease by approximately $1.1 millic

While we currently hold our excess cash in an dpegaccount, in the future we may invest all groation of our excess cash in short
term investments, including money market accownt&re returns may reflect current interest ratesaAesult, market interest rate changes
impact our interest expense and interest incomis. ifitpact will depend on variables such as the ritade of interest rate changes and the
level of our borrowings under our credit facility @xcess cash balances.

ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Our consolidated financial statements and notegthand the reports of KPMG LLP are set forthhie Index to Financial Statements
under Iltem 15, Exhibits, Financial Statement Schejiand is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountas on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain a system of disclosure controls andgxfares that are designed to ensure that informagiguired to be disclosed in the
Company'’s reports under the Exchange Act is rechmoecessed, summarized and reported within the geriods specified in the Securities
and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms, andstiat information is accumulated and communicateddanagement, including our Chief
Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officas, appropriate, to allow timely decisions regardiguired disclosure. In designing and
evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures,
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management recognized that any controls and proegduoo matter how well designed and operatedpuoavride only reasonable assurance of
achieving the desired control objectives.

Management, with the participation of our Chief Eixéive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, hegluated the effectiveness of
our disclosure controls and procedures, as defm&ilile 13a15(e) under the Exchange Act, as of the fiscal gesered by this Annual Rep
on Form 10-K. Based on that evaluation, our Chieddtitive Officer and Chief Financial Officer condid that our disclosure controls and
procedures were functioning effectively at the oeable assurance level as of December 31, 2014.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finangdal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting (as defined in Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Acpravide reasonable assurance regarding the réjabflour financial reporting and the
preparation of our consolidated financial statemént external purposes in accordance with UnitedeS Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles (“US GAAP”). Under the supervision oficawith the participation of our Chief Executivefioér and Chief Financial Officer,
management assessed the effectiveness of intembtover financial reporting as of December 3114. Management based its assessmen
on criteria established in “Internal Control Integpd Framework” issued by the Committee of Spongd@irganizations of the Treadway
Commission (“COSQO"). Based on this evaluation, ngamaent concluded that its internal control oveafiicial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2014.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There was no change in our internal control ovgairfcial reporting during the year ended Decembg2@14, that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaftf, our internal control over financial reportirgher than those noted above.

ITEM 9B. Other Information
None.

PART IlI

ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpeate Governance

This Item is incorporated by reference to our défie proxy statement on Schedule 14A, which wélfiled within 120 days after the
close of the fiscal year covered by this reporEorm 10-K, or if our proxy statement is not fileg that date, will be included in an amendmen
to this Report on Form 10-K.
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ITEM 11. Executive Compensation

This Item is incorporated by reference to our défie proxy statement on Schedule 14A, which wélfiled within 120 days after the
close of the fiscal year covered by this reporForm 10-K, or if our proxy statement is not fileg that date, will be included in an amendmen
to this Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Qvners and Management and Related Stockholder Matter

This Item is incorporated by reference to our défie proxy statement on Schedule 14A, which wélfiled within 120 days after the
close of the fiscal year covered by this reporEorm 10-K, or if our proxy statement is not fileg that date, will be included in an amendmen
to this Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transadbns, and Director Independence

This Item is incorporated by reference to our défie proxy statement on Schedule 14A, which wélfiled within 120 days after the
close of the fiscal year covered by this reporEorm 10-K, or if our proxy statement is not fileg that date, will be included in an amendmen
to this Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

This Item is incorporated by reference to our défie proxy statement on Schedule 14A, which wélfiled within 120 days after the
close of the fiscal year covered by this reporForm 10-K, or if our proxy statement is not fileg that date, will be included in an amendmen
to this Report on Form 10-K.

PART IV

ITEM 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(a) Financial Statements

Financial StatementS.he financial statements filed as part of this repoe identified in the Index to Consolidated Ficial
Statements on page F-1.

Financial Statement ScheduleSee Item 15(c) below.

Exhibits. See Item 15(b) below.
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(b) Exhibits
The following exhibits are filed herewith or arearporated by reference to exhibits previouslydfieth the Securities and Exchange
Commission. The Company shall furnish copies oflgihfor a reasonable fee (covering the expendarafshing copies) upon request.

Exhibit Description
Number

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as ofalgri28, 2015, by and among Performant Financiap@ation. Project
Phoenix Merger Sub, Inc. Premier Healthcare Excbahg. and the other parties thereto (incorporhteceference to
Exhibit 2.1 to the Company's Current Report on F8¢kifiled January 29, 2015)

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Regist (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1(b)he Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed July 201 2)

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Registranb(parated by reference to Exhibit 3.2(b) to the @any’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1/A filed July 23, 2012)

4.2 Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agee¢ dated as of August 15, 2012, among the Regtsand the persons
listed thereon (incorporated by reference to ExHil#l to the Company’s Registration Statement amF8-1/A filed July
23, 2012)

10.1 Form of Indemnification Agreement betweenRegjistrant and its officers and directors (incoaped by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Registration StatenmenForm S-1/A filed July 30, 2012)

10.2 2004 Equity Incentive Plan and form of agreets thereunder (incorporated by reference to Exhih2 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filglg 3, 2012)

10.3 2004 DCS Holdings Stock Option Plan and fofragreements thereunder (incorporated by referemEghibit 10.3 to
the Company’s Registration Statement on Form $ed fluly 3, 2012)

10.4 2007 Stock Option Plan and form of agreemingieunder (incorporated by reference to Exhiditt 1o the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed July Z8,2)

10.5 Recovery Audit Contractor contract by andveein Diversified Collection Services, Inc. and @eirfior Medicare and
Medicaid Services dated as of October 3, 2008reended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.thé Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed July 231 2)

10.6 Credit Agreement, dated as of March 19, 286¢2nd among DCS Business Services, Inc., thedrsrmhrty Hereto,
Madison Capital Funding LLC, and ING Capital (ingorated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the CompmaRggistration
Statement on Form S-1/A filed July 23, 2012)

10.7 Form of Change of Control Agreement, as amérfthcorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 ® @ompany’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed July 201.2)

10.8 Employment Agreement between the Registrahiisa Im, dated as of April 15, 2012, as amen(@exbrporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s RegistraStatement on Form S-1/A filed July 23, 2012)

10.9 Employment Agreement between the Registrashtlan D. Shaver dated as of March 31, 2003, as@ede(incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Region Statement on Form S-1/A filed July 23, 2012

10.10 Repurchase Agreement between the Registnantisa C. Im dated as of July 3, 2012 (incorpatddy reference to
Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Registration Statetom Form S-1 filed July 3, 2012)

10.11 Repurchase Agreement between the Registnanion D. Shaver dated as of July 3, 2012 (incated by reference to
Exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s Registration Statetoe Form S-1 filed July 3, 2012)

10.12 Director Nomination Aareement between the Reaistasma Parthenon DCS Holdinas. LLC dated as of 2012012



(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to@wmnpany’s Registration Statement on Form S-1/Alfillaly 23, 2012)

10.13 Advisory Services Agreement between DiviediCollection Services, Inc. and Parthenon CafitaC dated as of
January 8, 2004, as amended (incorporated by refer® Exhibit 10.13 to the Company’s Registrattaatement on
Form S-1/A filed July 23, 2012)
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Exhibit Description
Number

10.14 Termination of the Advisory Services Agreetrteetween Diversified Collection Services, Incd &arthenon Capital, LLC dated
as of January 8, 2004, as amended, dated as df18p2012 (incorporated by reference to Exhibitlito the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed July 231 2)

10.15 2012 Stock Incentive Plan*

10.16 Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement dateaf &arch 19, 2012, by and among DCS Business &esyinc., the Lenders party
thereto, Madison Capital Funding LLC,and ING Cdpita

10.17 Amendment No. 2 Credit Agreement, dated &owember 4 2014, by and among Performant BusiSesgices, Inc., the Lenders
party thereto, and Madison Capital Funding LLCcérporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Canys Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q filed November 10, 2014)

21 List of Subsidiaries

23 Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Registeredi®ézcounting Firm

24 Powers of Attorney (included in the signatuageoto this report)

31.1 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification, exedwy Lisa C. Im

31.2 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification, exedby Hakan L. Orvell

32.1 Furnished Statement of the Chief Executivic&funder 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
32.2 Furnished Statement of the Chief Financidilc®f under 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

101.INS XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Scheme

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linldea
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition LinklsaBocument
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Lageh

*  Filed herewith

Schedules not listed above have been omitted bectheyg are not applicable or required, or the mftion required to be set forth
therein is included in the Consolidated Financiak&nents or Notes hereto.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Performant Financial Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balameets of Performant Financial Corporation abdidiaries as
December 31, 2014 and 2013, the related consadlidsti@ements of operations, changes in redeemabferged stock ar
stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows fmch of the years in the thrgear period ended December 31, 2014, an
related Schedule Il for the thrgear period ended December 31, 2014. These coatadidfinancial statements are
responsibility of the Company’'management. Our responsibility is to expresspaman on these consolidated financial staten
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstaits of the Public Company Accounting Oversighalo(United States
Those standards require that we plan and perfoenatidlit to obtain reasonable assurance about whibhdinancial statemer
are free of material misstatement. An audit includeamining, on a test basis, evidence suppoiti@@iounts and disclosure:
the financial statements. An audit also includesessing the accounting principles used and sigmfi@stimates made
management, as well as evaluating the overall Giadurstatement presentation. We believe that oditswprovide a reasonal
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaeand Schedule Il referred to above present fainhall material respects, 1
financial position of Performant Financial Corpavatand subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014 a®8,2hd the results of th
operations and their cash flows for each of thery/éa the threeyear period ended December 31, 2014, in conformiti
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

/sl KPMG LLP

San Francisco, California
March 12, 2015
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PERFORMANT FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Assets

Goodwill

December 31,

December 31,

2014 2013
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 80,29¢ $ 81,90¢
Tra_de accounts receivable, net of allowance fobd‘uhac;counts of $32 and $32, respectively & 15.04" 19.64¢
estimated allowance for appeals of $0 and $1, E&phactively ’ ’
Deferred income taxes 7,60¢ 6,841
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 12,55¢ 4,40(
Income tax receivable 4,39 —
Debt issuance costs, current portion 98¢ 1,05¢
Total current assets 120,88 113,86(
Property, equipment, and leasehold improvements, ne 27,64° 26,24’
Identifiable intangible assets, net 29,09: 32,51
82,52: 81,57
Debt issuance costs, net of current portion 2,45¢ 2,78¢
Other assets 222 27¢
Total assets $ 262,82¢ $ 257,26
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Current maturities of notes payable $ 9,82( $ 10,76
Accrued salaries and benefits 5,38( 11,82¢
Accounts payable 1,37(C 2,38:
Other current liabilities 8,45: 5,311
Income taxes payable — 10z
Estimated liability for appeals 18,62¢ 15,28:
Net payable to client 12,11( —
Total current liabilities 55,757 45,66¢
Notes payable, net of current portion 101,97 122,54:
Deferred income taxes 11,66¢ 12,61:
Other liabilities 2,25¢ 2,20¢
Total liabilities 171,65 183,02t
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock, $0.0001 par value. Authorized, 50D gHares at December 31, 2014 and 2013
respectively; issued and outstanding, 49,350 angilé8shares at December 31, 2014 and 2013 5 5
respectively
Additional paid-in capital 57,32¢ 49,79:
Retained earnings 33,83¢ 24,43t
Total stockholders’ equity 91,17: 74,23¢
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 262,82¢ $ 257,26

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ&stents.
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PERFORMANT FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenues
Operating expenses:
Salaries and benefits
Other operating expenses
Total operating expenses
Income from operations
Debt extinguishment costs
Interest expense
Interest income
Income before provision for income t&xe
Provision for income taxes
Net income
Accrual for preferred stock dividends
Net income available to common shareéis

Net income per share attributable to common shéder®(see Note 1)
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average shares (see Note 1)
Basic
Diluted

See accompanying notes to consolidated financiéstents.

For the Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
$ 195,37¢ $ 255,30, $ 210,07:
93,67¢ 96,76 83,00:
74,43 85,67 71,308
168,10¢ 182,43 154,30°
27,26¢ 72,86¢ 55, 76¢
— — (3,679
(10,177) (11,562 (12,412
1 1 64
17,09¢ 61,30¢ 39,73
7,69¢ 24,96’ 16,78¢
$ 9,400 $ 36,33¢ $ 22,95
— — 2,03¢
$ 9,400 $ 36,33¢ $ 20,91
$ 1€ $ 077 $ 0.4¢
$ 0.1¢ $ 074 $ 0.44
48,81¢ 47 ,49: 43,98
49,83 49,38 47 59¢
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PERFORMANT FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Redeemaddierféd Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

For the Years Ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 at@l 20

Redeemable Preferred Stock
Series A

(In thousands)

Convertible Preferred Stock Common Stock Additional Retained
Due From Paid-In Earnings
Shares Amount Stockholders Shares Amount Capital (Deficit) Total

Balance, December 31, 2011 5,29¢ $ 58,24¢ | $ (2,266) 37,667 $ 4 $ 19,37 $ (32,819 $(15,70H

Increase in redemption value

of Series A preferred stock o 2,03¢ T o T T (2,039 (2,039

Conversion of Series A

preferred stock to Series B

preferred stock which was — (60,28¢) — — — — — —

immediately redeemed for

cash

Conversion of Series B (5,296 - - 5.20¢ . - - -

preferred stock to common

Exercise of stock options — — — 284 — 17t — 17t

Issuance of stock — — — 2,24: — 15,42( — 15,42(

Purchase of treasury stock — — — (98) — (1,22%) — (1,22%)

Interest on notes receivable

from stockholders o o (57) o o o o (57

Repayment of notes . . . . . .

receivable from stockholde o o s e

Stock-based compensation - - . - . 1,61¢ . 1,61¢

expense

Income tax benefit from : c

) — — — — — 61t — 61¢

employee stock options

Net income — — — — — — 22,95! 22,95!
Balance, December 31, 2012 — — —  45,39: 4 35,97( (11,90)) 24,07

Exercise of stock options — — — 2,92¢ 1 1,765 — 1,76¢

Stock-based compensatior

expense — — — — — 2,99/ — 2,99/

Income tax benefit f_rom - - . - . 9.06( . 9.06(

employee stock options

Net income — — — — — — 36,33¢ 36,33¢
Balance, December 31, 2013 — — — 48,31¢ 5 49,79: 24,43¢ 74,23¢

Exercise of stock options — — — 1,03¢ — 61C — 61C

Stock-based compensation - - . - . 3.707 . 3.707

expense

Income tax benefit from

employee stock options o o o o o ehzzd o chezd

Net income — — — — — — 9,40( 9,40(
Balance, December 31, 2014 — 3 — [ 9 —  4935( $ 5 $ 57,32¢ $ 33,83 $ 91,17

See accompanying notes to consolidated finana&dstents.
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PERFORMANT FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)

For the Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 9,40 $ 36,33¢ $ 22,95!

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigeal by operating activities:

Loss on disposal of assets 33 1 51
Depreciation and amortization 12,45( 10,65 9,50¢
Write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs — — 33t
Deferred income taxes (1,709 (1,70%) (1,82¢)
Stock-based compensation 3,707 2,99« 1,61¢
Interest expense from debt issuance costs andiaatam of discount note payable 1,177 1,243 1,272
Interest income on notes receivable from stockhelde — — (57)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Trade accounts receivable 4,60z 3,39t (3,64¢)

Prepaid expenses and other current assets (8,159) (1,529 41€

Income tax receivable (4,399 — —

Other assets 57 451 (71)

Accrued salaries and benefits (6,44¢) 2,53¢ 2,15(

Accounts payable (2,019 98( 1,34:%

Other current liabilities 1,87: (2,94) (1,229

Income taxes payable (109) (327) (40)

Deferred revenue — (2,187 27

Estimated liability for appeals 3,34 10,90¢ 3,92¢

Net payable to client 12,11( — —

Other liabilities 93¢ 38¢ 33C

Net cash provided by operating activities 27,86¢ 61,20¢ 37,00t

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of property, equipment, and leaseholdowepnents (10,14¢ (12,507 (11,35¢)
Purchase of perpetual software license and compgtgépment — — (837)

Net cash used in investing activities (10,14¢ (12,507 (12,199

Cash flows from financing activities:

Borrowing under notes payable — — 156,00(
Borrowing under line of credit — — 4,50(
Redemption of preferred stock — — (60,28¢)
Repayment of notes payable (21,509 (14,46Y) (103,419
Repayment of line of credit — — (12,699

Debt issuance costs paid (659) — (3,079
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 61C 1,76¢ 17t
Proceeds from issuance of stock — — 12,62«
Repayment of promissory notes from stockholders — — 2,32¢
Income tax benefit from employee stock options 3,221 9,06( 61E
Payment to stockholders — — (1,767
Purchase of treasury stock — — (1,22%)
Payment of purchase obligation (1,000 (2,000 (750)
Net cash used in financing activities (19,33) (4,637) (6,979)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equisalent (1,61) 44,06¢ 17,83¢

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 81,90¢ 37,84! 20,00¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 80,29¢ $ 81,90¢ $ 37,84

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:

Nankh nAid fav fnAamma~ s <@ 1N 10L ¢ 17 20¢ ¢ 10 N2~



Cash paid for interest $ 897¢ $ 10,29:  $ 11,17¢

Cash paid as debt extinguishment $ —  $ —  $ 3,34«
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing anéhfincing activities:

Obligation payable to sellers of perpetual license $ —  $ —  $ 3,25(

Issuance of common stock as part of debt issuawsts c $ — $ —  $ 2,79¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ&stents.
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PERFORMANT FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2014, 2013 an? 201

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policie

(@)

(b)

()

(d)

()

Organization and Nature of Busines

Performant Financial Corporation (the Company)lsaaling provider of technology-enabled recoveny analytics services in the
United States. The Company's services help idem#itructure and recover delinquent or defaulssgts and improper payments for
both government and private clients in a broad easfgnarkets. Company clients typically operateamplex and regulated
environments and outsource their recovery needsder to reduce losses on billions of dollars dadited student loans, improper
healthcare payments and delinquent state tax aledktreasury receivables. The Company generadlyigles our services on an
outsourced basis, where we handle many or all &spéthe clients’ recovery processes.

The Company’s consolidated financial statementsidecthe operations of Performant Financial CorpanaPFC), its wholly owned
subsidiary Performant Business Services, Inc.,isngholly owned subsidiaries Performant Recovarg, (Recovery), Performant
Technologies, Inc., and Performant Europe Ltd. &ife August 13, 2012, we changed the name of dwallyw owned subsidiary from
DCS Business Services, Inc. (DCSBS) to Performausirizss Services, Inc., and DCSBS’ wholly ownedgliaries from Diversified
Collection Services, Inc. (DCS), and Vista Finahdiac. (VFI), to Performant Recovery, Inc., andf®emant Technologies, Inc.,
respectively. PFC is a Delaware corporation headerel in California and was formed in 2003. Parfant Business Services, Inc. is
a Nevada corporation founded in 1997. RecoveryGali#ornia corporation founded in 1976. Performaathnologies, Inc. is a
California corporation that was formed in 2004.

The Company is managed and operated as one buysiithsa single management team that reports t&tiief Executive Officer.

Principles of Consolidatior

The accompanying consolidated financial statemieave been prepared in accordance with U.S. Gepéxatlepted Accounting
Principles, or U.S. GAAP. The Company consolidatatities in which it has controlling financial inést, and as of December 31,
2014 , all of the Company'’s subsidiaries are 100¢ex. All significant intercompany balances andisections have been eliminated
in consolidation.

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Consolidatethancial Statement:

The preparation of the consolidated financial stetets in conformity with U.S. GAAP, requires managet to make certain
estimates and assumptions that affect the repartemints of assets and liabilities, primarily acdasurceivable, intangible assets,
goodwill, estimated liability for appeals, accruegpenses, and disclosure of contingent assetsabilities at the date of the
consolidated financial statements and the rep@medunts of revenues and expenses during the negqutiriods. Our actual results
could differ from those estimates.

Stock Split

On July 26, 2012, the Company effected a two -fog-stock split of the Company’s shares of CommaciStAccordingly, all per
share amounts, average shares outstanding, shastsnaling, and equity based compensation presénthd consolidated financial
statements and notes have been adjusted retrdgdtiveflect the stock split. Shareholders’ defltas been retroactively adjusted to
give effect to the stock split for all periods prated by reclassifying the par value of the addélshares issued in connection with
stock split to additional paid-in capital. Concunttg with the stock split, the authorized Commoncktwas increased fro@5,000,00(
shares to 60,000,000 shares. On August 15, 2042 utinorized Common Stock was increased to 50@00Ghares and the
authorized preferred stock was increased to 50000Chares.

Cash and Cash Equivalen

Cash and cash equivalents include demand depaositsighly liquid debt instruments with original ragties of three months or less
when purchased. These investments can include muoaeket funds that invest in highly liquid U.S. gorment and agency
obligations, certificates of deposit, bankers’ gtaaces, and commercial paper.
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(f)

(9)

(h)

(i)

()

The Company collects monies on behalf of its cie@ash is often held on behalf of the clientsarious trust accounts and is
subsequently remitted to the clients based on aonial agreements. Cash held in these trust accéamtontracting agencies is not
included in the Company’s assets (Note 12(a)).

Hosted Service Installation and Implementation Dedirables

In 2008, the Company entered into a long-term @attio provide hosted services to a client begoiminMarch 2009. The Company
determined that certain installation and implemgotadeliverables were not separate units of actognvithin the contract, and
should be combined for revenue recognition purpesdsthe hosted service deliverable. Accordingguenue for these contract
elements is being taken ratably from the commenoéwfehosted services in March 2009 through thereah period of March 2018.
Additionally, the Company deferred the direct imoemntal costs associated with the installation amplémentation deliverables, with
the costs being expensed ratably from the Marcl® 200nmencement of services through March 2018.

Property, Equipment, and Leasehold Improveme

Property, equipment, and leasehold improvementstated at cost, net of accumulated depreciatiomifare and equipment are
depreciated using the straight-line method ovemedéd useful lives ranging from 5 to 7 years.l@ings are depreciated using the
straight-line method over 31.5 years. Leaseholgt@vements are amortized using the straight-linthoteover the shorter of the
estimated life of the asset or the remaining tefth® lease. Computer software and computer haelaar depreciated using the
straight-line method over 3 years and 5 yeaspeetively.

Maintenance and repairs are charged to expenseasad. Improvements that extend the useful lofezssets are capitalized.

When property is sold or retired, the cost andréeted accumulated depreciation are removed frentonsolidated balance sheet
any gain or loss from the transaction is includethie consolidated statements of operations.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Asse

Gooduwill represents the excess of purchase prideelated costs over the fair value assigned toétassets of businesses acquired.
Goodwill is not amortized, but instead is revieviedimpairment at least annually. Impairment is tio@dition that exists when the
carrying amount of goodwill is not recoverable dsccarrying amount exceeds its fair value.

The Company performed a qualitative assessmenhether it is more likely than not that goodwillifaalue is less than its carrying
amount for 2014 , 2013 and 2012 and concludedttiea¢ was no need to perform an impairment test.

Identifiable intangible assets consist of custonwettracts and related relationships, a perpetoahée, and covenants not to compete
Customer contracts and related relationships amrta@mad over their estimated useful life of 4 to 28ars. The perpetual license is
amortized over its estimated useful life of 5 years

Impairment of Lon¢-Lived Asset:

Long-lived assets are evaluated for impairment wkienevents or changes in circumstances indicatehk carrying amount of such
assets or intangibles may not be recoverable. Reability of assets to be held and used is measwredcomparison of the carrying
amount of the assets to future undiscounted nétfbass expected to be generated by the assetack assets are considered to be
impaired, the impairment to be recognized is maabby the amount by which the carrying amount efahsets exceeds the fair value
of the assets. The Company did not recognize aainmgnt expense for intangible assets in 2014 320 2012.

System Developmen

The Company follows the provisions of Financial Aanting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Stand@uaidification (ASC)
Subtopic 350-40nternal-Use Softwarewhich specifies that costs incurred during thpligption stage of development should be
capitalized. All other costs are expensed as iecuuring 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , costs of $7.8anil $4.9 million andb5.4 million
respectively, were capitalized for projects in @dmplication stage of development, with depreciaégpense of $4.0 million , $2.6
million and $2.4 million respectively, for compldtprojects.
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(k) Debt Issuance Cos!

()

Debt issuance costs represent loan and legal #@dsrpconnection with the issuance of long-terhtdBebt issuance costs are
amortized to interest expense in accordance wightésens of the notes as amended.

Revenues, Accounts Receivable, and Estimated Lighibr Appeals

Revenue is recognized upon the collection of dédduban and debt payments. Loan rehabilitatioemee is recognized when the
rehabilitated loans are sold (funded) by clientsehtive revenue is recognized upon receipt o€iaffinotification of incentive award
from customers. Under the Company’s RAC contrath @iMS, the Company recognizes revenues when thiéhkare provider has
paid CMS for a given claim or has agreed to anedfigainst other claims by the provider. Providherge the right to appeal a claim
and may pursue additional appeals if the initigdesgd is found in favor of CMS. The Company accraiegstimated liability for
appeals at the time revenue is recognized bas#teciompany's estimate of the amount of revenuegte of being refunded to
CMS following successful appeal. In addition, i€t@ompany's estimate of the liability for appeaithwespect to revenues recogni:
during a prior period changes, the Company inceaséecreases current period accruals based archaage in estimated liability.
At December 31, 2014 , a total of $18.6 million vpassented as an allowance against revenue, repireséhe Company estimate ¢
claims that may be overturned. Of this amount, $ildon was related to amounts in accounts redd&and $18.6 million was
related to commissions which had already beenvedeiThe zero allowance against accounts receiaidecember 31, 2014 is due
to the fact that the receivable from CMS is netigdinst an offsetting payable for overturned ayditsl at December 31, 2014, the
amount of the payable exceeded the amount of tredvable as discussed in note 1(m). The totaluectliability for appeals of $18.6
million has therefore been presented in the captgtimated liability for appeals at December 31,20At December 31, 2013, the
total appeals-related liability was $16.4 milliocomprised of an estimated liability for appeal$®5.3 million and a contra-accounts-
receivable estimated allowance for appeals of #iillion . The $18.6 million balance at December 2014 and the $15.3 million
balance as of December 31, 2013, represents th@&uons best estimate of the probable amount otksslated to appeals of claims
for which commissions were previously collectedatidition to the $18.6 million amount accrued at&uaber 31, 2014 , the
Company estimates that it is reasonably possilsieiticould be required to pay an additional amaymto approximately $5.4 million
as a result of potentially successful appeals hEcetent that required payments by the Compangezkthe amount accrued, rever
in the applicable period would be reduced by thewm of the excess.

For the year ended December 31, 2014 , the Commaahy# clients whose individual revenues exceedét dthe Company’s total
revenues. The dollar amount and percent of totaimee of each of the 4 clients is summarized irtab& below (in thousands):

Percent of
Rank 2014 Revenue total revenue
1 $53,211 27.2%
2 29,444 15.1%
3 29,171 14.9%
4 24,855 12.7%

For the year ended December 31, 2013 , the Comimaahy# clients whose individual revenues exceedét dthe Company’s total
revenues. The dollar amount and percent of totedmee of each of the 4 clients is summarized irtdbte below (in thousands):

Percent of
Rank 2013 Revenue total revenue
1 $66,820 26.2%
2 51,566 20.2%
3 42,056 16.5%
4 30,902 12.1%

For the year ended December 31, 2012 , the Commaah clients whose individual revenues exceedét dthe Company’s total
revenues. The dollar amount and percent of totedmee of each of the 5 clients is summarized irtdbte below (in thousands):
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Percent of
Rank 2012 Revenue total revenue
1 $54,130 25.8%
2 39,183 18.7%
3 29,027 13.8%
4 25,469 12.1%
5 22,397 10.7%

Revenue from the largest three customers was 53%,and 58% of total revenue in 2014 , 2013 an@®20&spectively. Accounts
receivable due from these three customers were, 3% and 63% of total trade receivables at Dece®be2014 , 2013 and 2012,
respectively. Trade accounts receivable are redoaitléhe invoiced amount and do not bear intefesbunts collected on trade
accounts receivable are included in net cash peoviny operating activities in the consolidatedestants of cash flows. The Compi
determines the allowance for doubtful accountspg®ciic identification. Account balances are chargé against the allowance after
all means of collection have been exhausted anddtential for recovery is considered remote. Tllenance for doubtful accounts
was $0.0 million for both December 31, 2014 anddbelger 31, 2013 , respectively.

(m) Net Payable to Clien

(n)

The Company nets outstanding accounts receivabbicies from an audit & recovery contract againgtgides for overturned audits.
The overturned audits are netted against currestdee on the invoice to the client when they anegssed by the client’s system.
The “Net payable to client” balance of $12.1 miflicepresents the excess of payables of $14.2 miiipoverturned audits offset by
outstanding accounts receivable of $2.1 millioDatember 31, 2014. At December 31, 2013, the niteoputstanding accounts
receivable invoices of $12.8 million was offset ingaa payable for overturned audits of $5.9 millfor a net receivable of $6.9
million , presented in Accounts receivable. The @any expects that the net payable-to client balanit®e paid to the client within
the next twelve months.

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Ass

At December 31, 2014, Prepaid expenses and othemtwassets includes $5.6 million of amounts egtith to become due from
subcontractors. The Company employs subcontrattiaagdit claims as part of an audit & recovery cactt, and to the extent that
audits by these subcontractors are overturned peadpthe fees associated with such claims areadngally refundable to the
Company. At December 31, 2014, the receivable &ssocwith estimated future overturns of subcortnaaudits was $5.6 million .
In addition, at December 31, 2014, Prepaid expeasdother current assets includes a net receigdifid.0 million for subcontractor
fees for already overturned audits refundable ¢o0Gbmpany once the Company refunds its fees toligmat as prime contractor. By
comparison, at December 31, 2013, there was aubebatractor payable under this contract of $3.Manithat was offset by a
subcontractor receivable for estimated future awag of subcontractor audits of $5.2 million , wille net asset of $1.5 million
included in Other liabilities.

(o) Legal Expenses

The Company recognizes legal fees related to tibgaas they are incurred.

(p) Comprehensive Income

The Company has no components of comprehensivenmaher than its net income. Accordingly, compreiee income is
equivalent to net income.

(q) Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company'’s financial instruments include cast @ash equivalents, accounts receivable, accoaytfe and accrued liabilities,
short-term debt and long-term debt. The carryirigesof cash and cash equivalents, accounts rdatej\a@ccounts payable, and
accrued liabilities approximate their fair valueséd on or due to their short-term maturities. ddreying values of short-term debt
and long-term debt approximate fair value, in whikir variable interest rates approximate maris.
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(r) Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under thet-assl-liability method. Deferred income tax asseid liabilities are recognized
for future tax consequences attributable to difiees between the carrying value of assets anditiiebifor financial reporting
purposes and for taxation purposes. Deferred indamassets and liabilities are measured usingitheted tax rates expected to a
to taxable income in the years in which those terapyodifferences are expected to be recoveredttiedeThe effect of a change in
tax rates on deferred income tax assets and tiabils recognized in income in the period thatudes the enactment date. Valuation
allowances are established when necessary to reldfiered tax assets to the amount expected tedbeed.

The Company recognizes the effect of income takipas only if those positions are more likely thaot of being sustained.
Recognized income tax positions are measured datest amount that is greater than 50% likelpaihg realized. Changes in
recognition or measurement are reflected in thegeén which the change in judgment occurs.

(s) Preferred Stock

The carrying amounts of preferred stock are pecaltyi increased by amounts representing dividemdurrently declared or paid,
but which would be payable under certain redempiatures. Such increases in carrying amountseaarded against retained
earnings.

(t) Stock Options

The Company accounts for its employee stock-basetbensation awards in accordance with FASB ASC dap8,Compensation —
Stock CompensatiarFASB ASC Topic 718 requires that all employeelktbased compensation is recognized as a cos¢in th
financial statements and that for equity-classifi@grds, such cost is measured at the grant dateafae of the award. The Company
estimates grant date fair value using the BlackefashMerton option-pricing model.

FASB ASC Topic 718 also requires that excess taefis recognized in equity related to stock opterrcises are reflected as
financing cash inflows. The Company recognized imnedax benefits resulting from the exercise oflstmations in 2014 , 2013 and
2012 of $ 3.2 million , $9.1 million and $0.6 mdlh , respectively.

(u) Earnings per Share

For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 201i8,dmsings per share is calculated by dividingimedme available to common
shareholders by the sum of the weighted averagédeuof common shares outstanding during the yearthe year ended December
31, 2012, basic earnings per share is calculatetiviying net income available to common sharehddy the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding during the plearthe weighted average number of shares oéS&riConvertible Preferred
Stock outstanding during the period. The SeriesoAv@rtible Preferred Stock are included in the ddsnominator because they
could be converted into common shares for no caskideration (via conversion units as further desdrin Note 7), and were thus
considered outstanding common shares in computsig kearnings per share. Diluted earnings per skaadculated by dividing net
income available to common shareholders by the htethaverage number of common shares and dilutireon shares equivalents
outstanding during the period. The Company’s comstare equivalents consist of stock options anttictedd stock units.

The following table reconciles the basic to dilutegighted average shares outstanding using theungatock method (shares in

thousands):
Years Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012
Weighted average shares outstanding — basic 48,81¢ 47,49: 43,98¢
Dilutive effect of stock options 1,01¢ 1,89¢ 3,61«
Weighted average shares outstanding — diluted 49,83 49,38¢ 47,59¢

For the year ended December 31, 2014 , the Compesiyded 2,894,018ptions from the calculation of diluted earnings gleare fo
the year ended December 31, 2014 because the $ptmmbined exercise price, unamortized fair valod excess tax benefits were
greater during the year than the average pricehtCompany's common stock because their effectdhmrianti-dilutive.

(v) Recent Accounting Pronouncements

F-11




Table of Contents

In May 2014, FASB issued an ASU that amends theB-ASC by creating a new Topic 608evenue from Contracts with Custom
The new guidance will supersede the revenue retiogmequirements in Topic 605, Revenue Recognitéord most industrgpecific
guidance on revenue recognition throughout thedtrgiuropics of the Codification. The core principlethe guidance is that an en
should recognize revenue to depict the transf@rofmised goods or services to customers in an atrthanreflects the considerat
to which the entity expects to be entitled in exadefor those goods or services. To achieve that ganciple, an entity should ap
the following steps:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer.

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in ¢batract.

Step 3: Determine the transaction price.

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the penénce obligations in the contract.
Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the erdiisfies a performance obligation.

In addition, an entity should disclose sufficientafitative and quantitative information to enabkers of financial statements
understand the nature, amount, timing and unceéytaifi revenue and cash flows arising from contraetth customers. Tt
amendments in this ASU are effective for annuabriépg periods beginning after December 15, 20dé6uiding interim periods with
that reporting period. Early adoption is not petetdt This amendment is to be either retrospectiaelgpted to each prior report
period presented or retrospectively with the cuninvgaeffect of initially applying this ASU recograd at the date of initial applicatic
We are currently evaluating the impact of the ambwpof this guidance to our consolidated finansiatements.

In June 2014, FASB issued ASU 2014-B&counting for Shar®ased Payments When the Terms of an Award Prouidé ¢
Performance Target Could Be Achieved after the RégquService Period'ASU 2014-12"). ASU 2014-2 brings consistency to 1
accounting for sharbased payment awards that require a specific pedioce target to be achieved in order for employe&scom
eligible to vest in the awards. ASU 2012-is effective for annual reporting periods (irtthg interim periods) beginning af
December 15, 2015, with early adoption permittelde &doption of this guidance will not have a matesifect on our consolidat
financial statements.

2. Acquisition

In February 2012, the Company purchased a perpstftalare license and computer equipment from H@R#n-public Florida
company, in a transaction valued at $3.7 millidie purchase agreement calls for a total of $4lllomin cash payments to be made ovel
an approximate 3 year period, beginning with atidhpayment of $0.8 million which was made in Redmy 2012, followed by quarterly
payments of $0.3 million . As part of the transawctvaluation, these payments were discounted tesept value using an estimate of our
incremental borrowing rate.

The HOPS proprietary software platform providesadatering services for government and commeriidlth plans to help identify
improper payments made to health providers, andrezgs our existing service offering in recoveryngbroper payments.

The purchase is being treated as a business cotiobifier accounting purposes; the following tablensnarizes the estimated fair values
of the assets acquired at the acquisition datth@insands):

February 1,
2012
Computer equipment $ 28C
Perpetual license 3,25(
Customer relationships 15C
Total identifiable assets acquired $ 3,68(

The acquired intangible assets will be amortizeer dkeir estimated useful lives, which are 5 arygdrs for the perpetual license and
customer relationships, respectively.

3. Property, Equipment, and Leasehold Improvement
Property, equipment, and leasehold improvementsisoof the following at December 31, 2014 and 2(da3housands):
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December 31,

2014 December 31, 2013
Land $ 1,767 $ 1,767
Building and leasehold improvements 5,96¢ 5,77:
Furniture, equipment, and automobile 5,19: 4,93
Computer hardware and software 60,22¢ 52,02:
73,15¢ 64,49!

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (45,50¢) (38,24¢)
Property, equipment and leasehold improvements, net $ 27,647 $ 26,24

Depreciation and amortization expense of propedquipment and leasehold improvements was $8.7omiJl56.9 million an5.8 million
for the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 ah? 2@spectively.

4. |dentifiable Intangible Assets
Identifiable intangible assets consist of the fellog at December 31, 2014 and 2013 (in thousands):

Gross Accumulated
December 31, 2014 Amounts Amortization Net
Amortizable intangibles:
Customer contracts and related relationships $ 62,45. $ (34,779 $ 27,67.
Perpetual license 3,31: (1,897%) 1,41¢
Total intangible assets $ 65,76« $ (36,67) $ 29,09:
Gross Accumulated
December 31, 2013 Amounts Amortization Net
Amortizable intangibles:
Customer contracts and related relationships $ 62,19¢ $ (31,689 $ 30,50¢
Perpetual license 3,25( (1,24¢) 2,00¢
Total intangible assets $ 65,44¢ $ (32,93Y) $ 32,51

For the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 atl,2mortization expense related to intangibletassmounted to $3.7 million , $3.7
million and $3.7 million , respectively.

The estimated aggregate amortization expense ébr @ahe five following fiscal years is as folloia thousands):

Year Ending December 31, Amount

2015 $ 3,80:
2016 3,76¢
2017 3,167
2018 3,09«
2019 3,09(
Thereafter 12,17:
Total $ 29,09

5. Credit Agreement

On March 19, 2012, the Company recapitalized emgdrito a credit agreement (the Agreement) comgjsif a Term A Loan of $57.0
million , a Term B Loan of $79.5 million , and avodving credit facility of $11.0 million . In conméion with the recapitalization, our old
credit facility, scheduled to mature in 2012, wasnguished, and our indebtedness on the old fgailas paid in full. As of December 31,
2011, the indebtedness on the old facility condiste$33.2 million under the Term A-2 Loan, $62Iroit under the Term B Loan aig8.2
million under the line of credit. On June 28, 20tt& Agreement was amended to increase the TerwaB to $99 million . Payments
under the Agreement are as follows (in thousands):
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Year Ending December 31, Amount

2015 $9,82(
2016 9,82(
2017 9,11¢
2018 83,03¢
Total $111,79!

Proceeds from the new Term A, Term B, and revolareglit facility borrowings were used along withrd8 million of our cash to repay
our old notes payable and line of credit in the antef $103.4 million and to redeem 3,897,000 shafeSeries A Convertible Preferred
Stock plus accrued dividends for a total of $44illion . Fees paid in conjunction with the crediraement totaled $8.1 milligrincluding
an agency fee for $1.5 million to an entity assedavith our majority stockholder, and an agreentemfrant 215,000 shares of Common
Stock valued at approximately $2.8 million to amaéstment bank acting as advisor.

Proceeds from the additional Term B borrowings wesed to redeem the remaining 1,399,000 sharesrisSA Convertible Preferred
Stock outstanding plus accrued dividends for d wft&16.3 million . Fees paid in conjunction witre credit agreement totaled $0.8
million , including an agency fee for $0.2 milliém an entity associated with our majority stockleoldRemaining proceeds of $2.3 million
were used along with existing cash to pay off the bf credit balance of $4.5 million .

The Term A Loan is charged interest either at Piisubject to a 2.5% floor) + 4.25% or LIBOR (sultjera 1.5% floor) + 5.25% , which
was 6.75% at December 31, 2014 . The Term A loguires quarterly payments of $2.5 million beginningune 2012, with the
remaining outstanding principal balance due Mar@h?017 . As of December 31, 2014 , the Term A leading balance, including the
current portion was $26.1 million .

The Term B loan is charged interest at Prime +%.{8ubject to a 2.50% floor) or LIBOR (subject t&.&0% floor) + 5.75% which was
7.25% at December 31, 2014 . The Term B loan requjuarterly payments of $0.2 million beginningime 2012, with the outstanding
principal balance due March 19, 2018 . As of Decen®d, 2014 , the Term B loan ending balance, dinlyithe current portion was $85.7
million .

The Company has a line of credit under the Agreémvbich allows for borrowings of up to $11 millioBorrowings accrue interest at
Prime + 4.25% or LIBOR + 5.25% , which was 6.75%atember 31, 2014 . Both the Prime and the LIB@&retives are subject to
minimum rate floors. In addition, a facility fee @5%is assessed on the commitment amount. There wesatatanding borrowings unc
this line of credit at December 31, 2014 , butdhene letters of credit outstanding in the amo@i$200 million , leaving remaining
borrowing capacity under the line of credit of $&dlion at December 31, 2014 . The line of credipires in March 19, 2017 .

The Agreement contains certain restrictive finahoiswenants, which require, among other thingg, weameet a minimum fixed charge
coverage ratio of 1.20 and maximum total debt téTEB\ ratio of 3.25 . Additionally, these covenaméstrict the Company and its
subsidiaries’ ability to incur certain types or amts of indebtedness, incur liens on certain assetke material changes in corporate
structure or the nature of its business, disposeatérial assets, engage in a change in contriddrdion, make certain foreign investme
enter into certain restrictive agreements, or eadagertain transactions with affiliates. We wereompliance with all such covenants at
December 31, 2014 .

The Agreement contains a prepayment provision wiredires the Company to perform an annual excess ftow computation based on
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation amutézation compared to changes in working capBaked on the results of this
computation, in May 2014 and May 2013, the Compaage payments of $11.5 million and $3.6 milliorspectively, to the lenders.

During our March 19, 2012 recapitalization, deBuance costs of $5.0 million were capitalized,udoig $1.5 millionof agent fees paid
an entity associated with our majority stockhol@derd $0.8 million paid to third parties for legaldaother services and a grant of 215,000
shares of Common Stock issued as compensationitve@stment bank acting as financial advisor valaedpproximately $2.8 million ,
based upon a price of $13 per share. These caskearg amortized to expense over the life of #w loans.

The Company capitalized an additional $0.8 millietated to our June 28, 2012 amendment to the Aggat which include®0.2 million
of agent fees paid to an entity associated withnaajority stockholders, and $0.0 million paid tadhparties for legal and other services.
Debt issuance costs are being amortized to intergnse over the life of the new loans. Accumdlai®ortization of debt issuance costs
amounted to $3.1 million at December 31, 2014 .

Debt extinguishment costs of $3.7 million were enges, including $3.3 million of fees paid to theders, and $0.3 millioof unamortize
debt issuance costs associated with the old dieddlity.
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On November 4, 2014, the Company entered into Ammemd No. 2 to its Credit Agreement (Second Amendjriarwhich certain
financial covenants were amended and additionahfifal covenants were added. Under the Second Amemiti the total debt to EBITDA
ratio, which required the Company to maintain &rat 3.25 t01.0 as of September 30, 2014 was eehis follows:

» for the computation periods ending December2814, March 31, 2015, June 30, 2015, Septembet@® and December 31,
2015, the Company must maintain a total debt toltE ratio of 5.00 t01.0

» for the computation periods ending March 31,&QiLine 30, 2016, September 30, 2016 and Decerib2036, the Company
must maintain a total debt to EBITDA ratio of 4168..0; and

» for each computation period ending March 31,7284d thereafter, the Company must maintain a tiethl to EBITDA ratio of
3.25101.0

In addition, the fixed charge coverage ratio o01t@1.0, which was in effect for every computatpmriod under the Credit Agreement as
of September 30, 2014, has been revised underetten8 Amendment to apply only to the computatiomopls ending September 30,
2014, March 31, 2017, and each computation pehieceafter.

The Second Amendment also added an interest cavea#ig, defined as the ratio of EBITDA comparednterest expense paid in cash
the computation period. Under this new financialermant, the Company is required to maintain:

e aninterest coverage ratio not to be less thah ®1.0 for the computation periods ending Decan®i, 2014, March 31, 2015,
June 30,2015, September 30, 2015, and Decemb203%; and

e aninterest coverage ratio not to be less thiah5® to1.0 for the computation period ending Magd, 2016, June 30, 2016,
September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2016.

In addition, among other things, under the SecometAdment, the Company is now required to maintammum adjusted cash balances
of $35.0 million from November 4, 2014 through Dedxer 31, 2015, and minimum adjusted cash balarfc&3000 million from January
1, 2016 through December 31, 2016. Further, undeBecond Amendment, the Company must maintain BBIfbr any trailing twelve
month period of not less than $20.0 million begigwith the month ending November 30, 2014 throtinghmonth ending December 31,
2016. Also, pursuant to the terms of the Second dmeent, the lenders are not required to make nanslor issue new letters of credit
under the Company's line of credit when the totditdo EBITDA ratio exceeds 3.25 to 1.0. Lastlydenthe Second Amendment, capital
expenditures of the Company in the years endingeBéer 31, 2014, December 31, 2015, and Decemb@0386, are not permitted to
exceed $12.5 million .

Interest charged under the Credit Agreement aseduy the Second Amendment is a function of tted tiebt to EBITDA ratio, adjusted
quarterly. When the total debt to EBITDA ratio igter than 4.0 t01.00, the Term A loan is chaigestest either at Prime + 4.75% or
LIBOR + 5.75% , while the Term B loan is chargeteiest either at Prime + 5.25% or LIBOR + 6.25%haN the total debt to EBITDA
ratio is equal to or less than 4.0 t01.00, the TArloan is charged interest either at Prime + 4.28%IBOR + 5.25% , while the Term B
loan is charged interest either at Prime + 4.75%IBOR + 5.75% .

Fees for the Second Amendment of $ 0.5 million vpeie to the lenders on November 4, 2014.

6. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company leases office facilities and certaimmgent. In August 2013, we entered into a newdeageement for office space for
approximately 15,667 square feet in Grants Passg@r. In January 2012, we renewed two of our tegslieases and entered into a new
lease agreement for approximately 6,000 squardrfaetermore, California.

Future minimum rental commitments under non-cafdelleases as of December 31, 2014 are as folloviequsands):

Year Ending December 31, Amount

2015 $ 2,29(
2016 1,93¢
2017 1,48¢
2018 66€
2019 601
Thereafter 81t
Total $ 7,791
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Lease expense was $2.9 million , $2.6 million ad$nillion for the years ended December 31, 204@13 and 2012 , respectively.

7. Capital Stock

Prior to August 15, 2012, the total number of sharfecapital stock that the Company had authoadtig$ue was 96,000,000 , consisting of
18,000,000 shares of Series A Participating Sefieferred Stock (Series A Preferred Stock), $0.q20value per share (Series A
Preferred Stock); 18,000,000 shares of Series R:&adble Senior Preferred Stock, $0.0p8d value per share (Series B Preferred St
and 60,000,000 shares of Common Stock, $0.@a®¥alue per share. On August 15, 2012, the aizfthCommon Stock was increase:
500,000,000 shares and the authorized preferre# stas increased to 50,000,000 shares.

(a) Series A Preferred Stoc

Issuance — On May 23, 2006, the Company sold 5,295,67&reshof Series A Preferred Stock to shareholdeapate of $5.6per share
receiving gross proceeds of $30,000,000 , andnoeepds of $29,925,000 after issuance costs 00$@5,

Retirement of Series of A Preferred Stock On March 19, 2012, the Company recapitalizedp#s of the recapitalization, 3,897,000
shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock wersverted into conversion units, which consistedne share of Series B Preferred
Stock and one share of Common Stock. The Seriagfiifed shares plus accrued dividends were redténeash of $44 million , and
3,897,000 shares of Common Stock were issued thaliers of the redeemed Series A Convertible PedeStock.

In June 2012, the remaining 1,399,000 shares aé$SArConvertible Preferred Stock were convertéd aonversion units of one share of
Series B Preferred Stock and one share of Comnawk Sthe shares Series B Preferred Stock plus eddividends were redeemed for
cash of $16.3 million and 1,399,000 shares of ComBitwck were issued to the holders of the redee®eeids A Convertible Preferred
Stock.

Dividends— The holders of Series A Preferred Stock werdledtio receive dividends as declared by the boédirectors. The dividends
accrued on a daily basis at the rate of 12% peumnon the sum of the Liquidation Value plus acclatad dividends and accrued and
unpaid dividends thereon from the date of issuarfitke Preferred Stock. As of December 31, 2014 Gbmpany had accrued dividends
payable of $28,248,000 recorded as an increasetBeries A Preferred Stock.

Voting — Each share of Series A Preferred Stock entitlechblder to cast a number of votes per share ¢gjtilaé number of votes that the
holder would be entitled to cast assuming that saties of Series A Preferred Stock had been cavierto shares of Common Stock.

Liguidation — In the event of any liquidation, dissolutionvanding up of the Company, before any distribut@yrpayment to holders of
Common Stock, but on parity with the holders ofi&B Preferred Stock, holders of shares of SéiBseferred Stock were entitled to be
paid an amount equal to the Liquidation Value aB$Pper share plus any accumulated or accrued but difpadends thereon. In additis
to the payments set forth above, the holders afshaf Series A Preferred Stock were entitled ttigipate, on a parity and ratably on a
per-share basis with the holders of Common Stoitk, i@spect to all such distributions or paymehtt the holders of Series A Preferred
Stock would have been entitled to receive with eespo the number of shares of Common Stock intizhwviuch holders’ shares of

Series A Preferred Stock were convertible immedligigor to any relevant record date or paymenédatconnection with liquidation,
dissolution, or winding up, but only to the extémt shares of Common Stock would have participatedich distributions or payments
(and such payment shall be junior to all equityusities of the Company that rank senior to the Camr8tock, including without

limitation the Series B Preferred Stock).

Conversion— The Series A Preferred Stock was convertible @iaversion Units (as defined below), at a ratered Conversion Unit for
one share of Series A Preferred Stock. A Converdioib consisted of (i) the number of shares of CamrStock determined by dividing
the Liquidation Value of the Series A PreferredcBtby the Conversion Price then in effect (the CamrRortion) and (ii) one share of
Series B Preferred Stock (the Series B Portionjestilto adjustments. If upon conversion there veeng unpaid, accrued, or accumulated
dividends due on the shares of Series A PreferreckSsuch dividends continued to be deferredware considered unpaid, accrued, or
accumulated dividends (as the case may be) duseoBdries B Preferred Stock.

» Optional conversion — Each share of Series AdPred Stock was convertible, at the option oftibkder thereof, into a
Conversion Unit at any time after the date of ise®aof such share.
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« Automatic conversion — Each share of Series&dPred Stock automatically could have been coadarito Conversion Units on
the date specified by written consent or agreemgtite holders of a majority of the then outstagdshares of Series A Preferred
Stock.

e Conversion price — The initial Conversion Prid¢he shares issued in May 2006 was $5.67 peeshaprder to prevent dilution
of the conversion rights granted to the holderthefSeries A Preferred Stock, the Conversion Rviee subject to adjustment fri
time to time under certain circumstances. If thenpany (i) declared a dividend on the Common Stagkaple in shares of its
capital stock (including Common Stock), (ii) subidied the outstanding Common Stock, (iii) combineel dutstanding Common
Stock into a smaller number of shares, or (iv) éssany shares of its capital stock in a reclasgifio of the Common Stock, then,
in each such case, the Conversion Price was todpogionately adjusted so that, in connection wittonversion of the shares of
Series A Preferred Stock after such date, the halflehares of Series A Preferred Stock would Hseen entitled to receive the
aggregate number and kind of shares of capitakstaigich, if the conversion had occurred immediat®ior to such date, the
holder would have owned upon such conversion aed batitled to receive by virtue of such dividesahdivision, combination,
or reclassification.

(b) Issuance of Shares of Common Stock as Compéngat

As part of the March 19, 2012 recapitalization, @w@npany issued to its financial advisor as comaiéms in connection with the debt
portion of the recapitalization 215,000 shares @@ on Stock valued at approximately $2.8 milliosdrhupon a price of $13 per share.
This amount represents debt issuance costs amihig Amortized to expense over the 5 to 6 yeapfithe loans described in Note 5.

(c) Initial Public Offering

In August 2012, the Company completed its initiablic offering (IPO) in which we issued and sol824,000 shares of Common Stock
a public offering price of $9.00 per share. The @any received net proceeds of $12.6 million afegutting underwriter discounts and
commissions of $1.0 million and other offering empes of approximately $3.6 million . In additiorfirsancial advisor to the Company
was paid $0.9 million through the issuance of 108,5hares of Common Stock valued at $9.00 per share

8. Stock-based Compensatio

(a) Stock Options

The Company established the 2004 DCS Holdings Sigtlon Plan, the DCS Holdings, Inc. 2004 Equitgdntive Plan (Performant
Financial Corporation is the new name of DCS Haidirinc.), the Performant Financial Corporation28@ock Option Plan, and the
Performant Financial Corporation 2012 Stock Inaen®lan (the Plans). Under the terms of the 2008 BIGIdings Stock Option Ple
stock options may be granted for up to 4,000,068res of the Company’s authorized but unissued Gam@&tock. The 2004 DCS
Holdings Stock Option Plan was terminated on thepetion of the Company’s initial public offering August 2012. No shares of
our common stock are available under our 2004 S@tion Plan other than for satisfying exercisestotk options granted under 1
plan prior to termination.

Under the terms of the DCS Holdings, Inc. 2004 Bgincentive Plan, incentive and nonqualified stopitions, stock bonuses, and
rights to acquire restricted stock may be grantedip to 3,600,000 shares of the Company’s autbdrbut unissued Common Stock.
Options granted under the DCS Holdings, Inc. 20§dity Incentive Plan generally vest over a fouratyperiod. The Company'DCS
Holdings, Inc. 2004 Equity Incentive Plan was teratéd on the completion of its initial public offeg in August 2012. No shares of
our common stock are available under our 2004 Edndentive Plan other than for satisfying exersieéstock options granted under
this plan prior to termination.

Under the terms of the Performant Financial Corpamna2007 Stock Option Plan, incentive and nondjigalistock options may be
granted for up to 4,000,000 shares of the Compaawythorized but unissued Common Stock. Optionstgdaunder the Performant
Financial Corporation 2007 Stock Option Plan gelhexest over a five -year period. Performant FiciahCorporation 2007 Stock
Option Plan was terminated on the completion offitsal public offering in August 2012. No sharesour common stock are
available under our 2007 Stock Option Plan othan tlor satisfying exercises of stock options grdnteder this plan prior to
termination.

The terms of the Performant Financial Corporatiéh2Stock Incentive Plan provide for the grantifignoentive stock options within
the meaning of Section 422 of the Code to emplogeeshe granting of nonstatutory stock optionstrigted stock, stock appreciati
rights, stock unit awards and cash-based awaresfoyees, non-
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employee directors and consultants. The Companydsasved 4,300,000 shares of common stock undeét@h2 Plan. Options
granted under the Performant Financial Corporaidt? Stock Incentive Plan generally vest over mriaf four or five -years.

The exercise price of incentive stock options shafierally not be less than 100% of the fair mavkéite of the Common Stock
subject to the option on the date that the opsagranted. The exercise price of nonqualified stymtions shall generally not be less
than 85% of the fair market value of the Commorckt&ubject to the option on the date that the opBgyranted. Options issued
under the Plans have a maximum term of 10 yearsvesicover schedules determined by the board e€fdirs. Options issued under
the Plans generally provide for immediate vestihgrivested shares in the event of a sale of thepaom

Total stock-based compensation expense chargeadaages and benefits expense in the consolidatddreents of operations was $3.7
million , $3.0 million and $1.6 million for the yemended December 31, 2014 , 2013, and 2012 ectgely.

The following table sets forth a summary of ourcktoption activity for the year ended December 31:

Weighted
Weighted average
average remaining Aggregate
Outstanding exercise price contractual life Intrinsic Value
Options per share (Years) (in thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 5,664,751 $ 0.8C 5.20
Granted 2,549,10! 10.3Z
Forfeited (29,077 7.9¢
Exercised (285,059 0.61
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 7,909,72. 3.8¢ 5.89
Granted 313,60( 11.8¢
Forfeited (102,38) 10.0¢
Exercised (2,908,12) 0.6C
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 5,212,82 6.03 6.62
Granted 254,00( 9.6¢
Forfeited (410,625 10.5:
Exercised (1,032,81) 0.62
Outstanding at December 31, 2014 4,023,38. $ 7.1¢€ 6.41 $ 7,641
Vested, exercisable, and expected to #est
December 31, 2014 3,980,111 $ 7.1€ 6.38 $ 7,634
Exercisable at December 31, 2014 2,475,86! $ 5.32 547 $ 7,51(

(1) Options expected to vest reflect an estimated itorferate

The weighted-average grant-date exercise priceook®ptions granted during the years ended DeceBhe2014 , 2013 and 2012
was $9.69 , $11.85 and $10.32 , respectively, Ilp@res The aggregate intrinsic value of our stodioog (the amount by which the
market price of the stock on the date of exercimeeded the exercise price of the option) exerdiseuhg the years ended
December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , was $8.8 mijlit81.3 million and $2.9 million , respectiveMt December 31, 2014 , 2013 ,
and 2012 , there was $7.5 million , $10.5 millierd&12 million , respectively, of unrecognized &tbased compensation expense
related to non-vested stock-based compensationgamaents, which the Company expects to recogniee aweighted-average
period of 2.74 years as stock-based compensatipensg.

Net cash proceeds from the exercise of stock opticere $0.6 million , $1.8 million and $0.2 millidluring 2014, 2013 and 2012,
respectively. For the years ended December 31, 22043 and 2012 , we realized a $3.2 million 13$8illion and $0.6 million tax
benefit from the exercise of stock options, respebt.

The fair value of each option grant was estimat@dguithe Black-Scholes option pricing model. Expdotolatilities are calculated
based on the historical volatility data of compéegi®eer companies over a term comparable to thecteg term of the options issued.
The expected term of the award is determined basdhbe average of the vesting term and the coni@htérm. Management monitors
share option exercise and employee terminatioripetto estimate forfeiture rates within the vatramodel. Separate groups of
employees that have similar groups of employeés sithilar historical exercise behavior are congdeseparately for valuation
purposes.
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We estimated the fair value of options grantedgisiBlack-Scholes option pricing model with thddeling assumptions:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Expected volatility 51.0% 54.2% 48.3%
Expected dividends —% —% —%
Expected term (years) 6.1 6.2 6.5
Risk-free interest rate 1.9% 1.5% 1.0%
Weighted-average estimated fair value of optiomsitgd during the year $4.85 $6.23 $5.22

Valuation and Amortization MethodHe Company estimates the fair value of stock ogtigranted using the Black-Scholes-Merton
option pricing model. The fair value is then ammet on a straight line basis over the requisiteiseperiods of the awards, which is
generally the vesting period. Stock options typgychhve a ten year life from the grant date andinggeriods of four to five years.
The fair value of the Company’s common stock iseblasn the market price of the stock on the datganft.

Expected Term Fhe Company’s expected term represents the pdraidhe Company’s stock-based awards are expextas t
outstanding. For awards granted subject only teigevesting requirements, the Company utilizessihwlified method under the
provisions of FASB ASC 718-10-S99-1 (Staff AccoungtBulletin No. 107) for estimating the expecteatef the stockased awarc

Expected Volatility -Because there is insufficient history of the Conyastock price returns, the Company lacks suffittastorical
volatility data for its equity awards. Accordinglipe Company calculates the expected volatilitphgisi composite made up of
comparable peer companies and an approximate 38%basty weighting over a term comparable to the ebgukterm of the options
issued.

Expected Dividend Fhe Company has never paid dividends on its comshanes and currently does not intend to do so. riacgly,
the dividend yield percentage is zero for all pasio

Risk-Free Interest Rate Fhe risk-free interest rate used in the Black Sehehluation method is based on the U.S. Treasurstant
maturity interest rate whose term is consisten Wit expected life of our stock options.

(b) Restricted Stock Unit
The following table summarizes restricted stock antivity for the year ended December 31:

Weighted

average

Number of grant date

Awards fair value
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 = $ =
Granted 5,26: 10.5¢
Forfeited — —
Vested and converted to shares — —
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 526: $ 10.5¢
Granted 488,54! 9.27
Forfeited (30,900 9.2¢
Vested and converted to shares (1,31¢) 10.5¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2014 461,59: $ 9.2¢
Expected to vest at December 31, 2014 43851  $ 9.2¢

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, there was $ 3.5omilind $0.1 million of compensation expense yéteaecognized related to non-
vested restricted stock units. The unrecognize@rs@ as of December 31, 2014 is expected to bgnmizea over the remaining
weighted-average vested period of 3.3 years . 1aBtiinone of the restricted stock units vestedhdutie years ended December 31,
2014 and 2013, respectively. Restricted stock wrasted under the Performant Financial Corpora2idh? Stock Incentive Plan
generally vest over periods between
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one and four years. The company did not realizetaxypenefits related to the restricted stock whitsng the year ended December
31, 2014 and 2013.

9. Employee Benefit Plan

The Company has a 401(k) Salary Deferral PlanFtha) covering all full-time employees who have wetain service requirements.
Employees may contribute a portion of their salgwyto the maximum limit established by the IntefRalvenue Code for such plans.
Employer contributions are discretionary. No matghtontributions were made during 2014, 2013 ari?20

10. Income Taxes
The Company’s income tax expense (benefit) considtse following (in thousands):

2014 2013 2012
Current:
Federal $ 6,80z $ 21,52¢ $ 15,14:
State 2,60( 5,14¢ 3,47(
9,40z 26,67 18,61:
Deferred:
Federal $ (1,625 $ (86€) $ (1,599
State (78) (842) (227)
(1,709 (1,709 (1,826
Total Expense (Benefit) $ 7,69¢ $ 24967 $ 16,78¢

A reconciliation of the income tax expense caladaising the applicable federal statutory rateéheactual income tax expense for the
years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 201 Xdd@ss:

2014 2013 2012

Federal income at the statutory rate 35% 35% 35%
State income tax, net of federal benefit 10% 5% 5%
Permanent differences 2% 1% 2%
Other (2)% —% —%
45 % 41% 42%

The following table summarizes the components ef@ompany’s deferred tax assets and liabilitiesf @&ecember 31, 2014 , and 20113
thousands):
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2014 2013
Deferred tax assets:
Bad debt reserve $ 13 8 13
Vacation accrual 68t 1,02(
Nonqualified stock options 3,05¢ 1,52¢
Debt issuance costs 643 84¢
Acquisition costs 63C 15¢
State tax deferral 934 1,47¢
Deferred revenue 273 352
State tax credits 30t 29C
Net operating loss 11C 47
Estimated liability for appeals 5,31z 4,27
Other 304 11¢
Total deferred tax assets 12,26¢ 10,12:
Valuation allowance (349 (147)
Total deferred tax assets net of valuation alloweanc 11,92( 9,97¢
Deferred tax liabilities:
Identifiable intangible assets (10,227 (12,176
Fixed assets (5,732 (4,547
Other (22 (22
Total deferred tax liabilities (15,98)) (15,747
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (4,060) $ (5,76%)

The Company believes that it is more likely thahthat the results of future operations will getersufficient taxable income to realize
the deferred tax assets, except for certain saateredits. Income tax expense is allocated ttisidiaries included in the consolidated
tax return on the basis of the subsidiaries’ stalote tax provision.

The Company has a valuation allowance of approxp&0.3 million and $0.1 million , as of Decemi3dr, 2014and December 31, 201
respectively, primarily related to California emqtgse zone tax credits for which it is not moreelikthan not that the tax benefit will be
realized.

The Company has state tax credits of $0.3 millishich, due to the Assembly Bill 93 and Senate ®llsigned on July 11, 2013, are now
limited to a 10 year carryforward, and will expine2024. The Company has state net operating msgforwards of $0.4 million which
expire in 2020 .

The following table reconciles the Company’s unmgired tax benefits as of December 31, 2014 fremritecognized tax benefits as of
December 31, 2012 (in thousands):

Unrecognized tax benefits balance at December@®I2 2 $ 27¢
Increase related to prior year tax positions 357
Increase related to current year tax positions 49
Settlements (139
Unrecognized tax benefits balance at December @3 2 54¢€
Increase related to prior year tax positions 444
Decrease related to prior year tax positions (42
Unrecognized tax benefits balance at December@®4 2 $ 94¢

At December 31, 2014 and 2013 , we had approxim&@P million and $0.5 milliomf unrecognized tax benefits, respectively. We dt
expect any significant change in unrecognized &nefits during the next twelve months. The Compaaprds interest expense and
penalties related to unrecognized tax benefitadgorine tax expense. The amount of accrued intei@snat material at December 31, 201¢
and 2013, respectively. No penalties were recaghia 2014 or accrued at December 31, 2014 , afhd B8spectively. Unrecognized tax
benefits of approximately 0.9 million which, if gnized, would favorably affect the Company’s efifecincome tax rate.
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The Company files federal and state income taxmsturor years before 2010, the Company is no iosigigiect to California, Texas, and
certain state state tax examinations. For tax lpefore 2011, the Company is no longer subject theFad and certain other state tax
examinations.

11. Related Party Transactions

Our notes payable, both before and after the readagition of March 19, 2012, are held by a numifdenders, some of whom also
invested in and held our stock during 2012 and 28%3a result, these entities are considered iblaaeties. Interest expense under these
arrangements totaled $10.3 million and $11.1 rmlkior the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2@kpectively, and the debt
extinguishment expense associated with the redapiian totaled $3.3 million for the year endedcember 31, 2012 .

In an agreement dated April 13, 2012 , the Compartiyan affiliate of Parthenon Capital Partners teated an existing advisory services
agreement, which called for quarterly paymentsCi $nillion . As part of the April 13, 2012 termiian agreement, the Company agreed
to pay Parthenon Capital $1.3 million in equal ¢erdy installments of $0.1 million beginning in Ap2012, provided that the remaining
balance will become due and payable immediatelywdbpe closing of an IPO or the sale of the Compadimg. Company paid two quarterly
installments of $0.1 million and paid the remainbajance of $1.1 million on August 15, 2012, theedhe IPO closed. In addition, the
agreement specifies that the affiliate will be dufee equal to 1% of the aggregate gross procdeds|®O offering or 1%f the aggregat
consideration paid in connection with the salehef Company, as applicable. The Company expensedad®0.9 million to Parthenon
Capital Partners in August 2012 upon successfsimpof the IPO.

12. Other Commitments and Contingencies

(&) Trust Funds

The Company collects principal and interest paysant collection costs on defaulted loans for wericontracting agencies. Cash
collections for some of the Company’s customershatd in trust in bank accounts controlled by tlmpany. The Company remits trust
funds to the contracting agencies on a regulasb@tie amount of cash held in trust and the relébdity are separated from and not
included in the Company’s assets and liabilitiessiCheld in trust for customers totaled $9.7 milimd $1.1 million abecember 31, 20:
and 2013, respectively.

(b) Litigation

The Company, during the ordinary course of its aflens, has been named in various legal suits ks, several of which are still
pending. In the opinion of management and the Coryipdegal counsel, such legal actions will not @amaterial effect on the
Company'’s financial position or results of operasi@r cash flows.

13. Subsequent Events

On January 28, 2015, we entered into an AgreenmehPéan of Merger (“Merger Agreement”) with Premiidgalthcare Exchange, Inc., a
Delaware corporation (“PHX"), pursuant to which, ®RmMould become our wholly-owned indirect subsidiarpe Merger Agreement
contains customary closing conditions, includingiptetion of a financing by us to fund the considierapayable under the terms of the
Merger Agreement. The purchase price under thgdtekgreement is approximately $108 million in gaslibject to certain adjustments,
and certain PHX stockholders will also exchangeeshéor $22 million of our common stock. We alsaldobe obligated to pay up to an
additional $19.1 million in cash pursuant to ameat arrangement based on PHX in revenues in 2D4%anuary 28, 2015 we announcec
proposed concurrent public offerings of $80 milleaggregate principal amount of convertible senaes due 2020 and $50 million of
shares of our common stock to finance the casliomoof the consideration payable under the Merggre@ment. On January 30, 2015, we
announced our decision to withdraw the proposedipuofferings of convertible senior notes and conmstock. The Merger Agreement is
currently terminable by either us or PHX withouhplty, except that we are obligated to pay an espéermination fee of $750,000 in the
event the merger is not completed due to our faitarcomplete the required financing of the consitien payable under the Merger
Agreement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regitthas duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theoedly authorized.

PERFORMANT FINANCIAL CORPORATION

By: /sl Lisa C. Im
Lisa C. Im
Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 12, 2015
POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pemsbose signature appears below constitutes anairgpp.isa C. Im
and Hakan L. Orvell, and each of them, his or hex aind lawful attorneys-in-fact, each with fulMper of substitution, for him or her in any
and all capacities, to sign any amendments taréipisrt on Form 10-K and to file the same, with &éxithereto and other documents in
connection therewith, with the Securities and ExggaCommission, hereby ratifying and confirmingthdt each of said attorneys-in-fact or
their substitute or substitutes may do or caudetdone by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélptihe following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities@mthe dates indicated.

Name Title Date
/sl Lisa C. Im Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Offige March 12, 2015
Lisa C. Im and Board Chair
/sl Hakan L. Orvell Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and March 12, 2015
Hakan L. Orvell Accounting Officer)
/s/ Todd R. Ford Director March 12, 2015
Todd R. Ford
/s/ Brian P. Golson Director March 12, 2015

Brian P. Golson

/sl Bradley F. Fluegel Director March 12, 2015
Bradley F. Fluegel

/s/ Bruce Hansen Director March 12, 2015
Bruce Hansen

/s/ William D. Hansen Director March 12, 2015
William D. Hansen
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SCHEDULE Il - VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 aril 201

Allowance for doubtful accounts (in thousands):

Balance at Additions
Beginning of Charged Balance at
Description Period against Revenue Recoveries Charge-offs End of Period
2014 $ 32 — — — % 32
2013 $ 65 — 2 (35 $ 32
2012 $ 77 — 2 (14) $ 65

Estimated allowance and liability for appeals — RB@nhtract (in thousands):

Additions Appeals found
Balance at Charged in Providers Balance at
Description Beginning of against Revenue Favor End of Period
2014 $ 16,44 8,62¢ (6,442 $ 18,62¢ *
2013 $ 5,57 12,79: (1,925 $ 16,44% *
2012 $ 934 8,58¢ (3,94¢) $ 5,571 *

*

Includes $0 , $1,160 and $1,199 related to gtermted allowance for appeals that apply to uectdid accounts receivable as of 2014,
2013 and 2012, respectively.
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Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Regist (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1¢(b)he Company's Registration
Statement on Form S-1/A filed July 30, 2012)

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Registranb(parated by reference to Exhibit 3.2(b) to the @any's Registration Statement
on Form S-1/A filed July 23, 2012)

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agee¢ dated as of August 15, 2012, among the Regtsand the persons listed
thereon (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.the Company's Registration Statement on FormASilbd July 23, 2012)

Form of Indemnification Agreement betweenRegjistrant and its officers and directors (incoaped by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Company's Registration Statement omFa/A filed July 30, 2012)

2004 Equity Incentive Plan and form of agreets thereunder (incorporated by reference to Exhih2 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed July 3,20

2004 DCS Holdings Stock Option Plan and fofragreements thereunder (incorporated by referemEghibit 10.3 to the
Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1 {fildd 3, 2012)

2007 Stock Option Plan and form of agreemingiseunder (incorporated by reference to Exhiditt o the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed July Z8,2)

Recovery Audit Contractor contract by andveein Diversified Collection Services, Inc. and @erfior Medicare and Medicaid
Services dated as of October 3, 2008, as amendeatfiorated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Gany's Registration
Statement on Form S-1/A filed July 23, 2012)

Credit Agreement, dated as of March 19, 28¢2nd among DCS Business Services, Inc., thedrsraharty Hereto, Madison
Capital Funding LLC, and ING Capital (incorporatadreference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company's Regfien Statement on
Form S-1/A filed July 23, 2012)

Form of Change of Control Agreement, as amérfthcorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 ® @ompany's Registration
Statement on Form S-1/A filed July 30, 2012)

Employment Agreement between the Registrahiisa Im, dated as of April 15, 2012, as amen@ezbrporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.8 to the Company's Registration StatemerForm S-1/A filed July 23, 2012)

Employment Agreement between the Registrachtlan D. Shaver dated as of March 31, 2003, asd@ade(incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company's RedistnaStatement on Form S-1/A filed July 23, 2012)

Repurchase Agreement between the Registnantisa C. Im dated as of July 3, 2012 (incorpatddy reference to Exhibit 10.10
to the Company's Registration Statement on Fornfigd. July 3, 2012)

Repurchase Agreement between the Registnanlon D. Shaver dated as of July 3, 2012 (incated by reference to Exhibit
10.11 to the Company's Registration Statement omf3:1 filed July 3, 2012)

Director Nomination Agreement between thgi®eant and Parthenon DCS Holdings, LLC datedfdsiky 20, 2012
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to @mnpany's Registration Statement on Form S-1/Al filely 23, 2012)

Advisory Services Agreement between DiviediCollection Services, Inc. and Parthenon CagdifaC dated as of January 8,
2004, as amended (incorporated by reference tdbiEx.13 to the Company's Registration Statemaerffarm S-1/A filed July



23, 2012)

10.14 Termination of the Advisory Services Agreatrteetween Diversified Collection Services, Incd &arthenon Capital, LLC dated
as of January 8, 2004, as amended, dated as dfi8p2012 (incorporated by reference to Exhibitl0to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed July 231 2)

10.15 2012 Stock Incentive Plan*
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Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement Credit Agreetnéated as of March 19, 2012, by and among DC$Bss Services,
Inc., the Lenders party thereto, Madison Capitaidiing LLC, and ING Capital*

Amendment No. 2 to Credit Agreement, datedféNovember 4, 2014, by and among Performantri&ssi Services, Inc., the
Lenders thereto, and Madison Capital Funding Lli@drporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to thenpany's Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q filed November 10, 2014)

List of Subsidiaries

Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Registeredi®éizcounting Firm

Powers of Attorney (included in the signatuageto this report)

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification, exedwy Lisa C. Im

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification, exedby Hakan L. Orvell

Furnished Statement of the Chief Executivic&funder 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
Furnished Statement of the Chief Financi&iice&f under 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
XBRL Instance Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Scheme

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linldea

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition LinklgaBocument

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Ladeh

* Filed herewith
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PERFORMANT FINANCIAL CORPORATION
2012 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN

(Adopted by the Board of Directors daly 20, 2012)
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PERFORMANT FINANCIAL CORPORATION

2012 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN
SECTION 1.ESTABLISHMENT AND PURPOSE.

The Plan was adopted by the Board of Directorsubn20, 2012, and shall be effective immediately prior to
time when the Company’s registration statementamFS-1 in respect of the initial offering of Staokthe public (the
“Registration Statement”) is declared effectivetly Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Effeddate”). The
purpose of the Plan is to promote the long-terntassg of the Company and the creation of stockhalaee by (a)
encouraging Employees, Outside Directors and Ctarsislto focus on critical long-range objectivés,gncouraging
the attraction and retention of Employees, OutBittectors and Consultants with exceptional quadiiiens and (c)
linking Employees, Outside Directors and Consufiatitectly to stockholder interests through inceebstock
ownership. The Plan seeks to achieve this purppgedviding for Awards in the form of restrictedasbs, stock units,



options (which may constitute incentive stock opsi@r nonstatutory stock options) or stock appteriaights.
SECTION 2.DEFINITIONS.

(@) “Affiliate” shall mean any entity other than a Subsidianhaef@ompany and/or one or more Subsidiarie:
own not less than 50% of such entity.

(b) “Award” shall mean any award of an Option, a SAR, a Réstri8hare or a Stock Unit or a Cash-Based
Award under the Plan.

(c) “Board of Directors” shall mean the Board of Directors of the Compasyanstituted from time to time.

(d) «Cash-Based Awardshall mean an Award that entitles the Participameteive a cash-denominated
payment.

(e) “Change in Control”shall mean the occurrence of any of the followingrds:

(1) A change in the composition of the Board ofdgtors occurs, as a result of which fewer than or
half of the incumbent directors are directors witbes:

(A) Had been directors of the Company on the “look-ldeatie” (as defined below) (the
“original directors”); or

(B) Were elected, or nominated for election, to therBad Directors with the affirmative
votes of at least a majority of the aggregate efdhiginal directors who were still in office aettime of
the election or nomination and the directors whalsetion or nomination was previously so approved
(the “continuing directors”);

provided, howevethat for this purpose, the “original directors” dicdntinuing
directors” shall not include any individual whoséial assumption of office occurred as a result
of an actual or threatened election contest wipeet to the election or removal of directors or
other actual or threatened solicitation of proxiesonsents, by or on behalf of a person other
the Board of Directors; or

(i) Any “person” (as defined below) who by thegadsition or aggregation of securities, is or
becomes the “beneficial owner” (as defined in RLBd-3 under the Exchange Act), directly or
indirectly, of securities of the Company represem®0% or more of the combined voting power
of the Company’s then outstanding securities ordinéand apart from rights accruing under
special circumstances) having the right to voteledtions of directors (the “Base Capital Stg¢k”
except that any change in the relative benefichalarship of the Company’s securities by any
person resulting solely from a reduction in theraggte number of outstanding shares of Base
Capital Stock, and any decrease thereafter in gadon’s ownership of securities, shall be
disregarded until such person increases in any eradirectly or indirectly, such person’s
beneficial ownership of any securities of the Comypar

(i)  The consummation of a merger or consolidatod the Company or a Subsidiary of the Compan
with or into another entity or any other corponaerganization, if persons who were not
stockholders of the Company immediately prior tohrsmerger, consolidation or other
reorganization own immediately after such mergensolidation or other reorganization 50% or
more of the voting power of the outstanding semsibf each of (A) the Company (or its
successor) and (B) any direct or indirect parermpa@tion of the Company (or its successor); ot

(iv)  The sale, transfer or other disposition dfoalsubstantially all of the Comparsyasset

For purposes of subsection (e)(i) above, the téowk“back” date shall mean the later of (1) theeEfive Date



or (2) the date 24 months prior to the date ofetent that may constitute a Change in Control.

For purposes of subsection (e)(ii)) above, the tgrenson” shall have the same meaning as wheniased
Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act ball gxclude (1) a trustee or other fiduciary hotglsecurities under
an employee benefit plan maintained by the ComparayParent or Subsidiary and (2) a corporationemfirectly or
indirectly by the stockholders of the Company ibstantially the same proportions as their ownershipe Stock.

Any other provision of this Section 2(e) notwithredeng, a transaction shall not constitute a Chandg&ontrol if
its sole purpose is to change the state of the @agip incorporation or to create a holding comptat will be owned
in substantially the same proportions by the pessamo held the Company’s securities immediatelpteesuch
transaction, and a Change in Control shall notdeted to occur if the Company files a registrasimement with the
United States Securities and Exchange Commissioiméainitial or secondary public offering of seities or debt of
the Company to the public.

(H “Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, anded.

(g) “Committee” shall mean the Compensation Committee as desigbgtdte Board of Directors, which is
authorized to administer the Plan, as describ&guntion 3 hereof.

(h) “Company” shall mean Performant Financial Corporation, a Wata corporation.

() “Consultant” shall mean a consultant or advisor who provideslime services to the Company, a Pal
a Subsidiary or an Affiliate as an independent i@atbr (not including service as a member of tharBmf Directors)
or a member of the board of directors of a Pareat®ubsidiary, in each case who is not an Employee

() “Employee” shall mean any individual who is a common-law empéoof the Company, a Parent, a
Subsidiary or an Affiliate.

(k) “Exchange Act’shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934naasnded.

()  “Exercise Price” shall mean, in the case of an Option, the amountfach one Share may be purchased
upon exercise of such Option, as specified in g@ieable Stock Option Agreement. “Exercise Pride,the case of a
SAR, shall mean an amount, as specified in theegipe SAR Agreement, which is subtracted fromRheg Market
Value of one Share in determining the amount pa&yapbn exercise of such SAR.

(m) “Fair Market Value” with respect to a Share, shall mean the marke¢ mfione Share, determined by the
Committee as follows:

0] If the Stock was traded over-the-counter andhte in question, then the Fair Market Valuelsha
be equal to the last transaction price quoteddoh slate by the OTC Bulletin Board or, if not so
guoted, shall be equal to the mean between thedpstted representative bid and asked prices
guoted for such date by the principal automateeridealer quotation system on which the Stocl
is quoted or, if the Stock is not quoted on anyhssystem, by the Pink Quote system;

(i) If the Stock was traded on any establisheglsexchange (such as the New York Stock
Exchange, The Nasdaq Global Market or The Nasdahab5elect Market) or national market
system on the date in question, then the Fair Markkie shall be equal to the closing price
reported for such date by the applicable exchanggsiem; and

(i) If none of the foregoing provisions is apgble, then the Fair Market Value shall be deteeahin
by the Committee in good faith on such basis dedms appropriate.

In all cases, the determination of Fair Market \édy the Committee shall be conclusive and bindimgll persons.

(n) “ISO” shall mean an employee incentive stock option desdrin Section 422 of the Code.



(0) “Nonstatutory Option”or “NSO” shall mean an employee stock option that is ndSé&n

(p) “Offeree” shall mean a person to whom the Committee haseaffére right to acquire Shares under the
Plan (other than upon exercise of an Option).

(q) “Option” shall mean an ISO or Nonstatutory Option grantegeuthe Plan and entitling the holder to
purchase Shares.

() “Optionee” shall mean a person who holds an Option or SAR.

(s) “Outside Director” shall mean a member of the Board of Directors vghaot a commoaw employee o
or paid consultant to, the Company, a Parent arsigiary.

(t) “Parent” shall mean any corporation (other than the Compemgh unbroken chain of corporations
ending with the Company, if each of the corporaiother than the Company owns stock possessingob@abre of
the total combined voting power of all classestotk in one of the other corporations in such chaicorporation that
attains the status of a Parent on a date afteadbption of the Plan shall be a Parent commendargf auch date.

(u) “Participant” shall mean a person who holds an Award.

(v) “Performance Based Awardhall mean any Restricted Share Award, Stock Uniawl or Cash-Based
Award granted to a Participant that is intendedualify as “performance-based compensatiamder Section 162(m)
the Code.

(w) “Plan” shall mean this 2012 Stock Incentive Plan of Pertort Financial Corporation, as amended fron
time to time.

(x) “Purchase Price”shall mean the consideration for which one Sharg Imeaacquired under the Plan (othe
than upon exercise of an Option), as specifiechbyGommittee.

(y) “Restricted Share”shall mean a Share awarded under the Plan.

(z) “Restricted Share Agreemenshall mean the agreement between the Company anddipient of a
Restricted Share which contains the terms, comditaond restrictions pertaining to such Restrictear&s.

(aa) “SAR” shall mean a stock appreciation right granted utigePlan.

(bb) “SAR Agreementshall mean the agreement between the Company a@gtioonee which contains the
terms, conditions and restrictions pertaining tdri her SAR.

(cc) “Service” shall mean service as an Employee, Consultant tsidguDirector, subject to such further
limitations as may be set forth in the Plan ordpplicable Award agreement. Service does not textaiwhen an
Employee goes on a bona fide leave of absencewtmbpproved by the Company in writing, if thenterof the leave
provide for continued Service crediting, or whemtomued Service crediting is required by applicdble. However, fo
purposes of determining whether an Option is eatitb ISO status, an Employee’s employment wilirbated as
terminating three months after such Employee warleave, unless such Employee’s right to returactove work is
guaranteed by law or by a contract. Service tertegg any event when the approved leave endssaislech
Employee immediately returns to active work. Therpany determines which leaves of absence counttb@ervice,
and when Service terminates for all purposes utidePlan.

(dd) “Share” shall mean one share of Stock, as adjusted in @aooe with Section 12 (if applicable).
(ee) “Stock” shall mean the Common Stock of the Company.

(ff)  “Stock Option AgreementShall mean the agreement between the Company a@gteoonee that contains
the terms, conditions and restrictions pertainmguch Option.



(gg) “Stock Unit” shall mean a bookkeeping entry representing thepaongis obligation to deliver one She
(or distribute cash) on a future date in accordawitethe provisions of a Stock Unit Agreement.

(hh)  “Stock Unit Agreementshall mean the agreement between the Company anddipient of a Stock
Unit which contains the terms, conditions and restns pertaining to such Stock Unit.

(i)  “Subsidiary” shall mean any corporation, if the Company andha @ more other Subsidiaries own not
less than 50% of the total combined voting powealbtlasses of outstanding stock of such corponath corporation
that attains the status of a Subsidiary on a d&te the adoption of the Plan shall be consider&dlasidiary
commencing as of such date.

() “Total and Permanent Disability’shall mean any permanent and total disability disel@ by Section 22
(e)(3) of the Code.

SECTION 3. ADMINISTRATION.

@) Committee CompositianThe Plan shall be administered by a Committe®iapgd by the Board of
Directors or by the Board of Directors acting as @ommittee. The Committee shall consist of two or
more directors of the Company. In addition, toek&ent required by the Board of Directors, the
composition of the Committee shall satisfy (i) suefuirements as the Securities and Exchange
Commission may establish for administrators actinder plans intended to qualify for exemption unde
Rule 16b-3 (or its successor) under the Exchangeahd (i) such requirements as the Internal Raeen
Service may establish for outside directors aatinder plans intended to qualify for exemption under
Section 162(m)(4)(C) of the Code.

(b) Committee for Non-Officer GrantsThe Board of Directors may also appoint one orevsgparate
committees of the Board of Directors, each compadathe or more directors of the Company who r
not satisfy the requirements of Section 3(a), wiay mdminister the Plan with respect to Employees wi
are not considered officers or directors of the @any under Section 16 of the Exchange Act, maytgra
Awards under the Plan to such Employees and ma&yrdete all terms of such grants. Within the
limitations of the preceding sentence, any refezganthe Plan to the Committee shall include such
committee or committees appointed pursuant to tbegaling sentence. To the extent permitted by
applicable laws, the Board of Directors may alsthartize one or more officers of the Company to
designate Employees, other than officers underi@eté of the Exchange Act, to receive Awards ar
to determine the number of such Awards to be receby such persons; provided, however, that the
Board of Directors shall specify the total numbeAwards that such officers may so award.

(c) Committee ProceduresThe Board of Directors shall designate one ofntieenbers of the Committee as
chairman. The Committee may hold meetings at sundstand places as it shall determine. The acts o
majority of the Committee members present at mgstat which a quorum exists, or acts reduced to ol
approved in writing (including via email) by all @wonittee members, shall be valid acts of the
Committee.

(d) Committee ResponsibilitieSSubject to the provisions of the Plan, the Cortaaishall have full authori
and discretion to take the following actions:

(v) To interpret the Plan and to apply its provisi
(vi)  To adopt, amend or rescind rules, procedures anasfeelating to the Pla

(vii) To adopt, amend or terminate sub-plans distadd for the purpose of satisfying applicable
foreign laws including qualifying for preferred teneatment under applicable foreign tax laws;

(viii) To authorize any person to execute, on lifebfaathe Company, any instrument required to carry



out the purposes of the Plan;
(ix)  To determine when Awards are to be granted undePlan
(x) To select the Offerees and Option

(xi)  To determine the type of Award and the numtife8hares or amount of cash to be made subjec
to each Award,

(xii)  To prescribe the terms and conditions ofteAgvard, including (without limitation) the Exereis
Price and Purchase Price, and the vesting or duarafithe Award (including accelerating the
vesting of Awards, either at the time of the Awardhereafter, without the consent of the
Participant), to determine whether an Option ibdalassified as an ISO or as a Nonstatutory
Option, and to specify the provisions of the agreetmelating to such Award;

(xiii) To amend any outstanding Award agreemembjexct to applicable legal restrictions and to the
consent of the Participant if the Participant’sitgyor obligations would be materially impaired;

(xiv) To prescribe the consideration for the grain¢ach Award or other right under the Plan and to
determine the sufficiency of such consideration;

(xv)  To determine the disposition of each Awaratirer right under the Plan in the event of a
Participant’s divorce or dissolution of marriage;

(xvi) To determine whether Awards under the Plahlve granted in replacement of other grants und
an incentive or other compensation plan of an aequusiness;

(xvii) To correct any defect, supply any omissionreconcile any inconsistency in the Plan or any
Award agreement;

(xvii) To establish or verify the extent of sdéistion of any performance goals or other condgion
applicable to the grant, issuance, exercisabiiggting and/or ability to retain any Award; and

(xix) To take any other actions deemed necessary oradudeifor the administration of the Pl

Subject to the requirements of applicable law,Gbenmittee may designate persons other than merobdre
Committee to carry out its responsibilities and megscribe such conditions and limitations as iy m@em appropriat
except that the Committee may not delegate itsoaifyhwith regard to the selection for participatiof or the granting
of Awards under the Plan to persons subject toi@edtb of the Exchange Act. All decisions, intetpt®ns and other
actions of the Committee shall be final and bindingall Participants and all persons deriving thigints from a
Participant. No member of the Committee shall Bbl& for any action that he has taken or has fadddke in good
faith with respect to the Plan or any Award undher Plan.

(e)  Amendment or Cancellation and-grant of Stock AwardsNotwithstanding any contrary provision of
the Plan, neither the Board of Directors nor anyn@uitee, nor their designees, shall have the aityhor
to: (i) amend the terms of outstanding Options ARS to reduce the Exercise Price thereof, or énael
outstanding Options or SARs with an Exercise Patoeve the current Fair Market Value per Share in
exchange for another Option, SAR or other Awardesmthe stockholders of the Company have
previously approved such an action or such acetates to an adjustment pursuant to Section 12.

SECTION 4.ELIGIBILITY.

(@) General Rule Only common-law employees of the Company, a Rarnea Subsidiary shall be eligible
for the grant of ISOs. Only Employees, Consultamis Outside Directors shall be eligible for thengra
of Restricted Shares, Stock Units, Nonstatutoryidogt SARs or Cash-Based Awards.



(b)

(€)

(d)

Ten-Percent Stockholderg&\n Employee who owns more than 10% of the todahlsined voting power
of all classes of outstanding stock of the Compariyarent or Subsidiary shall not be eligible Far t
grant of an ISO unless such grant satisfies theiregents of Section 422(c)(5) of the Code.

Attribution Rules. For purposes of Section 4(b) above, in deterrgistock ownership, an Employee
shall be deemed to own the stock owned, directinpdirectly, by or for such Employee’s brothers,
sisters, spouse, ancestors and lineal descen&otk owned, directly or indirectly, by or for a
corporation, partnership, estate or trust shatléemed to be owned proportionately by or for its
stockholders, partners or beneficiaries.

Outstanding StockFor purposes of Section 4(b) above, “outstandtogk” shall include all stock
actually issued and outstanding immediately aftergrant. “Outstanding stock” shall not includersisa
authorized for issuance under outstanding optietd by the Employee or by any other person.

SECTION 5.STOCK SUBJECT TO PLAN.

(@)

(b)

()

Basic Limitation. Shares offered under the Plan shall be authobmédnissued Shares or treasury
Shares. The aggregate number of Shares authode&stiance as Awards under the Plan shall not
exceed 4,300,000 (the “Absolute Share Limit”). Huenber of Shares that may be delivered in the
aggregate pursuant to the exercise of ISOs gramtéedr the Plan shall not exceed the Absolute Share
Limit plus, to the extent allowable under Secti@2 4f the Code and the Treasury Regulations
promulgated thereunder, any Shares that becomkbleaior issuance under the Plan pursuant to &t
5(c). The limitations of this Section 5(a) shalldagject to adjustment pursuant to Section 12. The
number of Shares that are subject to Options @rdtlwards outstanding at any time under the Plaii
not exceed the number of Shares which then renvaiifalle for issuance under the Plan. The Compar
shall at all times reserve and keep available @efit Shares to satisfy the requirements of the.Pla

Section 162(m) Award LimitatiarNotwithstanding any contrary provisions of tharRland subject to
the provisions of Section 12, with respect to apji@h or SAR that is intended to qualify as
“performance-based compensation” under Sectionmpaf the Code, no Participant may receive
Options or SARs under the Plan in any calendar fedrrelate to an aggregate of more than 2,000,00(
Shares. To the extent required by Section 162(nhefCode or the regulations thereunder, in apglyin
the foregoing limitation with respect to a Partamp, if any Option or SAR is canceled, the canceled
Option or SAR shall continue to count against treximum number of Shares with respect to which
Options and SARs may be granted to the Particifpamtthis purpose, the repricing of an Option oIRSA
shall be treated as the cancellation of the exygbption or SAR and the grant of a new Option oRSA

Additional Share. If Restricted Shares or Shares issued upon theeige of Options are forfeited, then
such Shares shall again become available for Awandsr the Plan. If Stock Units, Options or SARs al
forfeited or terminate for any reason before bargrcised or settled, or an Award is settled ifmcas
without the delivery of Shares to the holder, taeg Shares subject to the Award shall again become
available for Awards under the Plan. Only the nundfeShares (if any) actually issued in settlenant
Awards (and not forfeited) shall reduce the nundy&ilable in Section 5(a) and the balance shaihaga
become available for Awards under the Plan. Any&hwavithheld to satisfy the grant or exercise poic
tax withholding obligation pursuant to any Awardbfagain become available for Awards under the
Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisionshagtSection 5(c), Shares that have actually besreds
shall not again become available for Awards underRlan, except for Shares that are forfeited and d
not become vested.

SECTION 6.RESTRICTED SHARES.

(@)

Restricted Stock Agreeme. Each grant of Restricted Shares under the Plalhlsh evidenced by a
Restricted Stock Agreement between the recipietttlae Company. Such Restricted Shares shall be
subject to all applicable terms of the Plan and tmagubject to any other terms that are not inctersi



(b)

()

(d)

(€)

with the Plan. The provisions of the various Rettd Stock Agreements entered into under the Plan
need not be identical.

Payment for Award. Restricted Shares may be sold or awarded undd?ldn for such consideration as
the Committee may determine, including (withoutitation) cash, cash equivalents, full-recourse
promissory notes, past services and future setrvices

Vesting. Each Award of Restricted Shares may or may natugect to vesting. Vesting shall occur, in
full or in installments, upon satisfaction of thenditions specified in the Restricted Stock AgreetnA
Restricted Stock Agreement may provide for accederaesting in the event of the Participant’'s death
disability or retirement or other events. The Cotteal may determine, at the time of granting Restlic
Shares or thereafter, that all or part of suchitéstl Shares shall become vested in the evenathat
Change in Control occurs with respect to the Compan

Voting and Dividend RightsThe holders of Restricted Shares awarded unédrldm shall have the
same voting, dividend and other rights as the Caryigaother stockholders. A Restricted Stock
Agreement, however, may require that the holdeRedftricted Shares invest any cash dividends
received in additional Restricted Shares. Suchtatadil Restricted Shares shall be subject to theesa
conditions and restrictions as the Award with respe which the dividends were paid.

Restrictions on Transfer of Shal. Restricted Shares shall be subject to such rigfhtspurchase, rights
of first refusal or other restrictions as the Coitv@@ may determine. Such restrictions shall béostt in

the applicable Restricted Stock Agreement and sipgily in addition to any general restrictions timaty

apply to all holders of Shares.

SECTION 7.TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF OPTIONS.

(@)

(b)

()

(d)

(€)

Stock Option AgreemenEach grant of an Option under the Plan shalMideaced by a Stock Option
Agreement between the Optionee and the Company Sption shall be subject to all applicable terms
and conditions of the Plan and may be subject yoo#imer terms and conditions which are not
inconsistent with the Plan and which the Committeems appropriate for inclusion in a Stock Option
Agreement. The Stock Option Agreement shall spagifgther the Option is an ISO or an NSO. The
provisions of the various Stock Option Agreememitee=d into under the Plan need not be identical.

Number of Share. Each Stock Option Agreement shall specify the lbemof Shares that are subject to
the Option and shall provide for the adjustmergwafh number in accordance with Section 12.

Exercise Price. Each Stock Option Agreement shall specify ther&ige Price. The Exercise Price of an
ISO shall not be less than 100% of the Fair Maxatie of a Share on the date of grant, except as
otherwise provided in 4(c), and the Exercise Poicen NSO shall not be less 100% of the Fair Market
Value of a Share on the date of grant. Notwithstanthe foregoing, Options may be granted with an
Exercise Price of less than 100% of the Fair Mavkatie per Share on the date of grant pursuant to a
transaction described in, and in a manner congigti¢éim, Section 424(a) of the Code. Subject to the
foregoing in this Section 7(c), the Exercise Proeer any Option shall be determined by the Conasitt
in its sole discretion. The Exercise Price shalphgable in one of the forms described in Section 8

Withholding Taxes As a condition to the exercise of an Option,@pionee shall make such
arrangements as the Committee may require foratigfaction of any federal, state, local or foreign
withholding tax obligations that may arise in coctnen with such exercise. The Optionee shall also
make such arrangements as the Committee may rdquitee satisfaction of any federal, state, lawal
foreign withholding tax obligations that may ariseconnection with the disposition of Shares aceplir
by exercising an Option.

Exercisability and Terr. Each Stock Option Agreement shall specify the edtien all or any installme



(f)

(9)

(h)

(i)

()

(k)

of the Option is to become exercisable. The Stoghad@ Agreement shall also specify the term of the
Option; provided that the term of an ISO shall imavent exceed 10 years from the date of grarg (fiv
years for ISOs granted to Employees described ¢tidde4(b)). A Stock Option Agreement may provide
for accelerated exercisability in the event of @@ionee’s death, disability, or retirement or oteeents
and may provide for expiration prior to the endtsfterm in the event of the termination of the
Optionees Service. Options may be awarded in combinatidh #ARs, and such an Award may pro
that the Options will not be exercisable unlessréh@ted SARs are forfeited. Subject to the foregan
this Section 7(e), the Committee at its sole dismneshall determine when all or any installmenaof
Option is to become exercisable and when an Oiemexpire.

Exercise of Option. Each Stock Option Agreement shall set forth tkterd to which the Optionee shall
have the right to exercise the Option followingrieration of the Optionee’s Service with the Company
and its Subsidiaries, and the right to exercisetpgon of any executors or administrators of the
Optionee’s estate or any person who has acquigd@ption(s) directly from the Optionee by bequest
or inheritance. Such provisions shall be determingtle sole discretion of the Committee, needb®ot
uniform among all Options issued pursuant to tleanPand may reflect distinctions based on the reaso
for termination of Service.

Effect of Change in Contr. The Committee may determine, at the time of gngrean Option or
thereafter, that such Option shall become exerlgsabto all or part of the Shares subject to €otion
in the event that a Change in Control occurs wapect to the Company.

No Rights as a Stockhold. An Optionee, or a transferee of an Optionee| $laale no rights as a
stockholder with respect to any Shares coveredd@ption until the date of the issuance of a stock
certificate for such Shares. No adjustments sleathbde, except as provided in Section 12.

Modification, Extension and Renewal of Opti. Within the limitations of the Plan, the Committeay
modify, extend or renew outstanding options or megept the cancellation of outstanding optionsh#
extent not previously exercised), whether or nanggd hereunder, in return for the grant of newidDgt
for the same or a different number of Shares atldeasame or a different Exercise Price, or inrrefar
the grant of a different Award for the same orféedent number of Shares. The foregoing
notwithstanding, no modification of an Option shalithout the consent of the Optionee, materially
impair his or her rights or obligations under s@jttion.

Restrictions on Transfer of Shai. Any Shares issued upon exercise of an Optiort BBadubject to suc
special forfeiture conditions, rights of repurchasghts of first refusal and other transfer retions as
the Committee may determine. Such restrictiond sleaset forth in the applicable Stock Option
Agreement and shall apply in addition to any gelmestrictions that may apply to all holders of &%

Buyout Provision. The Committee may at any time (a) offer to buyfoua payment in cash or cash
equivalents an Option previously granted or (bhatize an Optionee to elect to cash out an Option
previously granted, in either case at such timekssg:d upon such terms and conditions as the
Committee shall establish.

SECTION 8.PAYMENT FOR SHARES.

(@)

(b)

General Rule The entire Exercise Price or Purchase Price afedhissued under the Plan shall be
payable in lawful money of the United States of Aiiceeat the time when such Shares are purchased,
except as provided in Section 8(b) through Se@i@) below.

Surrender of StockTo the extent that a Stock Option Agreement swiges, payment may be made all
or in part by surrendering, or attesting to the exship of, Shares which have already been owneteyy
Optionee or his representative. Such Shares shaihlued at their Fair Market Value on the daterwhe
the new Shares are purchased under the Plan. Timn@g shall not surrender, or attest to the ovmpers



of, Shares in payment of the Exercise Price if saation would cause the Company to recognize
compensation expense (or additional compensatiparese) with respect to the Option for financial
reporting purposes.

(c) Services Renderedt the discretion of the Committee, Shares magwarded under the Plan in
consideration of services rendered to the CompamaySubsidiary. If Shares are awarded without the
payment of a Purchase Price in cash, the Comnsitiakk make a determination (at the time of the
Award) of the value of the services rendered byQfferee and the sufficiency of the consideratimn t
meet the requirements of Section 6(b).

(d) Cashless ExerciseTo the extent that a Stock Option Agreement swiges, payment may be made all
or in part by delivery (on a form prescribed by @@mmittee) of an irrevocable direction to a sd@si
broker to sell Shares and to deliver all or parthefsale proceeds to the Company in payment of the
aggregate Exercise Price.

(e) Exercise/Pledg. To the extent that a Stock Option Agreement swigdes, payment may be made all or
in part by delivery (on a form prescribed by ther@aittee) of an irrevocable direction to a secusitie
broker or lender to pledge Shares, as securitg foan, and to deliver all or part of the loan geds to
the Company in payment of the aggregate Exercise Pr

() Net Exercise To the extent that a Stock Option Agreement swides, by a “net exercise” arrangement
pursuant to which the number of Shares issuable egercise of the Option shall be reduced by thgekt whole
number of Shares having an aggregate Fair Markleie\that does not exceed the aggregate exercise (plus tax
withholdings, if applicable) and any remaining lvea of the aggregate exercise price (and/or ajyédax
withholdings) not satisfied by such reduction ie ttumber of whole Shares to be issued shall behyaikde Optionee |
cash other form of payment permitted under thelS@uation Agreement.

(9) Promissory Not«. To the extent that a Stock Option Agreement stiged Stock Agreement so
provides, payment may be made all or in part bivdehg (on a form prescribed by the Company) & fu
recourse promissory note.

(h)  Other Forms of Paymentlo the extent that a Stock Option Agreement astifged Stock Agreement
provides, payment may be made in any other formisheonsistent with applicable laws, regulationd a
rules.

(1) Limitations under Applicable La. Notwithstanding anything herein or in a Stock i@ptAgreement or
Restricted Stock Agreement to the contrary, paymeay not be made in any form that is unlawful, as
determined by the Committee in its sole discretion.

SECTION 9.STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS.

(@) SAR AgreementEach grant of a SAR under the Plan shall be exele by a SAR Agreement between
the Optionee and the Company. Such SAR shall beduo all applicable terms of the Plan and may b
subject to any other terms that are not incondistéh the Plan. The provisions of the various SAR
Agreements entered into under the Plan need niolelgical.

(b) Number of Share. Each SAR Agreement shall specify the number @fr&hto which the SAR pertains
and shall provide for the adjustment of such nunib@ccordance with Section 12.

(©) Exercise Price. Each SAR Agreement shall specify the ExerciseeP?iihe Exercise Price of a SAR s
not be less than 100% of the Fair Market Value 8hare on the date of grant. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, SARs may be granted with an ExerciseeRuf less than 100% of the Fair Market Value per
Share on the date of grant pursuant to a transaedéscribed in, and in a manner consistent withti@e
424(a) of the Code. Subject to the foregoing is $ection 9(c), the Exercise Price under any SAH sh



(d)

(€)

(f)

(9)

(h)

be determined by the Committee in its sole disoreti

Exercisability and Terr. Each SAR Agreement shall specify the date whieor @ny installment of the
SAR is to become exercisable. The SAR Agreemerit alsa specify the term of the SAR. A SAR
Agreement may provide for accelerated exercisghilithe event of the Optionee’s death, disabity
retirement or other events and may provide forrtjoin prior to the end of its term in the eventlod
termination of the Optionee’s service. SARs maypwarded in combination with Options, and such an
Award mayprovide that the SARs will not be exercisable unlia® related Options are forfeited. A S.
may be included in an ISO only at the time of gtauntmay be included in an NSO at the time of goa
thereafter. A SAR granted under the Plan may peothat it will be exercisable only in the eventof
Change in Control.

Effect of Change in Contr. The Committee may determine, at the time of gngra SAR or thereatfter,
that such SAR shall become fully exercisable adltGommon Shares subject to such SAR in the ever
that a Change in Control occurs with respect taGbmpany.

Exercise of SAR. Upon exercise of a SAR, the Optionee (or any@ehaving the right to exercise the

SAR after his or her death) shall receive fromGenpany (a) Shares, (b) cash or (c) a combination o
Shares and cash, as the Committee shall deterfirieeamount of cash and/or the Fair Market Value o
Shares received upon exercise of SARs shall, iagigeegate, be equal to the amount by which the Fa
Market Value (on the date of surrender) of the 8haubject to the SARs exceeds the Exercise Price.

Modification or Assumption of SAI. Within the limitations of the Plan, the Committeay modify,
extend or assume outstanding SARs or may accepttieellation of outstanding SARs (whether gra
by the Company or by another issuer) in returrtiergrant of new SARs for the same or a different
number of shares and at the same or a differemtiggeprice, or in return for the grant of a diféfet
Award for the same or a different number of Shafég. foregoing notwithstanding, no modificationeof
SAR shall, without the consent of the holder, matigrimpair his or her rights or obligations undsrch
SAR.

Buyout Provision. The Committee may at any time (a) offer to buyfoua payment in cash or cash
equivalents a SAR previously granted, or (b) autigoan Optionee to elect to cash out a SAR prelyous
granted, in either case at such time and based sypdnterms and conditions as the Committee shall
establish.

SECTION 10.STOCK UNITS.

(@)

(b)

(€)

(d)

Stock Unit AgreementEach grant of Stock Units under the Plan sha#h\bdenced by a Stock Unit
Agreement between the recipient and the Compargh Stock Units shall be subject to all applicable
terms of the Plan and may be subject to any o#rerd that are not inconsistent with the Plan. The
provisions of the various Stock Unit Agreementseesd into under the Plan need not be identical.

Payment for Award. Stock Units may be awarded under the Plan fdn soasideration as the
Committee may determine. Cash payment need nadhered.

Vesting Conditions Each Award of Stock Units may or may not be stiifje vesting. Vesting shall
occur, in full or in installments, upon satisfactiof the conditions specified in the Stock Unit Agment
A Stock Unit Agreement may provide for acceleratedting in the event of the Participant’s death,
disability or retirement or other events. The Cottee may determine, at the time of granting Stock
Units or thereafter, that all or part of such Stalkts shall become vested in the event that a Gdam
Control occurs with respect to the Company.

Voting and Dividend RightsThe holders of Stock Units shall have no votiigits. Prior to settlement
or forfeiture, any Stock Unit awarded under thenRtaay, at the Committee’s discretion, carry with it



(e)

(f)

(9)

right to dividend equivalents. Such right entitlles holder to be credited with an amount equalltceast
dividends paid on one Share while the Stock Unuitstanding. Dividend equivalents may be converte
into additional Stock Units. Settlement of divideaglivalents may be made in the form of cash,en th
form of Shares, or in a combination of both. Ptadistribution, any dividend equivalents which ace
paid shall be subject to the same conditions asigicgons (including without limitation, any foitare
conditions) as the Stock Units to which they attach

Form and Time of Settlement of Stock U. Settlement of vested Stock Units may be madkarfarm

of (a) cash, (b) Shares or (c) any combinationadh pas determined by the Committee. The actual
number of Stock Units eligible for settlement maylérger or smaller than the number included in the
original Award, based on predetermined performdacwrs. Methods of converting Stock Units into
cash may include (without limitation) a method lthea the average Fair Market Value of Shares over
series of trading days. A Stock Unit Agreement mpiyvide that vested Stock Units may be settled in &
lump sum or in installments. A Stock Unit Agreemaray provide that the distribution may occur or
commence when all vesting conditions applicablinéStock Units have been satisfied or have lapsec
or it may be deferred to any later date, subjecbtapliance with Section 409A. The amount of a
deferred distribution may be increased by an isteigctor or by dividend equivalents. Until an Advanf
Stock Units is settled, the number of such Stockd shall be subject to adjustment pursuant toi@ect
12.

Death of Recipier. Any Stock Units Award that becomes payable dfterrecipient’s death shall be
distributed to the recipierst’beneficiary or beneficiaries. Each recipient &tack Units Award under ti
Plan shall designate one or more beneficiarieghisrpurpose by filing the prescribed form with the
Company. A beneficiary designation may be changefilibg the prescribed form with the Company at
any time before the Award recipient’s death. Ifaemeficiary was designated or if no designated
beneficiary survives the Award recipient, then &bgck Units Award that becomes payable after the
recipient’s death shall be distributed to the rixifs estate.

Creditors’ Rights A holder of Stock Units shall have no rights ottiean those of a general creditor of
the Company. Stock Units represent an unfundeduasdcured obligation of the Company, subject to
the terms and conditions of the applicable Stock Bgreement.

SECTION 11.CASH-BASED AWARDS

The Committee may, in its sole discretion, grangélf€Based Awards to any Participant in such number o
amount and upon such terms, and subject to sudtitoors, as the Committee shall determine at time tf grant and
specify in an applicable Award agreement. The Catemishall determine the maximum duration of thelzRased
Award, the amount of cash which may be payableyaunisto the Cash-Based Award, the conditions uploictiwthe
Cash-Based Award shall become vested or payahlldesuoh other provisions as the Committee shallrohebe. Each
Cash-Based Award shall specify a cash-denominagohent amount, formula or payment ranges as detechby the
Committee. Payment, if any, with respect to a Cdaked Award shall be made in accordance with ttmestef the
Award and may be made in cash or in shares of S&acthe Committee determines.

SECTION 12 ADJUSTMENT OF SHARES.

(@)

Adjustment:. In the event of a subdivision of the outstanditgck, a declaration of a dividend payable
in Shares, a declaration of a dividend payableforma other than Shares in an amount that has arrat
effect on the price of Shares, a combination osobdation of the outstanding Stock (by reclasatiimn
or otherwise) into a lesser number of Shares, @pitadization, a spin-off or a similar occurrenttes
Committee shall make appropriate and equitablesaujents in:

0] The number of Shares available for future Awardseursection *

(i) The limitations set forth in Sections 5(a) anddbyl Section 1:



(i)  The number of Shares covered by each outstandiraydsvan
(iv)  The Exercise Price under each outstanding A\

(b) Dissolution or Liquidatior. To the extent not previously exercised or seti@gtions, SARs and Stock
Units shall terminate immediately prior to the dission or liquidation of the Company.

(c) Reorganization. In the event that the Company is a party to egereor other reorganization,
outstanding Awards shall be subject to the agreéwmfanerger or reorganization. Subject to complenc
with Section 409A of the Code, such agreement ginallide for:

(iv)  The continuation of the outstanding Awardstbg Company, if the Company is a surviving
corporation;

(v) The assumption of the outstanding Awards lgystrviving corporation or its parent or
subsidiary;

(vi)  The substitution by the surviving corporationits parent or subsidiary of its own awardstfe
outstanding Awards;

(vii)  Immediate vesting, exercisability and settlent of outstanding Awards followed by the
cancellation of such Awards upon or immediatelppto the effectiveness of such transactior

(viii) Settlement of the intrinsic value of thetetanding Awards (whether or not then vested or
exercisable) in cash or cash equivalents or eduitjuding cash or equity subject to deferred
vesting and delivery consistent with the vestirgjrietions applicable to such Awards or the
underlying Shares) followed by the cancellatioswth Awards (and, for the avoidance of doubit
if as of the date of the occurrence of the trangathe Committee determines in good faith that
no amount would have been attained upon the exeofisuch Award or realization of the
Participant’s rights, then such Award may be teated by the Company without payment); in
each case without the Participant’s consent. Aglecation of payment of an amount that is
subject to section 409A of the Code will be delgykdecessary, until the earliest time that such
payment would be permissible under Section 409Aauit triggering any additional taxes
applicable under Section 409A.

The Company will have no obligation to treat all &ws, all Awards held by a Participant, or all Adar
of the same type, similarly.

(d) Reservation of Righ. Except as provided in this Section 12, a Pawigishall have no rights by reason
of any subdivision or consolidation of shares otktof any class, the payment of any dividend gr an
other increase or decrease in the number of sbésteck of any class. Any issue by the Company of
shares of stock of any class, or securities coikerinto shares of stock of any class, shall rfifgtca, anc
no adjustment by reason thereof shall be maderegpect to, the number or Exercise Price of Shares
subject to an Award. The grant of an Award purstathe Plan shall not affect in any way the right
power of the Company to make adjustments, reclaa8dns, reorganizations or changes of its capital
business structure, to merge or consolidate orstotve, liquidate, sell or transfer all or anytpafrits
business or assets. In the event of any changetiafiehe Shares or the Exercise Price of Sharlgesu
to an Award, including a merger or other reorgaize for reasons of administrative convenience, th
Company in its sole discretion may refuse to peth@texercise of any Award during a period of up to
thirty (30) days prior to the occurrence of suchray

SECTION 13.DEFERRAL OF AWARDS.

(@) Committee PowersSubject to compliance with Section 409A of thal€ahe Committee (in its sole



(b)

discretion) may permit or require a Participant to:

0] Have cash that otherwise would be paid to deatticipant as a result of the exercise of a SAR ¢
the settlement of Stock Units credited to a deteo@mpensation account established for such
Participant by the Committee as an entry on the [@my’'s books;

(i) Have Shares that otherwise would be delivecesiuch Participant as a result of the exercisanof
Option or SAR converted into an equal number otistdnits; or

(i)  Have Shares that otherwise would be delidaieesuch Participant as a result of the exerdiseno
Option or SAR or the settlement of Stock Units cemed into amounts credited to a deferred
compensation account established for such Pantitipathe Committee as an entry on the
Company’s books. Such amounts shall be determipedfbrence to the Fair Market Value of
such Shares as of the date when they otherwisedviawle been delivered to such Participant.

General Rules A deferred compensation account established uhdeSection 13 may be credited with
interest or other forms of investment return, aemheined by the Committee. A Participant for whom
such an account is established shall have no raghts than those of a general creditor of the Camgp
Such an account shall represent an unfunded amturezl obligation of the Company and shall be
subject to the terms and conditions of the applecalgreement between such Participant and the
Company. If the deferral or conversion of Awardpesmitted or required, the Committee (in its sole
discretion) may establish rules, procedures andgqgrertaining to such Awards, including (without
limitation) the settlement of deferred compensatiooounts established under this Section 13.

SECTION 14 AWARDS UNDER OTHER PLANS.

The Company may grant awards under other plansogrgms. Such awards may be settled in the form of
Shares issued under this Plan. Such Shares shadldted for all purposes under the Plan like Shssued in
settlement of Stock Units and shall, when issuediice the number of Shares available under Sestion

SECTION 15.PAYMENT OF DIRECTOR 'S FEES IN SECURITIES

(@)

(b)

(€)

Effective Date. No provision of this Section 15 shall be effeetiwnless and until the Board of Directors
has determined to implement such provision.

Elections to Receive NSOs, SARs, Restricted Sbha&isck Units. To the extent permitted by the Bo:
of Directors, an Outside Director may elect to reednis or her annual retainer payments and/or imget
fees from the Company in the form of cash, NSOR§ARestricted Shares or Stock Units, or a
combination thereof, as determined by the Boardiodctors. Alternatively, the Board of Directors yna
mandate payment in any of such alternative formshNSOs, SARs, Restricted Shares and Stock Un
shall be issued under the Plan. An election urfderSection 15 shall be filed with the Company los t
prescribed form.

Number and Terms of NSOs, SARs, Restricted Shagteak Units. If permitted or mandated by the
Board of Directors, the number of NSOs, SARs, Rastit Shares or Stock Units to be granted to Oe
Directors in lieu of annual retainers and meetiggsfthat would otherwise be paid in cash shall be
calculated in a manner determined by the Boardiddibrs. The terms of such NSOs, SARs, Restricte
Shares or Stock Units shall also be determinedhéyBbard of Directors.

SECTION 16 LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS.

Shares shall not be issued under the Plan unlessdhance and delivery of such Shares complids(aftis
exempt from) all applicable requirements of lavglilding (without limitation) the Securities Act 8933, as amended,
the rules and regulations promulgated thereunthte securities laws and regulations and the régankof any stock
exchange on which the Company’s securities may liieelisted, and the Company has obtained the appoov



favorable ruling from any governmental agency wtittd Company determines is necessary or advisahée.
Company shall not be liable to a Participant oeotbersons as to: (a) the non-issuance or salba€eS as to which the
Company has not obtained from any regulatory baulyriy jurisdiction the authority deemed by the Camygs
counsel to be necessary to the lawful issuancesaledof any Shares under the Plan; and (b) angalagequences
expected, but not realized, by any Participanttbeioperson due to the receipt, exercise or settieiof any Award
granted under the Plan.

SECTION 17.TAXES.

(@) General. To the extent required by applicable federatestacal or foreign law, a Participant or his or
her successor shall make arrangements satisfaotting Company for the satisfaction of any
withholding tax obligations that arise in connentigith the Plan. The Company shall not be requiced
issue any Shares or make any cash payment undetaheintil such obligations are satisfied.

(b)  Share Withholding The Committee may permit a Participant to satdlfyr part of his or her
withholding or income tax obligations by having thempany withhold all or a portion of any Shares
that otherwise would be issued to him or her oslnyendering all or a portion of any Shares thatre
she previously acquired. Such Shares shall be dattheir Fair Market Value on the date when taxes
otherwise would be withheld in cash. In no eveny m#articipant have Shares withheld that would
otherwise be issued to him or her in excess ohtimber necessary to satisfy the minimum legally
required tax withholding.

(©) Section 409A

Each Award that provides for “nonqualified defercamnpensation” within the meaning of Section 4094Ahe
Code shall be subject to such additional rulesragdirements as specified by the Committee frone tiontime in orde
to comply with Section 409A. If any amount undectsan Award is payable upon a “separation fromiset\ywithin
the meaning of Section 409A) to a Participant whthen considered a “specified employee” (withi theaning of
Section 409A), then no such payment shall be made tp the date that is the earlier of (i) six ntmand one day aft
the Participant’s separation from service, ortfig Participant’s death, but only to the extenhsdelay is necessary to
prevent such payment from being subject to intepestalties and/or additional tax imposed purst@Stection 409A.
In addition, the settlement of any such Award malybe accelerated except to the extent permitte8Bdayion 409A.

SECTION 18.0OTHER PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO AWARDS.

(@) Transferability. Unless the agreement evidencing an Award (or amdment thereto authorized by the
Committee) expressly provides otherwise, no Awaehted under this Plan, nor any interest in such
Award, may be sold, assigned, conveyed, giftedlgad, hypothecated or otherwise transferred in any
manner (prior to the vesting and lapse of any dingstrictions applicable to Shares issued undehs
Award), other than by will or the laws of descend alistribution; provided, however, that an ISO rba
transferred or assigned only to the extent congistéh Section 422 of the Code. Any purported
assignment, transfer or encumbrance in violatiothisf Section 18(a) shall be void and unenforceable
against the Company.

(b) Substitution and Assumption of Awardghe Committee may make Awards under the Plan by
assumption, substitution or replacement of stodloop, stock appreciation rights, stock units amikir
awards granted by another entity (including a Rasesubsidiary), if such assumption, substituton
replacement is in connection with an asset acquisistock acquisition, merger, consolidation onitar
transaction involving the Company (and/or its PaogrSubsidiary) and such other entity (and/or its
affiliate). Notwithstanding any provision of theaRl(other than the maximum number of Shares that
be issued under the Plan), the terms of such askisubstituted or replaced Awards shall be as the
Committee, in its discretion, determines is appedpr

(c) Qualifying Performance CriteriaThe number of Shares or other benefits granssded, retainable



and/or vested under an Award may be made subj¢leetattainment of performance goals. The
Committee may utilize any performance criteria cielé by it in its sole discretion to establish
performance goals; provided, however, that in teeof any Performance Based Award, the following
conditions shall apply:

(i) The amount potentially available under an Awardldiesubject to the attainment of pre-
established, objective performance goals relatrg $pecified period of service based on one oembthe
following performance criteria: (a) cash flow, @grnings per share, (c) earnings before inteeststand
amortization, (d) return on equity, (e) total stealder return, (f) share price performance, (ginebn capital,
(h) return on assets or net assets, (i) revenuac@me or net income, (k) operating income orapetrating
income, (l) operating profit or net operating ptofim) operating margin or profit margin, (n) retwn operating
revenue, (0) return on invested capital, (p) maskgiment shares, (q) costs, (r) expenses, (s)ategubody
approval for commercialization of a product, orifftplementation or completion of critical proje€tQualifying
Performance Criteria”), any of which may be meagwiéher individually, alternatively or in any comation,
applied to either the Company as a whole or tosaness unit or Subsidiary, either individually gatatively or
in any combination, and measured either annuallyuarulatively over a period of years, on an abgohasis or
relative to a pre-established target, to previcee'y results or to a designated comparison grougpdex, in
each case as specified by the Committee in the d&ywar

(i)  Unless specified otherwise by the Committee atithe the performance goals are established ol
otherwise within the time prescribed by Section(bh§2of the Code, the Committee shall appropriageljust th
method of evaluating performance under a Qualiffegformance Criteria for a performance periodolews:
(i) to exclude asset write-downs, (ii) to excludmgation or claim judgments or settlements, ({i@)exclude the
effect of changes in tax law, accounting princiglesther such laws or provisions affecting repibresults, (iv
to exclude accruals for reorganization and restiruag programs, (v) to exclude any extraordinargnegurring
items as determined under generally accepted atingurinciples and/or described in managemesitgtussio
and analysis of financial condition and result®pérations appearing in the Company’s annual report
stockholders for the applicable year, (vi) to edeldhe dilutive effects of acquisitions or jointweres, (vii) to
assume that any business divested by the Compéaigvad performance objectives at targeted levalsduhe
balance of a performance period following such slitere, (viii) to exclude the effect of any charnigehe
outstanding shares of common stock of the Compamgdison of any stock dividend or split, stock repase,
reorganization, recapitalization, merger, consaiha spin-off, combination or exchange of shanestber
similar corporate change, or any distributionsammon stockholders other than regular cash divislefx) to
exclude the effects of stock based compensationhendward of bonuses under the Company’s bonus;pla
and (x) to exclude costs incurred in connectiomibtential acquisitions or divestitures that aguired to be
expensed under generally accepted accounting plasciin each case in compliance with Section 1§2(m

(i)  The Committee shall establish the applicable peréarce goals in writing and an objective
method for determining the Award earned by a Paditt if the goals are attained, while the outcasne
substantially uncertain and not later than th€ @8y of the performance period (but in no eventr&&% of the
period of service with respect to which the perfante goals relate has elapsed), and shall deteantheertify
in writing, for each Participant, the extent to ahthe performance goals have been met prior tommpayor
vesting of the Award,;

(iv) The Committee may not in any event increase theuatnaf compensation payable under the Pla
upon the attainment of the pre-established perfoomagoals to a Participant who is a “covered engsdy
within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code] a

(v) The maximum aggregate number of Shares that mauliject to Performance Based Awards
granted to a Participant in any calendar yearG®8@000 Shares (subject to adjustment under Set#prand
the maximum aggregate amount of cash that may yebpeato a Participant under Performance Based dsvar
granted to a Participant in any calendar yeardhatCash-Based Awards is $10,000,000.

SECTION 19NO EMPLOYMENT RIGHTS.



No provision of the Plan, nor any Award grantedemttie Plan, shall be construed to give any peasgrright
to become, to be treated as, or to remain an Employ Consultant. The Company and its Subsidiaessrve the right
to terminate any person’s Service at any time anamy reason, with or without notice.

SECTION 20.DURATION AND AMENDMENTS.

(@) Term of the Plan The Plan, as set forth herein, shall terminateraatically on July 19, 2022, and may
be terminated on any earlier date pursuant to stibsgb) below.

(b) Right to Amend or Terminate the Pl. The Board of Directors may amend or terminatePtaa at any
time and from time to time. Rights and obligatiamsler any Award granted before amendment of the
Plan shall not be materially impaired by such amesmnt, except with consent of the Participant. An
amendment of the Plan shall be subject to the appos the Company’s stockholders only to the ekten
required by applicable laws, regulations or rules.

(c) Effect of Terminatiol. No Awards shall be granted under the Plan dfietérmination thereof. The
termination of the Plan shall not affect Awardsviwasly granted under the Plan.

[Remainder of this page intentionally left blank]

SECTION 21 EXECUTION.

To record the adoption of the Plan by the BoarDioéctors, the Company has caused its authorizéckoto
execute the same.

Performant Financial Corporation

By /s/ Hakan L. Orvell

Name Hakan L. Orvell

Title Chief Financial Officer

PERFORMANT FINANCIAL CORPORATION
2012 STOCK INCENTIVE P



Exhibit 10.16

AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO CREDIT AGREEMENT
(INCREMENTAL AMENDMENT)

This AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO CREDIT AGREEMENT (INCREMENAL AMENDMENT) (“Amendment’)
is dated as of June 28, 2012, and is entered iptarfdl among DCS BUSINESS SERVICES, INC., a Ne
corporation (“Borrower”)the Lenders (as defined in the Credit Agreemeihieasafter defined) providing the June 2
Requested Term B Loan Increase (as hereafter dg¢forethe date hereof, and MADISON CAPITAL FUNDINGC,
as Agent for all Lenders.

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, Borrower, Agent and the Lenders from timd¢ime party thereto are parties to that certaiadd
Agreement dated as of March 19, 2012 (as the sasebben or may be from time to time amended, est
supplemented or otherwise modified, the “Credit @ament”;capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein Hhe
definitions provided therefor in the Credit Agreenje

WHEREAS, Borrower has requested that certain Lentlerd to borrower on the date hereof a Requestent
B Loan Increase in the aggregate amount of $190800(the “June 2012 Requested Term B Loan Incrgaset thi
Lenders executing this Amendment have each ageeddntd a portion of such June 2012 Requested Terhod
Increase such that the principal amount of the TBrhoan held by each such Lender shall be equidcamount s
forth on Annex | to this Amendment after givingesft to such funding, subject to the payment by @weer of certai
fees as reflected in the Notice of Borrowing andkéreof Direction delivered by Borrower to Agent tire date here
with respect to the June 2012 Requested Term B Laapase;

WHEREAS, Borrower, Agent and the Lenders party teedesire to amend the Credit Agreement to retlee
June 2012 Requested Term B Loan Increase andhthd@dquested Term B Loan Increase shall becomet afpie
Term B Loan and have all terms applicable to therilB Loan under the Credit Agreement except asesgty set fort
herein and except with respect to fupat fees which are agreed to separately from Amgendment, and pursuant
Section 2.1.3 of the Credit Agreement, an Increalefimnendment (as defined therein) to accomplisifdinegoing ma
be executed solely by Borrower, Agent and the Lesgarticipating in the June 2012 Requested Telmdh Increase

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual ctinds and agreements set forth in the Credit Agee
and this Amendment, and other good and valuableideration, the receipt and sufficiency of whicle drereb
acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby agredlas/o

1. June 2012 Requested Term B Loan IncreaseOn the date hereof, Borrower is borrowing the .
2012 Requested Term B Loan Increase in the amdui® 500,000 as an increase to the Term B Loam ftiwe
Lenders party to this Amendment (with the amoumidfd by each such Lender equal to the amount tescimn thi
second recitals clause hereof, and the amounteofférm B Loan under the Credit Agreement is acoggihereb
increased by such amount, and such increased arabtivg Term B Loan be subject to all of the telansl condition
of the Credit Agreement applicable to the exisiimgm B Loan except as expressly set forth in Se@ibelow.

2.  Amortization of June 2012 Requested Term B Loan Inease. It is the intention of Borrower, Agent a
the Lenders party hereto that the Term B Loan linsést due on June 30, 2012 shall not be increaseal result of tf
June 2012 Requested Term B Loan Increase (bue#adt subsequent installment of the Term B Loar bkahcrease
as set forth in the parenthetical in the first sané of Section 2.11.3 of the Credit Agreementokdingly, Borrowel
Agent and the Lenders party hereto agree thabdijristallment of the Term B Loan due on June 8@2ZXhall remal




$198,750 (with none of such installment to be agpto the principal of the June 2012 Requested Retroar
Increase), and (ii) commencing with the installmehtthe Term B Loan due on September 30, 2012 anceécl
scheduled installment of the Term B Loan thereaftex scheduled installments of the Term B Loahgpthan on tt
Term B Loan Maturity Date) shall be increased pansuo the parenthetical of the first sentenceaedtion 2.11.3 of tr
Credit Agreement by 0.25% of the principal amouhth®e June 2012 Requested Term B Loan Increasd (duat
absent any subsequent event altering the amourdsh&duled installments of the Term B Loan follayvime dat
hereof, each installment of the Term B Loan shalifrreased by $48,750 (0.25% of the principal amhofi the Jun
2012 Requested Term B Loan Increase) from $198at56cheduled installments of $247,500 on each @ater tha
the Term B Loan Maturity Date set forth in Sect®ril.3 of the Credit Agreement (with the outstagdpmincipa
balance of the Term B Loan (as increased by the 2012 Term B Loan Increase) to be paid in fulltios Term E
Loan Maturity Date)).

3. Amendment and Restatement of Annex | to the CrediAgreement. The Credit Agreement is here
amended by amending and restating Annexthe Credit Agreement in its entirety in the foomAnnex lattached t
this amendment in order to reflect the June 201QuBsted Term B Loan Increase.

4.  Conditions to Effectiveness. The effectiveness of this Amendment is subject atsfaction of th
following conditions precedent (unless specificaligived in writing by Agent):

(@) Agent shall have received a copy of this Amendnferdiuding the Consent and Reaffirmation attac
hereto), executed by Borrower, each Loan Partyeauth Lender participating in the June 2012 Reqdestem B Loa
Increase;

(b)  After giving effect to this Amendment, no Default Bvent of Default shall have occurred anc
continuing; and

(c) Agent shall have received such documents, instrtsn@nd agreements as are reasonably requir
Agent in connection with this Amendment and theeJdA12 Requested Term B Loan Increase, in formsabdtanc
reasonably satisfactory to Agent.

5. Representations and Warranties. To induce Agent and the applicable Lenders to etar this
Amendment and provide the June 2012 Requested Belwan Increase, Borrower represents and warrangsgen
and Lenders that:

(@) the execution, delivery and performance of this Adment and the June 2012 Requested Term B
Increase has been duly authorized by all requisitporate action on the part of Borrower and thest Amendment h:
been duly executed and delivered by Borrower;

(b) this Amendment and the Borrowsrobligations under the Credit Agreement in respét¢he June 20!
Requested Term B Loan Increase constitute the,legéil and binding obligation of Borrower and ameforceabl
against Borrower in accordance with its terms, ettbfo bankruptcy, insolvency and similar laws ctifeg the
enforceability of creditor’s rights generally aredgeneral principles of equity;

(c) the execution and delivery by Borrower of this Amement and the consummation of the June
Requested Term B Loan Increase does not requiredhsent or approval of any Person, except suckeras an
approvals as have been obtained;

(d) after giving effect to this Amendment the repreagohs and warranties of Borrower and each othar
Party set forth in the Credit Agreement and theeottban Documents are true and correct in all nedtezspects wit



the same effect as if made on the date hereof pexadhe extent such representations and warsaatie state
to relate to a specific earlier date, in which cageh representations and warranties are true @mect in all materi:
respects as of such earlier date); and

(e) no Default or Event of Default has occurred ancbistinuing.

6. Severability . Any provision of this Amendment held by a courtcoimpetent jurisdiction to be invalid
unenforceable shall not impair or invalidate theaeder of this Amendment and the effect thereafldie confined t
the provision so held to be invalid or unenforceabl

7. References. Any reference to the Credit Agreement containeagny document, instrument or Cre
Agreement executed in connection with the Credite&gnent shall be deemed to be a reference to #ait@greemer
as modified by this Amendment.

8. Counterparts; Electronic Transmission. This Amendment may be executed in one or more eopaitts
each of which shall constitute an original, but @l which taken together shall be one and the sarsgument
Facsimile signatures and other electronic signatsiall also constitute originals.

9. Ratification . The terms and provisions set forth in this Amendimsmall modify and supersede
inconsistent terms and provisions of the Credite®gnent and shall not be deemed to be a consdre taddification ¢
waiver of any other term or condition of the Crefldreement. Except as expressly modified and segeds by thi
Amendment, the terms and provisions of the Credite@ment and each of the other Loan Documentsaéifeed ant
confirmed and shall continue in full force and effe

10. Governing Law . THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE A CONTRACT MADE UNDER ANBGOVERNEL
BY THE INTERNAL LAWS OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS APPLCABLE TO CONTRACTS MADE AND TO BI
PERFORMED ENTIRELY WITHIN SUCH STATE, WITHOUT REGARTO CONFLICT OF LAWS PRINCIPLES
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have catissdAmendment to be duly executed under seal and
delivered by their respective duly authorized @ficon the date first written above.

DCS BUSINESS SERVICES, INC.

By: /s/ Hakan Orvell

Name: Hakan Orvell

Title: Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

MADISON CAPITAL FUNDING LLC,
as Agent and a Lender

By: /s/ Michael Nativi

Name:_Michael Nativi

Title: Vice President

CONSENT AND REAFFIRMATION

Each of Performant Financial Corporation, DiveesifiCollection Services, Inc. and Vista Financiaig.
(collectively, the “Companieshereby (i) acknowledges receipt of a copy of thedoing Amendment No. 1 to Cre
Agreement (Incremental Amendment) dated as of R8)e2012 (the “Amendment”); (ii) consents to Borerg
execution and delivery of the Amendment and thedwang of the Requested Term B Increase contenypliiereby
(i) agrees to be bound by the Amendment; (iv)raf§ that nothing contained in the Amendment shedtlify in any
respect whatsoever any Loan Document to which & igarty; and (v) reaffirms that such Loan Docurmsestial
continue to remain in full force and effect andtths guaranty of the Obligations and grant of sigunterests in it
assets to secure such guaranty of the Obligatioals apply to the Obligations as increased by teguested Term
Increase contemplated by the Amendment. AlthoughGQbmpanies have been informed of the mattersosit fiereil
and has acknowledged and agreed to same, eache d@dmpanies understands that Agent and Lenders e
obligation to inform either Company of such matterdhe future or to seek acknowledgment of eitGempany c
agreement to future amendments, waivers or consamdsnothing herein shall create such a duty.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caubsdConsent and Reaffirmation to be duly exec
under seal and delivered by their respective duthi@ized officers on and as of the date of the Admeent.

[Signature Page Follows]

PERFORMANT FINANCIAL CORPORATION

By: /s/ Hakan Orvell
Name: Hakan Orvell
Title: Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

DIVERSIFIED COLLECTION SERVICES, INC.

By: /s/ Hakan Orvell
Name: Hakan Orvell
Title: Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

VISTA FINANCIAL, INC.



By: /s/ Hakan Orvell
Name: Hakan Orvell
Title: Vice President and Chief Financial Officerdalreasurer




SUBSIDIARIES

Company Name

Performant Business Services, Inc.

Performant Recovery, Inc.
Performant Technologies, Inc.
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State of Incorporation
Nevada
California
California
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Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

The Board of Directors
Performant Financial Corporation:

We consent to the incorporation by reference inréggstration statements on Form S-8 (No. 333-18%&8d Form S
(No. 333-200627) of our report dated March 12, 2@ith respect to the consolidated balance shed®gdbrmant
Financial Corporation and subsidiaries as of De@¥Bth, 2014 and 2013, the related consolidatedrataits of
operations, changes in redeemable preferred statktackholderséquity (deficit), and cash flows for each of theng
in the three-year period ended December 31, 201t related Schedule Il for each of the yeatkerthree-year
period ended December 31, 2014, which report appedhis Form 10-K.

/sl KPMG LLP

San Francisco, California
March 12, 2015



Exhibit 31.1
[, Lisa C. Im, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fRerformant Financial Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or dn#ttate a material fact necessary to mak
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegos presented in this report;

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanld procedures (as definet
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) ardriat control over financial reporting (as definedExchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our

supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the etiin which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financiglaring, or caused such internal control over faiakhreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with geneeabepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentdsimeport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure containtsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougyelis report based on such evaluation;

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrarBurth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyabre that has materially affected, or is reasopdikély
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal tmhover financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer antldve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimiernal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commititthe registrant’s board of directors (or pessperforming the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal coravelr financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize aqbrt financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: March 13, 2015

/sl Lisa C. Im

Lisa C. Im
Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2
I, Hakan L. Orvell, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fRerformant Financial Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or dmn#ttate a material fact necessary to mak
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, theégos presented in this report;

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanld procedures (as define:
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) ardriat control over financial reporting (as definedExchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedoreaused such disclosure controls and procedaotes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the metiin which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financiglaring, or caused such internal control over faiakhreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with geneeabepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougyeldis report based on such evaluation;

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrarBurth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyabre that has materially affected, or is reasopdikély
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal tmhover financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitibthe registrant’'s board of directors (or pessperforming the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize aqbrt financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaveanagement or other employees who have a siginifrole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: March 13, 2015

/s/ Hakan L. Orvell
Hakan L. Orvell
Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1
SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATIONS

I, Lisa C. Im, Chief Executive Officer of Perforntdfinancial Corporation (the “Company”), certifyynguant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted
pursuant to 8 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 28t to my knowledge the Annual Report on ForrKléf the Company (the “Report”),

which accompanies this Certificate, fully compheish the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(djhef Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and
all information contained in the Report fairly peess, in all material respects, the financial cbadiand results of operations of the Company.

Dated: March 13, 2015
/s/ Lisa C. Im
Lisa C. Im
Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 32.2
SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATIONS

I, Hakan L. Orvell, Chief Financial Officer of Perfnant Financial Corporation (the “Company”), dgttpursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as
adopted pursuant to 8 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley®2002, that to my knowledge the Annual Reporfonm 10-K of the Company (the
“Report”), which accompanies this Certificate, fjutlomplies with the requirements of Section 13¢a)}%(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, and all information contained in the Repaitly presents, in all material respects, the foaincondition and results of operations of the
Company.

Dated: March 13, 2015
/s/ Hakan L. Orvell

Hakan L. Orvell
Chief Financial Officer



